# New Instantons for Matrix Models

# Marcos Mariño,<sup>*a*</sup> Ricardo Schiappa,<sup>*b,c*</sup> Maximilian Schwick<sup>*b,c*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Département de Physique Théorique et Section de Mathématiques, Université de Genève, CH-1211 Genève, Switzerland

<sup>b</sup>Isaac Newton Institute for Mathematical Sciences, University of Cambridge, Cambridge CB3 0EH, United Kingdom

<sup>c</sup> CAMGSD, Departamento de Matemática, Instituto Superior Técnico, Universidade de Lisboa, 1049-001 Lisboa, Portugal

*E-mail:* marcos.marino@unige.ch, ricardo.schiappa@, maximilian.schwick@tecnico.ulisboa.pt

ABSTRACT: The complete, nonperturbative content of random matrix models is described by resurgent-transseries—general solutions to their corresponding string-equations. These transseries include exponentially-suppressed multi-instanton amplitudes obtained by eigenvalue tunneling, but they also contain exponentially-enhanced and mixed instanton-like sectors with no known matrix model interpretation. This work shows how these sectors can be also described by eigenvalue tunneling in matrix models—but on the *non-physical sheet* of the spectral curve describing their large-N limit. This picture further explains the full resurgence of random matrices via analysis of all possible eigenvalue integration-contours. How to calculate these "anti" eigenvalue-tunneling amplitudes is explained in detail and in various examples, such as the cubic and quartic matrix models, and their double-scaling limit to Painlevé I. This further provides direct matrix-model derivations of their resurgent Stokes data, which were recently obtained by different techniques.

KEYWORDS: Resurgence, Transseries, Resonance, Resurgent Stokes Data, Stokes Phenomena, Matrix Models, Nonperturbative Sectors, Instantons, Eigenvalue Tunneling, Anti-Eigenvalues, Branched Spectral Curves, Semiclassical Decoding, Supermatrix Integrals, Painlevé I Equation

# Contents

1	Introduction and Summary	2
<b>2</b>	One Open Problem and a Proposal for a Solution	4
	2.1 Matrix Model Resurgent Transseries and Their Resonance	4
	2.2 How Matrix Integrals Seem to Fail	10
	2.3 How Matrix Integrals Actually Work	11
	2.4 Brief Comments on Supermatrix Models	14
3	Resurgent Instanton Calculus in Matrix Models	
	3.1 Overview of the Matrix Model Set-Up	17
	3.2 Determinant Correlators and Spectral Sheets in Matrix Models	18
	3.3 Eigenvalue Tunneling, Resurgence, and Integration Contours	22
	3.4 On the Boundary of a Resonant Transseries	32
	3.5 In the Bulk of a Resonant Transseries	32
	3.6 The Interplay Between Resonance and Logarithms	35
	3.7 Resurgence, Transseries, and Their Stokes Data	39
4	Examples and Checks on the Proposal	
	4.1 The Cubic Matrix Model	41
	4.2 The Quartic Matrix Model	44
	4.3 Matrix Model Double-Scaling Limits	50
$\mathbf{A}$	On Computing Integrals and Their Toy Examples	52
В	Resurgence of Partition Function and Free Energy	56
С	On Higher-Order Stokes Data from Matrix Integrals	58
D	Data for Resonant Resurgent Transseries	60

#### 1 Introduction and Summary

In quantum theories, perturbation series in the coupling constant are usually insufficient to describe generic observables, and sometimes they even qualitatively fail to capture the relevant physics. The 1/N expansion (see, *e.g.*, [1]) is not any different in that respect, and it is in fact expected to have corrections which are exponentially small in N. In some cases, these corrections are of the instanton type, *i.e.*, they are based on saddle-point approximations, and for this reason they are sometimes called large N instantons (see, *e.g.*, [2] for an introductory survey).

The study of large N instantons in general quantum theories is very difficult. The situation improves in zero dimensions, where the path integral reduces to either a vector or a matrix integral. The case of vector models is simple [3] and will not be further addressed in this paper. In the case of matrix models, large N instantons are much richer but still tractable. In many cases they may be obtained via a generalization of saddle-point analysis for one-dimensional integrals: once the integration over matrices has been reduced to an integration over eigenvalues, different instanton sectors are obtained by considering a large number of eigenvalues around a reference saddle, and a small number of eigenvalues around a different (nonperturbative) saddle. For this reason, these instantons are often said to arise via *eigenvalue tunneling* [4, 5].

Across the years, the study of large N instantons in matrix models has led to many interesting applications. These nonperturbative effects describe the large-order behavior of the 1/Nexpansion [6]. They can be also used to study large deviations in statistical ensembles of random matrices [7, 8] and in the study of phase transitions in unitary matrix models [9, 10].

Large N instantons also play an important role in holographic dualities between matrix models and string/gravity theories. The oldest dualities of this type involve double-scaled hermitian matrix-models, which describe non-critical strings [11–15]. In this case, large N instantons obtained by eigenvalue tunneling correctly capture the large-order growth of the corresponding perturbative sectors [16–18], and correspond to nonperturbative effects in non-critical string theory realized by D-branes. These models are in addition "solvable" in terms of differential or difference equations, sometimes called string equations, which yield their full perturbative data (see, e.g., [19–21] for reviews). In some cases, the string equations reduce to a nonlinear ODE (e.g., in the case of pure gravity one finds the famous Painlevé I equation). These ODEs have solutions of the transseries form, *i.e.*, they include a perturbative, factorially divergent part, and an infinite series of exponentially small corrections that are expected to describe multi-instantons. However, some of the nonperturbative sectors appearing in these transseries are exponentially large and do not have a known matrix model realization. This is the problem that we want to address in this paper. Let us explain this in some detail.

It was first pointed out in [22] that the transseries solution of the Painlevé I equation is *resonant*, *i.e.*, the corresponding instanton actions always appear in *symmetric* pairs. If we denote such action by A, one finds in fact a doubly-infinite set of multi-instantons, labelled by two non-negative integers n and m, and the corresponding transseries has transmonomial components of the form

$$\sim \exp\left\{-\left(n-m\right)\frac{A}{g_{\rm s}}\right\}.$$
 (1.1)

Herein,  $g_s$  is the expansion variable (it can be identified with the string coupling constant or with 1/N). These multi-instantons also appear off-criticality, by using the string equation for the original hermitian matrix model [23]. The multi-instanton sectors with m = 0 correspond to the conventional large N instantons obtained by eigenvalue tunneling, but there is no matrix model interpretation for the generic instanton sectors with  $m \neq 0$ . The same phenomenon appears in

many other examples [24–26] (in fact, resonance seems to be a generic feature of multicritical and minimal string models [26]). The main question we want to address in this paper is: do the generic multi-instanton sectors discovered in [22] have a direct matrix model description, and if so, can we use this description to calculate them? Some generic ideas that they might correspond to "different types" of eigenvalues were put forward in [27], and an attempt to compute them as "anti-eigenvalues" in a supermatrix model was done in [28]—albeit neither of these calculations properly worked at the time, it turns out they were however morally correct as we shall now show and make completely precise in our present work.

Before we describe the contents of this paper, there is one more ingredient to mention. The multi-instanton sectors described above arise as formal solutions to an ODE or finite-difference equation, but the full resurgent structure of the theory involves an infinite number of Stokes coefficients [22–24, 29]. In the aforementioned Painlevé I example appearing in [22], originally one Stokes coefficient was analytically known. This coefficient has a nice interpretation as the one-loop coefficient around the one-instanton sector associated to eigenvalue tunneling, and was simply computed via this interpretation in [5, 30] (and for all multicritical and minimal string models in, e.q., [26]). Some of the additional Stokes coefficients were first found numerically, and then many (empirical) relations in-between them were uncovered [22-25]. Rather recently, this infinite set of (transcendental) numbers was finally found in analytical form via a detailed analysis of resonant resurgence [31]. It seems reasonable to expect that a semiclassical description of all multi-instanton sectors in our transseries may also allow for a direct matrix-model calculation of resonant Stokes data—much in analogy with the calculation which computed "standard" Stokes data from eigenvalue tunneling. As we shall see, the matrix-model semiclassical description which we will find in this paper directly computes these transcendental numbers, and therefore decodes the full resonant structure of the resurgent transseries.

A complete understanding of what exactly is going-on with these resonant sectors clearly entails properly understanding the matrix model before anything else—and this is what we shall do in this work. Let us then describe the contents of our paper. Section 2 overviews our above questions in a precise fashion, and qualitatively describes our proposed solution. Subsection 2.1 overviews the resonant properties of the resurgent transseries arising from matrix models, followed by a discussion of how a naïve matrix-model eigenvalue tunneling picture cannot account for all resonant sectors in subsection 2.2. Our solution is presented in subsection 2.3, where we describe how resonance emerges from tunneling of matrix-model eigenvalues into the involuted or nonphysical sheets of the spectral curve (and how they may be regarded as "holes" or anti-eigenvalues on the physical sheet, which is somewhat reminiscent of the Dirac sea picture). Interestingly enough, this picture leads to integrals which also arise in supermatrix models (along the lines first conjectured in [28]) and this is described in subsection 2.4. Having outlined our qualitative picture, we move to the quantitative calculations in section 3. Standard matrix model technology is briefly reviewed in subsection 3.1 to set the stage and, armed with these tools, we discuss matrix integrals whose eigenvalues populate both sheets of our elliptic spectral curves in subsection 3.2. For these matrix integrals to become fully rigorous one still needs to discuss their integration contours, which is done in subsection 3.3. As we shall see, the precise integration contours follow from our picture of generalized eigenvalue tunneling into all possible sheets, alongside resurgence considerations. Fully detailed calculations of diverse transseries sectors follow. First, in subsection 3.4, we compute sectors on the "edges" of the resurgent-transseries lattice, and then, in subsection 3.5, we compute sectors in the "bulk" of this lattice. Particular detail is given to the (1|1) configuration, with one tunneled eigenvalue and one tunneled anti-eigenvalue. One harder configuration, the (2|1) transseries sector, with associated non-trivial Stokes data and

transseries logarithm sectors, is addressed in subsection 3.6. The integrals at play are sometimes quite non-trivial and we have included toy examples of these types of integrals in appendix A. A strategy for computing arbitrary configurations is finally outlined in subsection 3.7. Some subtleties concerning the construction of transseries for matrix-model free energy and partition function are addressed in appendix B, and further subtleties on Stokes data are discussed in appendix C. Up to this point our proposal is always presented depending on spectral-curve data alone, and we naturally move to examples in section 4. These include the cubic matrix model, in subsection 4.1; the quartic matrix model, in subsection 4.2; and further details on their respective double-scaling limits in subsection 4.3. These examples further serve as non-trivial checks on our proposal, as they explicitly show how our matrix integral calculations precisely match against resurgent transseries results, and they further analytically compute non-trivial Stokes data (matching against [31]). Section 4 focuses on the general structure of these examples and on the results, with details on the data used therein to be found in appendix D.

If it is true that the present work finally answers many questions which had been lingering in the resurgence framework for a long time, it also opens-up many other directions for future research. Because our formulae are model-independent—only depending on spectral curve data many other examples could be addressed. For instance, in upcoming work we will report on the examples of minimal strings (somewhat following work in [26]) and of the matrix model associated to Jackiw–Teitelboim gravity [32]. These allow for a first-principles derivation of their transseries structure and resurgent Stokes data.

In recent years, it has been conjectured that topological string theories in non-compact target spaces are sometimes described by matrix models away from criticality [33]. In particular, a proposal for matrix-model duals of topological strings on generic toric Calabi–Yau threefolds was made in [34-37]. Via localization and the AdS/CFT correspondence [38], it was also found that some matrix models describe special observables for superstrings in full AdS backgrounds (see, e.g., [39]). Matrix models describing topological strings on toric CYs and superstrings in AdS are more complicated, and their large N instantons are largely unexplored, but they should provide dual descriptions of nonperturbative effects in (topological) string theory and quantum gravity. As such, the work of this paper could likely be extended to topological strings, specially following a considerable amount of previous work focusing on constructing topologicalstring transseries in many examples; e.q., [40, 30, 10, 41, 42, 27, 43–52]. We shall also return to these issues in the near future. Extensions to matrix models describing superstrings in AdS backgrounds via localization are also possible. Understanding the role of our calculations within the framework of the topological recursion [53] would also be of great interest. Finally, we would of course like to translate our present matrix model calculations into analogous statements in the D-brane language, with the hope of extending our results to generic string theories.

# 2 One Open Problem and a Proposal for a Solution

We begin by outlining our proposal to compute the full, resonant, nonperturbative contributions of hermitian matrix models. In particular, discussing resonance itself; a brief review of (standard) eigenvalue tunneling, how it seems to work and how it seems to fail; and putting forward our proposal of populating all branched sheets of the spectral curve to obtain the complete answer.

# 2.1 Matrix Model Resurgent Transseries and Their Resonance

Let us briefly set-up our matrix model notation following [54] (to where we refer the reader for further details). With M an hermitian  $N \times N$  matrix and V(x) the potential, the matrix-model

partition-function is  $(g_s \text{ being the string coupling and vol}(U(N))$  the volume of the gauge group)

$$\mathcal{Z}_N(g_{\rm s}) = \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}\left(\mathrm{U}(N)\right)} \int \mathrm{d}M \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}}\operatorname{\mathrm{Tr}}V(M)} =$$
(2.1)

$$= \frac{1}{N!} \int \prod_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\mathrm{d}\lambda_i}{2\pi} \Delta_N(\lambda)^2 \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_s} \sum_{i=1}^{N} V(\lambda_i)}, \qquad (2.2)$$

where we have fixed eigenvalue  $\{\lambda_i\}$  diagonal-gauge introducing the Vandermonde determinant  $\Delta_N(\lambda) = \prod_{1 \le i < j \le N} (\lambda_i - \lambda_j)$ . In this expression, the (so-far unspecified) eigenvalue integration contours may be classified as steepest-descent contours, to which we shall return later.

There are two standard ways to evaluate matrix-model partition functions in their large-N't Hooft limit [55]. One is based upon exponentiation of the Vandermonde determinant in the above expression, giving rise to the holomorphic effective potential,  $V_{\rm h;eff}(x)$ , essentially dictating the aforementioned paths of steepest descent for the matrix integral. Via  $V'_{\rm h;eff}(x) = y(x)$  one is then led to the introduction of the spectral curve y(x) [56, 57], from where eventually the full matrix-model free energy  $\mathcal{F} = \log \mathcal{Z}$  follows as (herein  $t = g_{\rm s}N$  is the 't Hooft coupling)

$$\mathcal{F} \simeq \sum_{g=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{F}_g(t) \, g_{\rm s}^{2g-2},\tag{2.3}$$

via the topological-recursion construction [53]. The alternative to spectral curve and topological recursion methods is to use instead the so-called string equations [58]. These come about by first introducing orthogonal polynomials  $\{p_n(x)\}$  (with respect to the natural, positive-definite measure inherited from the matrix integral) such that  $p_n(x) = x^n + \cdots$ . These polynomials satisfy recursion relations with recursion coefficients  $\{r_n\}$  dictated by the matrix-model potential [58]. In the 't Hooft limit, the "continuous" recursion coefficients then obey finite-difference string equations, for

$$r_n \mapsto R(t, g_s).$$
 (2.4)

Let us immediately alert the reader that throughout this paper it is important to keep in mind that we shall refer to (direct) matrix-integral quantities using curly notation, *e.g.*,  $\mathcal{Z}$ , whereas transseries quantities arising from string-equations shall be denoted regularly, *e.g.*, Z. For example, the string-equation free energy<sup>1</sup> follows from, *e.g.*, [58, 54, 10, 23],

$$F(t + g_{\rm s}, g_{\rm s}) - 2F(t, g_{\rm s}) + F(t - g_{\rm s}, g_{\rm s}) = \log \frac{R(t, g_{\rm s})}{t}.$$
(2.5)

Starting with the work in [10, 22], resurgent transseries solutions to matrix-model stringequations have been further addressed in, e.g., [30, 41, 23–25, 47, 59, 26, 31]. In all these solutions, resonance [22] is generic [23–26, 31]: from matrix models to Painlevé equations, from multicritical to minimal string theories. The examples we shall focus upon later in this work, the cubic matrix model with large-N string-equation (4.3) in subsection 4.1, the quartic matrix model with large-N string-equation (4.19) in subsection 4.2, and the Painlevé I equation (4.56) in subsection 4.3, all abide to the same structure: a two-parameter, resonant, resurgent transseries (see, e.g., [6, 60, 29] for reviews). What this means is that their solutions (and herein we are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We will follow standard practice of normalization against the Gaussian weight [54],  $F - F_{\rm G} = \log\left(\frac{Z}{Z_{\rm G}}\right)$ .

not distinguishing between the string-equation solution in (2.4), or its corresponding free energy from (2.5), or even the partition function<sup>2</sup>) are of the schematic form

$$\Phi(t, g_{\rm s}; \sigma_1, \sigma_2) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sigma_1^n \sigma_2^m \,\mathrm{e}^{-(n-m)\frac{A(t)}{g_{\rm s}}} \,\Phi^{(n,m)}(t, g_{\rm s}), \tag{2.7}$$

$$\Phi^{(n,m)}(t,g_{\rm s}) = \sum_{k=0}^{\min(n,m)} \Phi^{(n,m)[k]}(t,g_{\rm s}) \, \log^k \frac{f(t)}{g_{\rm s}^2},\tag{2.8}$$

where A(t) (the instanton action) and f(t) are problem-specific functions of the 't Hooft coupling t, and where each perturbative or nonperturbative sector is asymptotic,

$$\Phi^{(n,m)[k]}(t,g_{\rm s}) \simeq \sum_{g=\beta_{nm}^{[k]}}^{\infty} \Phi_g^{(n,m)[k]}(t) \, g_{\rm s}^g, \tag{2.9}$$

with coefficients growing factorially fast ~ g! and  $\beta_{nm}^{[k]}$  the starting genus. It is immediately noticeable in (2.7) that the instanton action arises in a symmetric pair (A, -A), which is one hallmark of resonance. Another, more problem-specific, pointer of resonance is the appearance of logarithms in the transseries expansions. These logarithms are however a somewhat mild feature as resonance further implies that one can relate different [k]-logarithm sectors to each other,

$$\Phi^{(n,m)[k]}(t,g_{\rm s}) = \frac{1}{k!} \left( \alpha \left( n - m \right) \right)^k \Phi^{(n-k,m-k)[0]}(t,g_{\rm s}).$$
(2.10)

Here  $\alpha$  is a number depending on the explicit setting.

Resurgent analysis of the above transseries starts with Borel resummation, as illustrated in figure 1 (again, see, e.g., [6, 60, 29] for reviews). This entails the three steps illustrated in the figure: a Borel transform  $\mathcal{B}\left[g_s^{\alpha+1}\right] := \frac{s^{\alpha}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}$  from asymptotic series  $\mathbb{C}[[g_s]]$  to convergent power-series  $\mathbb{C}\{s\}$  in a disk on the complex Borel plane; an analytic continuation throughout  $\mathbb{C}$ ; and, upon picking a ray of integration  $\theta$  on the Borel *s*-plane, the final inverse Borel transform (a Laplace transform) yielding the Borel  $\theta$ -resummation of the initial asymptotic power-series,

$$S_{\theta}\Phi(g_{\rm s}) = \int_{0}^{{\rm e}^{{\rm i}\theta}\infty} {\rm d}s \,\mathcal{B}\left[\Phi\right](s) \,{\rm e}^{-\frac{s}{g_{\rm s}}}.$$
(2.11)

One could now think that this might be the end of the story but quite the opposite; it is just the beginning. Whenever  $\theta$  is such that the ray of integration hits a singularity of the integrand, the last step in the above procedure becomes ill-defined—and such rays are known as Stokes lines on the Borel plane. Hence, on top of resummation, resurgent analysis of the above transseries further requires a proper understanding of Stokes phenomena (*e.g.*, [6, 60, 29]). For our resonant case (2.7) there are instanton actions  $\mathbf{A} = (A, -A)$ , implying the existence of two Stokes lines along symmetric directions. They are both illustrated in figure 2. Avoiding the precise rays along

$$\mathcal{Z} = e^{-\frac{1}{g_s^2} F_{-2}^{(0,0)}} Z, \qquad (2.6)$$

with  $F_{-2}^{(0,0)}$  the lowest-genus perturbative free-energy coefficient, and Z the partition-function transferies as (2.7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Note that while the corresponding transseries for the matrix-model partition function still has the form (2.7), it is however usually written with an additional global pre-factor in comparison to (2.1). Explicitly,



**Figure 1**: Pictorial description of Borel resummation of a divergent series into a function. Start with the left-downward arrow performing a Borel transform, which yields a power-series convergent on a disk. Moving with the rightward arrow implements analytic continuation beyond the radius of convergence of the power-series. This results in a function on the complex plane, albeit with singularities. The final step with the right-upward arrow is resummation via Laplace transform (inverse Borel transform); albeit this is ill-defined when crossing any of the aforementioned singularities upon the complex Borel plane (sitting along rays known as Stokes lines).



Figure 2: The two Stokes lines of the resonant transseries (2.7). Depicted along  $\theta = 0$  is the "forward" Stokes automorphism (blue), arising from the instanton action A; and along  $\theta = \pi$  the "backward" Stokes automorphism (orange), associated to the instanton action -A (where we are assuming that the value for A is real and positive).

these Stokes lines leads to the natural definition of lateral Borel resummations,  $S_{\theta^{\pm}} \Phi$  for  $\theta = 0, \pi$ . They are however related by the action of the Stokes automorphism  $\underline{\mathfrak{S}}_{\theta}$  at  $\theta = 0, \pi$ , introduced via alien calculus in [61] as a tool to understand the singular structure of Borel transforms without actually having to revert to explicit analytic continuation. This relation is given by

$$\mathcal{S}_{\theta^+} = \mathcal{S}_{\theta^-} \circ \underline{\mathfrak{S}}_{\theta}. \tag{2.12}$$

It may also be equivalently rewritten as a discontinuity relation

$$\mathcal{S}_{\theta^+} - \mathcal{S}_{\theta^-} =: \mathcal{S}_{\theta^-} \circ \text{Disc}_{\theta}.$$
(2.13)

For our resonant transseries (2.7) the Stokes automorphisms read (see [31] for a discussion)

$$\underline{\mathfrak{S}}_{0}\Phi^{(n,m)} = \Phi^{(n,m)} - \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} e^{-\ell \frac{A}{g_{s}}} \sum_{p=0}^{\min(n+\ell,m)} \mathsf{S}_{(n,m)\to(n+\ell-p,m-p)} \Phi^{(n+\ell-p,m-p)},$$
(2.14)



**Figure 3**: The transseries sectors in (2.7) represented as a two-dimensional semi-positive lattice. Resurgence relates different sectors to each other, essentially via the Stokes automorphisms (2.14)-(2.15). The arrows in the figure symbolize Borel residues  $S_{n\to m}$  and exemplify how to reach, for instance, the (2, 2)-sector via single-step moves on this lattice. We have colored each step differently (as first, second, third, and fourth steps). The dashed brown lines symbolize resonant directions, whereas the dashed arrows have associated vanishing Borel residues. Resurgence relations are fairly simple as long as we only move along the edges of the lattice; but as soon as one moves inwards, resonant contributions start appearing. For example, the third step reaches two distinct endpoints, implying on the fourth step there will be Borel residues starting at both these (2, 1) and (1, 0) sectors. Upon iterated use of Stokes transitions, one hence finds a multitude of different sectors that are spawned by resonance. Throughout this paper we shall refer to similar diagrams in order to better understand the resurgence relations at play.

$$\underline{\mathfrak{G}}_{\pi}\Phi^{(n,m)} = \Phi^{(n,m)} - \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} e^{+\ell\frac{A}{g_{s}}} \sum_{p=0}^{\min(n,m+\ell)} \mathsf{S}_{(n,m)\to(n-p,m+\ell-p)} \Phi^{(n-p,m+\ell-p)}.$$
(2.15)

Herein, the sets of numbers  $S_{(n,m)\to(n+\ell-p,m-p)}$  and  $S_{(n,m)\to(n-p,m+\ell-p)}$  are called forward and backward Borel residues, respectively (note how they amount to distinct sets of numbers). Very recently there has been progress in tackling these numbers and they have all been analytically computed for both the Painlevé I and Painlevé II problems (which equivalently amounts to analytically computing their full Stokes data) [31]. They are also directly related to the singularities on the Borel plane for simple resurgent functions [29]. Our point here is that (2.14) and (2.15) fully encode the resurgence of our transseries (2.7), *i.e.*, encode how distinct transseries sectors relate to each other upon Stokes phenomenon. This essentially directly follows via all non-vanishing Borel residues in (2.14)-(2.15), as illustrated in figure 3.

To close this swift review, let us list a brief set of relations between Borel residues and Stokes data, in particular a set which will be of relevance later on (see [29, 31] for more details). Note



Figure 4: Stokes vectors for a two-parameter resonant transseries may be conveniently arranged on a two-dimensional lattice that extends infinitely along two negative directions but is bounded upon the positive ones [31]. These vectors naturally group themselves into two sets (orange and blue), separated by an empty diagonal, exactly related to the forward and backward Stokes automorphisms of figure 2. We shall later compute some of these entries from matrix integrals.

that—albeit equivalent information—it is sometimes useful to work interchangeably with both, as Borel residues  $S_{n\to n+\ell}$  appear directly in the Stokes automorphism while Stokes vectors  $S_{\ell}$  relate to the underlying alien algebra via alien derivatives  $\Delta_{\ell} \Phi_n = S_{\ell} \cdot (n+\ell) \Phi_{n+\ell}$  [29, 31]. For our particular two-parameter resonant transseries (2.7) Stokes data may be conveniently organized on a two-dimensional lattice of vectors, as shown in figure 4, and one finds, *e.g.*, [29, 31]

$$\mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(k,0)} = -\frac{1}{k!} \prod_{\ell=1}^{k} \left( \mathbf{S}_{(1,0)} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} k \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \right), \quad \mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(0,k)} = -\frac{1}{k!} \prod_{\ell=1}^{k} \left( \mathbf{S}_{(0,1)} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ k \end{bmatrix} \right), \quad (2.16)$$

$$S_{(0,1)\to(1,1)} = -S_{(1,0)} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1\\1 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad S_{(1,1)\to(1,0)} = -S_{(0,-1)} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1\\0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (2.17)$$

$$S_{(1,1)\to(2,1)} = -S_{(1,0)} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 2\\1 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad S_{(0,1)\to(2,1)} = -\frac{1}{2} \left( S_{(1,0)} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1\\1 \end{bmatrix} \right) \left( S_{(1,0)} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 2\\1 \end{bmatrix} \right), \qquad (2.18)$$

$$\mathbf{S}_{(0,1)\to(1,0)} = -\mathbf{S}_{(1,-1)} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1\\0 \end{bmatrix} - \frac{1}{2} \left( \mathbf{S}_{(0,-1)} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1\\0 \end{bmatrix} \right) \left( \mathbf{S}_{(1,0)} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1\\1 \end{bmatrix} \right).$$
(2.19)

We shall use these relations later in section 4.

Tracing Stokes data back to the matrix model we started-off with, it was shown in, *e.g.*, [4, 30] how *forward* resurgence relations are related to matrix-model *eigenvalue tunneling*. This means one may walk *forward* along the resurgence lattice by essentially using the eigenvalue integral (2.2). But walking *backwards* was left unanswered in those references and this is what we must turn to next if to access the full lattice of figure 3.

#### 2.2 How Matrix Integrals Seem to Fail

Let us reconsider our matrix integral (2.1) with perturbative saddle corresponding to a one-cut spectral-curve configuration as in figure 5. Instanton corrections to this perturbative saddle are usually computed via eigenvalue tunneling out from the one-cut  $\mathscr{C} = (a, b)$  into the nonperturbative saddle at  $x^*$  [4, 17, 5, 18, 62–67, 30, 41]. Let us briefly readdress the standard picture of eigenvalue tunneling in the following, to make contact with our previous Stokes automorphism discussion and, in particular, to make clear how only one of the two instanton actions in (2.7) appears and how this will hence only give rise to *forward* resurgence relations.

Consider the partition function (2.2) with integration contours for the eigenvalues  $\{\lambda_i\}$  given by perturbative steepest-descent contours<sup>3</sup> of the potential V(x). What is the behavior of this perturbative partition-function as one rotates the phase of  $g_s$ ? Let us illustrate what happens to the steepest-descent contours in the example of the quartic matrix model (with potential (4.17), to be later discussed in subsection 4.2), where they precisely change as



as we rotate<sup>4</sup>  $\theta = \arg g_s$ . When crossing the Stokes lines at  $\theta = 0, 2\pi$ , the contours jump as

$$(2.21)$$

It is with this jump that we say "an eigenvalue has tunneled to a nonperturbative saddle". From the transseries (2.7) viewpoint this amounts to spelling out the forward Stokes transition (2.14) up to first instanton order:

$$Z^{(0,0)}(g_{\rm s}) - e^{-\frac{A}{g_{\rm s}}} \,\mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(1,0)} \,Z^{(1,0)}(g_{\rm s}) + \cdots \,. \tag{2.22}$$

Connecting eigenvalue and transseries pictures in this way (a relation we shall make fully precise later in subsection 3.3), shows how standard eigenvalue tunneling is giving rise to part, *but not all*, of the transseries: indeed, it only gives rise to what is illustrated in figure 6, which is but a small fraction of the full resonant transseries depicted in figure 3.

Being slightly quantitative, consider the one-cut  $\mathscr{C} = (a, b)$  solution with spectral curve

$$y(x) = M(x)\sqrt{(x-a)(x-b)},$$
 (2.23)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Explicitly, these will be defined in the upcoming formula (3.27).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Notice how the contour exhibits a double-sheeted behavior in  $g_s$ , with return to the original configuration only after two full rotations. This is natural to expect as single eigenvalue-tunneling to the nonperturbative saddle comes with a factor of  $\sqrt{g_s}$  in the one-instanton matrix integral [30].



Figure 5: Illustration of the spectral curve for the cubic matrix model. There are two sheets separated by the cut (green) which further touch at the pinched cycle  $x^*$ : the physical sheet (blue) containing the integration contour for the action (blue), and the non-physical sheet (orange).

$$\begin{bmatrix} Z^{(0,0)}(g_{\rm s}) & \overset{\mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(1,0)}}{\longrightarrow} & Z^{(1,0)}(g_{\rm s}) & \overset{\mathsf{S}_{(1,0)\to(2,0)}}{\longrightarrow} & Z^{(2,0)}(g_{\rm s}) & & Z^{(3,0)}(g_{\rm s}) \end{bmatrix}$$

Figure 6: Visualization of the resurgent lattice which may be reached via standard eigenvalue tunneling. Comparing to figure 3 shows how we can only see one edge of the full resonant lattice.

where M(x) is the moment function (see, *e.g.*, [54]). The nonperturbative saddles correspond to zeroes of this moment function,  $M(x^*) = 0$ , and their corresponding one-instanton action appearing in (2.22) follows via [30]

$$A(t) = V_{\rm h;eff}(x^{\star}; t) - V_{\rm h;eff}(b; t) = \int_{b}^{x^{\star}} \mathrm{d}x \, y(x), \qquad (2.24)$$

where we explicitly consider the integration path to be on the physical sheet of the spectral curve as illustrated in figure 5. In the example of the cubic matrix model (to be addressed in detail in subsection 4.1, but see [41] as well) the moment function is

$$M_{\text{cubic}}(x) = \frac{1}{4} \left( 4 - \lambda \left( a + b + 2x \right) \right), \qquad (2.25)$$

with single nonperturbative saddle  $x^* = \frac{2}{\lambda} - (a+b)$ . The spectral curve hence seems not to see any additional saddle-point which would produce the resonant pair to the instanton action A(t). Yet its need is clearly predicted from the resurgent analysis of the matrix-model string equation.

So where is the full resonant lattice in figure 3 hiding? What saddle points or what eigenvalue tunneling may give rise to the -A(t) pair, and hence the backward Stokes automorphism?

#### 2.3 How Matrix Integrals Actually Work

Our proposal is quite simple and straightforward (to be backed up by detailed calculations in section 3). It amounts to considering *both* sheets of the spectral curve (2.23), rather than just the physical sheet as in the previous subsection, and allowing eigenvalues to *tunnel on both sheets*.

To make it immediately precise, let us uniformize the spectral curve (2.23) with a parameter  $\zeta$  on the Riemann sphere, as (see, *e.g.*, [68, 69])

$$x(\zeta) = \frac{a+b}{2} + \frac{a-b}{4} \left(\zeta + \frac{1}{\zeta}\right), \qquad (2.26)$$



Figure 7: Illustration of the spectral curve of the cubic matrix model. There are two sheets separated by the cut (green): the physical sheet (blue) containing the "old" integration contour for the action (blue), and the non-physical sheet (orange) now containing the "new" integration contour giving rise to the (resonant) symmetric action (orange).

$$y(\zeta) = M(x(\zeta)) \frac{a-b}{4} \left(\zeta - \frac{1}{\zeta}\right), \qquad (2.27)$$

describing a branched double-cover of the complex x-plane with two ramification points at  $\zeta = \pm 1$ . Swapping sheets is implemented by the involution map  $\sigma(\zeta)$  as

$$\zeta \mapsto \sigma(\zeta) = \frac{1}{\zeta},\tag{2.28}$$

such that

$$x(\sigma(\zeta)) = x(\zeta), \qquad y(\sigma(\zeta)) = -y(\zeta). \tag{2.29}$$

Let us now revisit the calculation of the action (2.24) via uniformization. If our nonperturbative saddle  $x^*$  is uniformized by  $\zeta^*$  as  $x^* = x(\zeta^*)$ , then there exists a *second point*<sup>5</sup> on the Riemann sphere,  $\bar{\zeta}^* = \sigma(\zeta^*)$ , which is also mapped to  $x^*$  via  $x(\bar{\zeta}^*)$ . Performing the instanton-action integral (2.24) via uniformization then leads to these corresponding two possibilities:

$$A = \int_{b}^{x^{\star}} \mathrm{d}x \, y(x) = \int_{-1}^{\zeta^{\star}} \mathrm{d}\zeta \, \frac{\partial x}{\partial \zeta} \, y(\zeta), \tag{2.30}$$

$$\bar{A} = \int_{-1}^{\bar{\zeta}^{\star}} \mathrm{d}\zeta \,\frac{\partial x}{\partial \zeta} \,y(\zeta) = \int_{-1}^{\zeta^{\star}} \mathrm{d}\zeta \,\frac{\partial x}{\partial \zeta} \,y(\sigma(\zeta)) = -\int_{-1}^{\zeta^{\star}} \mathrm{d}\zeta \,\frac{\partial x}{\partial \zeta} \,y(\zeta) \equiv -A \tag{2.31}$$

(where in the second line we changed variables via (2.28) in the second equality). This shows how a very simple argument gives rise to resonant instanton actions, exactly as predicted by resurgence. Of course non-trivial checks are still due. For the moment let us work under this assumption, and let us further refer to eigenvalues on the physical sheet as simply *eigenvalues*, whereas eigenvalues on the involuted sheet will be denoted by *anti-eigenvalues* (the reason for this will be made clear below). Let us also accordingly update figure 5 into our new figure 7.

This naïve picture is consistent with our earlier discussion of the resonant Stokes automorphisms in figure 2. As explained therein, "standard" eigenvalue tunneling (on the physical sheet) leads to the forward Stokes automorphism  $\underline{\mathfrak{S}}_0$ , e.g., the (2.21) jump at  $\theta = 0$ . But that same example saw no traces of any backward Stokes transition  $\underline{\mathfrak{S}}_{\pi}$ , e.g., there was no  $\theta = \pi$  jump

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Note that in spite of slightly conflicting notation, in this work the bar *does not* denote complex conjugation.



**Figure 8**: The mechanics of (anti) eigenvalue tunneling, at leading instanton order and starting from the perturbative sector. Eigenvalues are tunneled via the forward Stokes automorphism, whilst unaffected by the backwards one. On the other hand, anti-eigenvalues only see backward Stokes lines, not being affected by forward resurgent motions. As we shall show later in section 3, moving an eigenvalue to the non-physical sheet is equivalent to moving a "hole eigenvalue" into the physical sheet (*i.e.*, an anti-eigenvalue). Removing one anti-eigenvalue from the perturbative cut hence exactly increases the number of eigenvalues in that same cut by one.

throughout (2.20). Should we now add anti-eigenvalues to the discussion, things change. Indeed, via (2.29), the holomorphic effective potential will acquire a minus sign when switching sheets, hence anti-eigenvalue perturbative-contours would behave exactly like eigenvalue perturbative-contours would behave exactly like eigenvalue perturbative-contours except that rotated by  $\pi$ —which is exactly what is needed to materialize  $\underline{\mathfrak{S}}_{\pi}$ . This is illustrated in figure 8. Such backward Stokes transition (2.15) would result in (up to first instanton order; compare with (2.22)):

$$Z^{(0,0)}(g_{\rm s}) - e^{+\frac{A}{g_{\rm s}}} \mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(0,1)} Z^{(0,1)}(g_{\rm s}) + \cdots .$$
(2.32)

Better understanding the nature of anti-eigenvalues requires (3.13), an expression we shall deduce later but which the reader may now glance at. What (3.13) shows is that moving an *eigenvalue* out from the cut into the *non-physical* sheet is equivalent to moving a "hole" eigenvalue out of the cut and into the *physical* sheet. This is somewhat reminiscent of the Dirac sea picture, hence the reason for dubbing these as "anti-eigenvalues". What (3.13) further implies is that tunneling of an anti-eigenvalue away from the cut starts with a "creation" of an eigenvalue–anti-eigenvalue pair, before having an anti-eigenvalue at our disposal which can be then be moved away—a process which leaves one extra eigenvalue on the perturbative cut. This is also illustrated in figure 8. The idea that "different types" of eigenvalues could be needed to account for resonant resurgence was first suggested in [27]. Anti-eigenvalues now make this precise.

Finally, our simple picture of eigenvalue and anti-eigenvalue tunneling also gives clear intuition on how to access any sector on the full resonant transseries in figure 3. Consider a matrixmodel configuration where  $N - \ell$  eigenvalues sit in the perturbative cut and  $\ell$  eigenvalues—and only eigenvalues—have tunneled away to the nonperturbative saddle. Let us denote this as the  $(\ell|0)$  eigenvalue configuration, which we might at first expect would precisely match the  $(\ell, 0)$ transseries sector in (2.7) (note how we used *different notation* to distinguish a  $(n|\bar{m})$  (anti) eigenvalue configuration from a (n,m) transseries sector as in (2.8)). This certainly seems to be the case going forward: from the transseries side the forward asymptotics is controlled by (2.14) with  $(n,m) = (\ell,0)$ , which at leading order resurges the  $(\ell + 1,0)$  sector—and this is indeed known to correspond to tunneling a single eigenvalue to the  $(\ell + 1|0)$  configuration [30]. However going backwards again leads to novelties. From the transseries side the asymptotics is now controlled by (2.15) with  $(n,m) = (\ell,0)$ , which at leading order now resurges both  $(\ell - 1,0)$ and  $(\ell,1)$  sectors. It turns out that both these contributions will arise from the single<sup>6</sup>  $(\ell|1)$ configuration. In other words, we find two transseries contributions being described by a single eigenvalue configuration—a hallmark of resonance. We illustrate this phenomenon in figure 9.

Our two main points herein are the following. First, both Stokes transitions  $\underline{\mathfrak{S}}_0$  and  $\underline{\mathfrak{S}}_{\pi}$  may be accounted for once considering both eigenvalues and anti-eigenvalues. Second, the (anti) eigenvalues configurations to consider are not directly related to transseries sectors—but instead to their resonant combinations, already appearing in (2.14) and (2.15). All these ideas will be made precise in the next section 3, and illustrated/checked with several examples in section 4.

# 2.4 Brief Comments on Supermatrix Models

Let us end this section with some brief comments concerning supermatrix models. In fact the matrix integrals we will find in upcoming section 3 have a strong supermatrix model flavor [70, 71, 28] (*physical* supermatrix model, to be more precise) and it is interesting to first recall some of their generalities. That hermitian matrix models may have supermatrix reformulations is nothing new and arises for example when computing matrix-model correlation functions involving ratios of determinant insertions [72-74] (but see as well [75]), somewhat similar to what will happen for us (these are also useful tools in condensed matter and chaos, *e.g.*, [76, 77]).

The supermatrix model partition-function is given by (compare with (2.1))

$$\mathbb{Z}_{N,\bar{N}}(g_{\rm s}) = \int \mathrm{d}\mathbb{M}\,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}}\operatorname{Str}V(\mathbb{M})},\tag{2.33}$$

with  $\mathbb{M}$  an hermitian  $(N + \overline{N}) \times (N + \overline{N})$  supermatrix,

$$\mathbb{M} = \begin{pmatrix} A & \Psi \\ \Psi^{\dagger} & B \end{pmatrix}. \tag{2.34}$$

Here A and B are, respectively,  $N \times N$  and  $\bar{N} \times \bar{N}$  hermitian matrices, and  $\Psi$  is Grassmann odd with appropriate matrix size. There are two main types of supermatrix models, which essentially differ in how to perform the above integral: *ordinary* and *physical* supermatrix models [70, 71].

**Ordinary Supermatrix Models:** In the ordinary supermatrix model [70, 71, 78], the supermatrix partition function (2.33) is evaluated by considering matrices A and B with no "soul", *i.e.*, matrices whose entries are purely bosonic with no Grassmann even contributions [79]. One may

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>There is a subtlety which will be made clear later. Strictly speaking, this discussion only applies to free-energy transseries sectors, not partition-function transseries sectors. At the partition function level the  $(\ell - 1|0)$  eigenvalue configuration also contributes (albeit being absent for free energy). This is associated to the different natures of partition function and free energy transseries, and will be further discussed in appendix B. See [29] as well.



Figure 9: Eigenvalue configurations describing the leading asymptotics of the  $(\ell, 0)$  transseries sector. First we depict the resurgent lattice of resonant sectors, illustrating resurgent contributions to the asymptotics from forward and backward transitions. Then we show what should be their associated (anti) eigenvalue configurations, and how tunneling anti-eigenvalues relates to the backward Stokes automorphism, whereas tunneling eigenvalues relates to the forward one. Finally we include the exact same illustration but for the spectral curve. It is important to note that (anti) eigenvalue configurations do not strictly match transseries sectors, but rather match their resonant kernels (represented by the brown dashed-lines of the topmost plot). These present plots build on figures first appearing in [27].

then integrate out the Grassmann contributions by integrating out the  $\Psi$ . It turns out that, at the perturbative level, such resulting supermatrix model reduces to the hermitian matrix model (2.1) [70]. However, this type of supermatrix models plays no role in our analysis.

**Physical Supermatrix Models:** The physical supermatrix model proceeds along a distinct route [71], where one instead focuses on immediately trying to diagonalize the supermatrix partition-function analogously to what was done in the hermitian case. This procedure, however, comes with a few caveats. Immediately, the volume of the super-unitary group can vanish in which case an hermitian-like reasoning cannot be followed (but see as well [80]). But even if one just blindly diagonalizes and then simply drops this problematic volume factor, one is led to find

the super-Vandermonde determinant (also known as the Berezinian) in the integrand,

$$\Delta_{N,\bar{N}}\left(\lambda,\bar{\lambda}\right) = \Delta_{N}(\lambda)\,\Delta_{\bar{N}}(\bar{\lambda})\,\prod_{i=1}^{N}\prod_{j=1}^{\bar{N}}\frac{1}{\lambda_{i}-\bar{\lambda}_{j}}.$$
(2.35)

This diverges whenever  $\lambda_i = \bar{\lambda}_j$  hence turning the resulting eigenvalue integral ill-defined. One natural way to make sense of these resulting integrals is via a principal-value prescription. Consider two integration contours, C and  $\bar{C}$  parameterized by  $x(\tau)$  and  $\bar{x}(\bar{\tau})$ , which meet at a point  $x_0$  where the parameterization is chosen such that  $x(0) = x_0 = \bar{x}(0)$ . Then, for  $\epsilon > 0$  and any integrand  $f(x, \bar{x})$ , define<sup>7</sup> the principle-value integral at  $x_0$  by

$$\operatorname{PV}_{\mathcal{C}} \operatorname{d} x \operatorname{PV}_{\int_{\bar{\mathcal{C}}}} \operatorname{d} \bar{x} f(x, \bar{x}) := \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{(-\infty, -\epsilon) \cup (\epsilon, +\infty)} \operatorname{d} \tau \int_{(-\infty, -\epsilon) \cup (\epsilon, +\infty)} \operatorname{d} \bar{\tau} \dot{x}(\tau) \dot{\bar{x}}(\bar{\tau}) f(x(\tau), \bar{x}(\bar{\tau})) .$$

$$(2.36)$$

If contours intersect multiple times, this prescription still applies via implementation of piecewise parameterizations. In this way, one arrives at the definition of the physical supermatrix partition-function,

$$\mathbb{Z}_{N,\bar{N}}(g_{\rm s}) = \frac{1}{N!\bar{N}!} \operatorname{PV} \int \prod_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\mathrm{d}\lambda_i}{2\pi} \prod_{j=1}^{\bar{N}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{\lambda}_j}{2\pi} \Delta_{N,\bar{N}}(\lambda,\bar{\lambda})^2 \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{N} V(\lambda_i) - \sum_{j=1}^{N} V(\bar{\lambda}_j)\right)}, \tag{2.37}$$

where we have further added the same combinatorial pre-factors as for the hermitian matrix models (compare with (2.2)). The physical supermatrix nomenclature is the same as ours: the  $\{\lambda_i\}$  are eigenvalues and the  $\{\bar{\lambda}_j\}$  are anti-eigenvalues. When  $\bar{N} = 0$ , this definition trivially reduces to the hermitian matrix model in (2.2). The idea that supermatrix models could be used to account for resonant resurgence was first suggested in [28]. The upcoming match between non-physical sheet matrix integrals and physical supermatrix integrals now makes this precise.

The role of supergroups in the description of nonperturbative D-brane string physics has been advocated in [81–84], within the context of so-called "ghost" or "negative" D-branes. In fact a relation between supermatrix models and spectral-curve sheet-flipping was also suggested in [83]. In our context, this will be made fully explicit. As such, our set-up is rather reminiscent of some of those ideas, and it would be interesting to explore if our computational methods in the next section may further help in the quantitative analysis of these types of D-branes.

# 3 Resurgent Instanton Calculus in Matrix Models

Having outlined context and ideas on tunneling of eigenvalues and anti-eigenvalues, let us now make the previous heuristics fully precise. After reviewing the required matrix-model technology, we shall discuss our relevant (determinant) correlation functions—whose corresponding matrixintegrals must be carefully defined—and then, iteratively, obtain the different sectors appearing in the transseries lattice of figure 3. We focus on the one-cut spectral-curve setting depicted in figure 10, where, without loss of generality, we assume that the nonperturbative saddle-point  $x^*$ yields real action A (such that the resulting resonant Stokes lines for  $\underline{\mathfrak{S}}_0$  and  $\underline{\mathfrak{S}}_{\pi}$  are basically those already illustrated in figures 2 or 8).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>This definition includes a few technical assumptions. As usual, the parametrization of the contour integral must be generically piecewise-smooth; but we also ask it will be *smooth inside the disk* which was removed around the pole. Further, this disk must be *symmetric*, *i.e.*, the same  $\epsilon$  is chosen for both contour parametrizations.



Figure 10: Our schematic spectral curve. One single cut from a to b where the majority of the eigenvalues sit (green) and a nonperturbative saddle at  $x^*$  (red). In this paper we focus on the setting of a single non-trivial saddle-point. This basic plot will appear again in figures 13 and 17 to help illustrate the required deformations of eigenvalue contours.

#### 3.1 Overview of the Matrix Model Set-Up

Let us first collect several matrix model formulae which will play prominent roles throughout this section (we refer the reader to a vast literature; *e.g.*, [56, 57, 21, 54, 53, 30, 68]). We will be considering the hermitian matrix model (2.2) around the one-cut perturbative saddle (2.23), with generic gauge-invariant observables  $\mathcal{O}(M)$  computed via (already in diagonal gauge)

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(M) \rangle = \frac{1}{Z_N} \frac{1}{N!} \int \prod_{i=1}^N \frac{\mathrm{d}\lambda_i}{2\pi} \,\Delta_N(\lambda)^2 \,\mathcal{O}(\lambda) \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_s} \sum_{i=1}^N V(\lambda_i)}.$$
(3.1)

A key such set of correlation functions are the main players of the topological recursion [53]

$$W_h(p_1,\ldots,p_h) = \left\langle \operatorname{Tr} \frac{1}{p_1 - M} \cdots \operatorname{Tr} \frac{1}{p_h - M} \right\rangle_{(c)}, \qquad (3.2)$$

with genus expansion in  $g_s$  given by

$$W_h(p_1,\ldots,p_h) \simeq \sum_{g=0}^{\infty} W_{g,h}(p_1,\ldots,p_h;t) g_s^{2g+h-2}.$$
 (3.3)

For the upcoming determinant-correlators we will have to compute, it is also useful to introduce integrations of the above multi-resolvents [30],

$$A_h(x_1, \dots, x_h) = \langle \operatorname{Tr} \log (x_1 - M) \cdots \operatorname{Tr} \log (x_h - M) \rangle_{(c)}$$
(3.4)

computed via<sup>8</sup>

$$A_{h}(x_{1},...,x_{h}) = \int^{x_{1}} dp_{1} \cdots \int^{x_{h}} dp_{h} W_{h}(p_{1},...,p_{h}).$$
(3.5)

Clearly these integrated correlators inherit the  $g_s$  expansion from (3.3). This translates to

$$A_h(x_1, \dots, x_h) \simeq \sum_{g=0}^{\infty} A_{g;h}(x_1, \dots, x_h; t) g_s^{2g+h-2}.$$
(3.6)

One of our main tasks going forward will be the computation of correlators involving ratios of determinant insertions (see [75] as well), and these may now be expressed in terms of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The integration constants are fixed by the expansion into multi-trace correlators; see [30].

previous functions  $A_{h_1,h_2,\ldots,h_n}$ . We find

$$\left\langle \frac{\det (p_{1} - M)^{2} \cdots \det (p_{h} - M)^{2}}{\det (q_{\bar{1}} - M)^{2} \cdots \det (q_{\bar{h}} - M)^{2}} \right\rangle = \exp\left\{ \sum_{\substack{n_{1} = 0 \\ (n_{1}, \dots, n_{h}, m_{\bar{1}}, \dots, m_{\bar{h}}) \neq (0, \dots, 0, 0, \dots, 0)}}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{m_{\bar{1}} = 0 \\ (n_{1}, \dots, n_{h}, m_{\bar{1}}, \dots, m_{\bar{h}}) \neq (0, \dots, 0, 0, \dots, 0)}}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{m_{\bar{1}} = 0 \\ (n_{1}, \dots, n_{h}, m_{\bar{1}}, \dots, m_{\bar{h}}) \neq (0, \dots, 0, 0, \dots, 0)}}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{m_{\bar{1}} = 0 \\ (n_{1}, \dots, n_{h}, m_{\bar{1}}, \dots, m_{\bar{h}}) \neq (0, \dots, 0, 0, \dots, 0)}}^{\infty} \left\{ \sum_{\substack{m_{\bar{1}} = 0 \\ (n_{1}, \dots, n_{h}, m_{\bar{1}}, \dots, m_{\bar{h}}) \neq (0, \dots, 0, 0, \dots, 0)}}^{\infty} X_{n_{\bar{1}}} + \sum_{\substack{m_{\bar{1}} = 0 \\ (n_{1}, \dots, n_{h}, m_{\bar{1}}, \dots, m_{\bar{h}}) \neq (0, \dots, 0, 0, \dots, 0)}}^{\infty} X_{n_{\bar{1}}} + \sum_{\substack{m_{\bar{1}} = 0 \\ (n_{1}, \dots, n_{h}, m_{\bar{1}}, \dots, m_{\bar{h}}) \neq (0, \dots, 0, 0, \dots, 0)}}^{\infty} X_{n_{\bar{1}}} + \sum_{\substack{m_{\bar{1}} = 0 \\ (n_{1}, \dots, n_{h}, m_{\bar{1}}, \dots, m_{\bar{h}}) \neq (0, \dots, 0, 0, \dots, 0)}}^{\infty} X_{n_{\bar{1}}} + \sum_{\substack{m_{\bar{1}} = 0 \\ (n_{1}, \dots, n_{h}, m_{\bar{1}}, \dots, m_{\bar{h}}) \neq (0, \dots, 0, 0, \dots, 0)}}^{\infty} X_{n_{\bar{1}}} + \sum_{\substack{m_{\bar{1}} = 0 \\ (n_{1}, \dots, n_{h}, m_{\bar{1}}, \dots, m_{\bar{h}}) \neq (0, \dots, 0, 0, \dots, 0)}}^{\infty} X_{n_{\bar{1}}} + \sum_{\substack{m_{\bar{1}} = 0 \\ (n_{1}, \dots, n_{h}, m_{\bar{1}}, \dots, m_{\bar{h}}) \neq (0, \dots, 0, 0, \dots, 0)}}^{\infty} X_{n_{\bar{1}}} + \sum_{\substack{m_{\bar{1}} = 0 \\ (n_{1}, \dots, n_{h}, m_{\bar{1}}, \dots, m_{\bar{h}}) \neq (0, \dots, 0, 0, \dots, 0)}}^{\infty} X_{n_{\bar{1}}} + \sum_{\substack{m_{\bar{1}} = 0 \\ (n_{1}, \dots, n_{h}, m_{\bar{1}}, \dots, m_{\bar{h}}) \neq (0, \dots, 0, 0, \dots, 0)}}^{\infty} X_{n_{\bar{1}}} + \sum_{\substack{m_{\bar{1}} = 0 \\ (n_{1}, \dots, n_{\bar{h}}) \neq (0, \dots, 0, 0, \dots, 0)}}^{\infty} X_{n_{\bar{1}}} + \sum_{\substack{m_{\bar{1}} = 0 \\ (n_{1}, \dots, n_{\bar{h}}) \neq (0, \dots, 0, 0, \dots, 0)}}^{\infty} X_{n_{\bar{1}}} + \sum_{\substack{m_{\bar{1}} = 0 \\ (n_{1}, \dots, n_{\bar{1}}, \dots, n_{\bar{h}}) \neq (0, \dots, 0, 0, \dots, 0)}}^{\infty} X_{n_{\bar{1}}} + \sum_{\substack{m_{\bar{1}} = 0 \\ (n_{1}, \dots, n_{\bar{1}}) \neq (0, \dots, 0, 0, \dots, 0)}}^{\infty} X_{n_{\bar{1}}} + \sum_{\substack{m_{\bar{1}} = 0 \\ (n_{1}, \dots, n_{\bar{1}}) \neq (0, \dots, 0, \dots, 0)}}^{\infty} X_{n_{\bar{1}}} + \sum_{\substack{m_{\bar{1}} = 0 \\ (n_{1}, \dots, n_{\bar{1}}) \neq (0, \dots, 0, \dots, 0)}}^{\infty} X_{n_{\bar{1}}} + \sum_{\substack{m_{\bar{1}} = 0 \\ (n_{1}, \dots, n_{\bar{1}}) \neq (0, \dots, 0, \dots, 0)}}^{\infty} X_{n_{\bar{1}}} + \sum_{\substack{m_{\bar{1}} = 0 \\ (n_{\bar{1}, \dots, n_{\bar{1}}) \neq (0, \dots, 0, \dots, 0, \dots, 0)}}^{\infty} X_{n_{\bar{1$$

Because we shall use them often later on, let us further spell-out the first few orders in the  $g_s$  expansion of this correlator

$$\left\langle \frac{\det (p_1 - M)^2 \cdots \det (p_h - M)^2}{\det (q_{\bar{1}} - M)^2 \cdots \det (q_{\bar{h}} - M)^2} \right\rangle = \exp\left\{ \frac{1}{g_s} \left( \sum_{i=1}^h 2A_{0;1}(p_i) - \sum_{j=\bar{1}}^{\bar{h}} 2A_{0;1}(q_j) \right) + \left( \sum_{i=1}^h 2A_{0;2}(p_i, p_i) + \sum_{j=\bar{1}}^{\bar{h}} 2A_{0;2}(q_j, q_j) + \sum_{i=1}^h \sum_{\ell=i+1}^h 4A_{0;2}(p_i, p_\ell) + \sum_{j=\bar{1}}^{\bar{h}} \sum_{k=j+1}^{\bar{h}} 4A_{0;2}(q_j, q_k) - \sum_{i=1}^h \sum_{j=\bar{1}}^{\bar{h}} 4A_{0;2}(p_i, q_j) \right) + o(g_s) \right\}.$$

$$(3.8)$$

Quite some more formulae are needed to tackle all calculations in this section, but which we will not explicitly use. In fact, some of the required steps throughout this section amount to revisiting and upgrading the calculations in [30] and those will be omitted. The interested reader may consult [57, 66, 30] for a list of useful relations which are implicitly used in the following. Armed with all of these, let us next spell out the precise correlation functions we need to tackle.

#### 3.2 Determinant Correlators and Spectral Sheets in Matrix Models

Eigenvalue tunneling on the physical sheet is very well established [5, 64–67, 30, 41]. In short, the  $\ell$ -th matrix-model instanton-sector has  $\ell$  eigenvalues tunneled to the nonperturbative saddle at  $x^*$  and is given by<sup>9</sup>

$$\mathcal{Z}^{(\ell|0)}(t) = \frac{(N-\ell)!}{N!} \,\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t-\ell g_{\rm s}) \int_{\mathcal{C}^{\star}} \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \frac{\mathrm{d}x_i}{2\pi} \,\Delta_{\ell}(x)^2 \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}} \sum_{j=1}^{\ell} V(x_j)} \left\langle \prod_{k=1}^{\ell} \det\left(x_k - M\right)^2 \right\rangle_{N-\ell}$$
(3.9)

with  $\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}$  the perturbative partition function. Notice that, strictly as written, this expression is not fully precise on two accounts. On the one hand, we have not accounted for the required combinatorial factors arising from indistinguishability of eigenvalues [64]. Such factors will appear naturally from the (anti) eigenvalue tunneling arguments in subsection 3.3, in which case we opt for suppressing them throughout this subsection and only make them explicit later. On the other hand, specifying the contours  $\mathcal{C}^*$  is absolutely crucial in defining what (3.9) means. In the present subsection we shall be focusing on the integrands and on their behavior as eigenvalues change sheets, in which case we opt for leaving the integration contours unspecified until the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Recall the notation  $(n|\bar{m})$  to denote (anti) eigenvalue configurations, as introduced in subsection 2.3.

next subsection. Note how this also affects the left-hand side of the above equality: if the integration contour is *not* to pass through a nonperturbative saddle, we are really *not* computing any instanton sector. As such, all (integrand) formulae which now ensue are valid for arbitrary contours—albeit in the rest of the paper we are only interested in the nonperturbative ones.

We want to understand what happens when tunneling  $both^{10} \ell$  eigenvalues and  $\bar{\ell}$  antieigenvalues away from the cut. Our proposal for this matrix-model contribution is

$$\mathcal{Z}^{(\ell|\bar{\ell})}(t) = \frac{(N+\bar{\ell}-\ell)!}{(N+\bar{\ell})!\,\bar{\ell}!} \,\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t-(\ell-\bar{\ell})\,g_{\rm s}) \,\mathrm{PV} \int \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \frac{\mathrm{d}x_i}{2\pi} \,\mathrm{PV} \int \prod_{j=1}^{\bar{\ell}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{x}_j}{2\pi} \times \\ \times \frac{\Delta_{\ell}(x)^2 \,\Delta_{\bar{\ell}}(\bar{x})^2}{\prod_{i=1}^{\bar{\ell}} \prod_{j=1}^{\bar{\ell}} (x_i-\bar{x}_j)^2} \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}} \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} V(x_i) + \frac{1}{g_{\rm s}} \sum_{j=1}^{\bar{\ell}} V(\bar{x}_j)} \left\langle \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \det (x_i-M)^2}{\prod_{j=1}^{\bar{\ell}} \det (\bar{x}_j-M)^2} \right\rangle_{N+\bar{\ell}-\ell}.$$
(3.10)

The principal-value prescription was defined in (2.36) and will be further discussed in the next subsection 3.3. This proposal is valid in the 't Hooft large N limit, where it describes generic configurations with arbitrary number of eigenvalues and anti-eigenvalues tunneled away from the perturbative cut. The "hole" nature of anti-eigenvalues is also made clear by the signs in front of the  $\bar{\ell}s$  (more in the following). Let us also mention that similar types of matrix integrals have previously appeared in the literature, *e.g.*, [85–87, 32, 88].

Building upon the standard eigenvalue-tunneling expressions in [64, 30], our proposal may be justified rather straightforwardly for the added inclusion of anti-eigenvalues. Let us consider in turns tunneling a single anti-eigenvalue, and then an arbitrary such number.

**Tunneling One Anti-Eigenvalue:** Even simpler, first just recall tunneling of a single eigenvalue [30], corresponding to  $\ell = 1$  in (3.9),

$$\mathcal{Z}^{(1|0)}(t) = \frac{1}{N} \mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t - g_{\rm s}) \int \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{2\pi} \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}}V(x)} \left\langle \det\left(x - M\right)^2 \right\rangle_{N-1}.$$
(3.11)

Now, in order to move to the non-physical sheet we need to understand how the determinant insertion behaves under the action of the involution map  $\sigma(\zeta)$  in (2.28). For this, it is instructive to first remember the well-known property of how a ratio of determinants is flipped when changing sheets,

$$\left\langle \frac{\det\left(x(\sigma(\zeta_1)) - M\right)^2}{\det\left(x(\sigma(\zeta_2)) - M\right)^2} \right\rangle = \left\langle \frac{\det\left(x(\zeta_2) - M\right)^2}{\det\left(x(\zeta_1) - M\right)^2} \right\rangle.$$
(3.12)

This is shown to all orders using the generic determinant-ratio (3.7) and the flipping property of multi-resolvent correlators,  $W_h(\sigma(\zeta_1), \zeta_2, \ldots, \zeta_h) = -W_h(\zeta_1, \zeta_2, \ldots, \zeta_h)$  [69]. It further suggests a relation between a determinant-correlator and an inverse-determinant-correlator. Indeed, one can show the key relation

$$e^{-\frac{1}{g_{s}}V(x(\sigma(\zeta)))} \left\langle \det(x(\sigma(\zeta)) - M)^{2} \right\rangle_{N-1} \mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t - g_{s}) =$$

$$= e^{+\frac{1}{g_{s}}V(x(\zeta))} \left\langle \frac{1}{\det(x(\zeta) - M)^{2}} \right\rangle_{N+1} \mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t + g_{s}).$$
(3.13)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>We alert the reader not to be misled by notation, as generically  $\ell$  and  $\bar{\ell}$  are unrelated.



Figure 11: Illustration of the integration paths appearing in equations (3.15) and (3.16).

To show this, follow [89] and consider determinant correlators as deformations of partition functions. Indexing the partition function by these deformations, via paths  $\gamma$  that start at  $\zeta_i$  and end at  $\zeta_f$ , we can write

$$\mathcal{Z}\left(\gamma_{\zeta_{i}\to\zeta_{f}}\right) = \exp\left\{\sum_{g\geq 0,n\geq 0}\frac{g_{s}^{2g-2+n}}{n!}\int_{\zeta_{i}}^{\zeta_{f}}\cdots\int_{\zeta_{i}}^{\zeta_{f}}W_{g,n}\left(x_{1},\ldots,x_{n}\right)\frac{\partial x_{1}}{\partial\zeta_{1}}\cdots\frac{\partial x_{n}}{\partial\zeta_{n}}\,\mathrm{d}\zeta_{1}\cdots\mathrm{d}\zeta_{n}\right\},\tag{3.14}$$

where the  $x_i$  are related to the  $\zeta_i$  via (2.26). It then follows [89]

$$e^{-\frac{1}{g_{s}}V(x(\zeta))} \left\langle \det\left(x(\zeta) - M\right)^{2} \right\rangle_{N-1} \mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t - g_{s}) = \mathcal{Z}\left(\gamma_{\sigma(\zeta) \to \sigma(\infty)} + \gamma_{\sigma(\infty) \to \infty} + \gamma_{\infty \to \zeta}\right) = \mathcal{Z}\left(\gamma_{\sigma(\zeta) \to \zeta}\right),$$
(3.15)

$$e^{\frac{1}{g_{s}}V(x(\zeta))} \left\langle \frac{1}{\det\left(x(\zeta) - M\right)^{2}} \right\rangle_{N+1} \mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t+g_{s}) = \mathcal{Z}\left(\gamma_{\zeta \to \infty} + \gamma_{\infty \to \sigma(\infty)} + \gamma_{\sigma(\infty) \to \sigma(\zeta)}\right) = \mathcal{Z}\left(\gamma_{\zeta \to \sigma(\zeta)}\right),$$

$$= \mathcal{Z}\left(\gamma_{\zeta \to \sigma(\zeta)}\right),$$

$$(3.16)$$

where the integration path for the first relation is illustrated in figure 11. Under the action of the involution map  $\sigma(\zeta)$  the integration direction gets reversed, due to  $W_h(\sigma(\zeta_1), \zeta_2, \ldots, \zeta_h) = -W_h(\zeta_1, \zeta_2, \ldots, \zeta_h)$  [69]. This immediately implies that flipping sheets transforms the above (3.15) into (3.16), thus yielding what we wanted to show: equation (3.13).

As discussed in subsection 2.3 and illustrated in figures 8 and 9, it is precisely relation (3.13) which gives rise to the anti-eigenvalue (or "hole" in the Dirac sea picture) interpretation. First, via the change in sign in front of the potential ("particle changes to anti-particle"); second, due to the change in the number of eigenvalues upon the cut ("particle–anti-particle pair creation").

Making use of (3.13) back in the one-tunneled-eigenvalue partition function (3.11) leads us to the one-tunneled-anti-eigenvalue partition function. We label by  $\bar{x}$  the anti-eigenvalue integration variable (to better keep track), and multiply the end result by N in order to make up for the fact that we could have chosen<sup>11</sup> any of the N eigenvalues and changed its sheet. One immediately finds

$$\mathcal{Z}^{(0|1)}(t) = \mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t+g_{\rm s}) \int \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{x}}{2\pi} \,\mathrm{e}^{\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}}V(\bar{x})} \left\langle \frac{1}{\det(\bar{x}-M)^2} \right\rangle_{N+1}.$$
(3.17)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Albeit eigenvalue combinatorics is discussed in subsection 3.3, we have no alternative but to discuss antieigenvalue combinatorics herein as we need to decide which of the eigenvalues in the cut is flipped.

This is in agreement with our general proposal (3.10).

Based on these simple considerations, one may next address a more intricate configuration still with one-tunneled-anti-eigenvalue but now with an arbitrary number of tunneled eigenvalues. The simplest way to do so is to extract these  $\ell$  eigenvalues straight from the inverse determinant in the above (3.17). First decompose its corresponding (N + 1)-dimensional matrix-integral as

$$\int \prod_{i=1}^{N+1} \frac{d\lambda_i}{2\pi} \frac{\Delta_{N+1}(\lambda)^2}{\prod_{j=1}^{N+1} (\bar{x} - \lambda_j)^2} e^{-\frac{1}{g_s} \sum_{k=1}^{N+1} V(\lambda_k)} = \int \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \frac{dx_i}{2\pi} \frac{\Delta_{\ell}(x)^2}{\prod_{j=1}^{\ell} (\bar{x} - x_j)^2} e^{-\frac{1}{g_s} \sum_{k=1}^{\ell} V(x_k)} \times$$

$$\times \int \prod_{i=1}^{N+1-\ell} \frac{d\lambda_i}{2\pi} \frac{\Delta_{N+1-\ell}(\lambda)^2 \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \prod_{j=1}^{N+1-\ell} (x_i - \lambda_j)^2}{\prod_{k=1}^{N+1-\ell} (\bar{x} - \lambda_k)^2} e^{-\frac{1}{g_s} \sum_{k=1}^{N+1-\ell} V(\lambda_k)},$$
(3.18)

where we further renamed the last  $\ell$  eigenvalues as  $x_i$ ,  $i = 1, ..., \ell$ , for better readability. This factorization allows us to rewrite the inverse-determinant correlator in (3.17) as

$$\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t+g_{\rm s})\left\langle\frac{1}{\det(\bar{x}-M)^{2}}\right\rangle_{N+1} = \frac{(N+1-\ell)!}{(N+1)!} \,\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t+(1-\ell)g_{\rm s}) \times \qquad (3.19)$$
$$\times \int \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \frac{\mathrm{d}x_{i}}{2\pi} \,\frac{\Delta_{\ell}(x)^{2}}{\prod_{j=1}^{\ell} (\bar{x}-x_{j})^{2}} \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}} \sum_{k=1}^{\ell} V(x_{k})} \left\langle\frac{\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \det(x_{i}-M)^{2}}{\det(\bar{x}-M)^{2}}\right\rangle_{N+1-\ell},$$

which upon replacement back in (3.17) yields our desired result

$$\mathcal{Z}^{(\ell|1)}(t) = \frac{(N+1-\ell)!}{(N+1)!} \,\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t+(1-\ell)\,g_{\rm s}) \times \qquad (3.20)$$

$$\times \int \prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \frac{\mathrm{d}x_i}{2\pi} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{x}}{2\pi} \frac{\Delta_{\ell}(x)^2}{\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} (\bar{x}-x_i)^2} \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}}\sum_{i=1}^{\ell} V(x_i) + \frac{1}{g_{\rm s}}V(\bar{x})} \left\langle \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \det\left(x_i - M\right)^2}{\det\left(\bar{x} - M\right)^2} \right\rangle_{N+1-\ell}.$$

Again, this is in agreement with our general proposal (3.10). This integral (as our proposal) has double poles in the integrand whenever  $x_i = \bar{x}$  and is hence ill-defined. Its definition is made via the principal-value prescription in (2.36) (already featured in (3.10)) which will come about with the discussion of integration contours in subsection 3.3.

**Tunneling Multiple Anti-Eigenvalues:** The general case now follows almost straightforwardly. First, generalize (3.13) to multiple determinants, evaluated at multiple coordinates  $x_i = x(\zeta_i)$ . Completely analogous calculations to the ones presented above now yield

$$e^{-\frac{1}{g_{s}}\sum_{i=1}^{\bar{\ell}}V(x(\sigma(\zeta_{i})))}\left\langle\prod_{j=1}^{\bar{\ell}}\det\left(x(\sigma(\zeta_{j}))-M\right)^{2}\right\rangle_{N-\bar{\ell}}\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t-\bar{\ell}g_{s})=$$
(3.21)

$$= e^{+\frac{1}{g_{s}}\sum_{i=1}^{\bar{\ell}}V(x(\zeta_{i}))} \left\langle \frac{1}{\prod_{j=1}^{\bar{\ell}}\det(x(\zeta_{j})-M)^{2}} \right\rangle_{N+\bar{\ell}} \mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t+\bar{\ell}g_{s}).$$

This relation may again be derived via the deformed partition-function argument in [89].

Given this relation, the generic  $(\ell|\ell)$  configuration follows. In the same way we used (3.13) in the one-tunneled-eigenvalue partition function (3.11) to obtain  $\mathcal{Z}^{(0|1)}$  in (3.17), we may now use the above (3.21) in the multi-eigenvalue partition function (3.9) to obtain an expression for  $\mathcal{Z}^{(0|\ell)}$ —which the reader may check is precisely the one from our proposal (3.10), once we factor-in the extra symmetry factor  $\binom{N}{\ell}$  accounting for the fact that out of N indistinguishable eigenvalues, exactly  $\ell$  have flipped sheet. Similarly, in the same way we factored-out  $\ell$  eigenvalues from the matrix-integral associated to the inverse-determinant correlator in (3.17) to obtain  $\mathcal{Z}^{(\ell|1)}$ in (3.20), we may now factor-out this same  $\ell$  eigenvalues from the product of inverse-determinants correlator in (3.21) to finally obtain (3.10) in full generality. All that is now missing is properly understanding the appropriate integration contours associated to (anti) eigenvalue tunneling.

To end this subsection, let us make the connection to the supermatrix discussion in subsection 2.4. Head back to our proposal for  $\mathcal{Z}^{(\ell|\bar{\ell})}$  in (3.10) and assume that all contours are perturbative (which we have left unspecified but were thinking "nonperturbative" in the back of our minds). There is then no reason to single-out the  $x_i$  or  $\bar{x}_j$  integrations, and we may rather include them all with the eigenvalue  $\lambda_i$  and anti-eigenvalue  $\bar{\lambda}_j$  integrations, inside the ratio-of-determinants correlator. In fact that correlator is just denoting

$$\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t - (\ell - \bar{\ell}) g_{s}) \left\langle \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \det (x_{i} - M)^{2}}{\prod_{j=1}^{\bar{\ell}} \det (\bar{x}_{j} - M)^{2}} \right\rangle_{N + \bar{\ell} - \ell} = (3.22)$$

$$= \frac{1}{(N + \bar{\ell} - \ell)!} \int \prod_{i=1}^{N + \bar{\ell} - \ell} \frac{d\lambda_{i}}{2\pi} \Delta_{N + \bar{\ell} - \ell}^{2} (\lambda) \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \prod_{j=1}^{N + \bar{\ell} - \ell} (x_{i} - \lambda_{j})^{2}}{\prod_{k=1}^{\bar{\ell}} \prod_{j=1}^{N + \bar{\ell} - \ell} (\bar{x}_{k} - \lambda_{j})^{2}} e^{-\frac{1}{g_{s}} \sum_{i=1}^{N + \bar{\ell} - \ell} V(\lambda_{i})}.$$

Plugging this expression back in (3.10) and renaming  $x_i \mapsto \lambda_{i+N+\bar{\ell}-\ell}$  and  $\bar{x}_j \mapsto \bar{\lambda}_j$  therein as mentioned above, then (3.10) will exactly match (2.37) with the supermatrix assignments:

$$\mathbb{Z}_{N+\bar{\ell},\bar{\ell}}(g_{\rm s})\,.\tag{3.23}$$

Interestingly, we now explicitly see how the eigenvalue–anti-eigenvalue partition function may be written as a physical supermatrix integral, which we had already mentioned in subsection 2.4.

# 3.3 Eigenvalue Tunneling, Resurgence, and Integration Contours

Having understood the matrix integrals (and integrands) we wish to evaluate, let us now make their (anti) eigenvalue-tunneling integration-contours precise. In particular, we want to make sure that the  $\mathcal{Z}^{(\ell|\bar{\ell})}$ -amplitudes from the previous subsection *are indeed* instanton-amplitudes, *i.e.*, that all tunneled (anti) eigenvalue contours pass through *nonperturbative* saddles. For the  $(\ell|0)$  multi-eigenvalue configurations this is pretty standard and nonperturbative contours are



Figure 12: The forward Stokes automorphism (blue). When crossing the positive real axis starting from the perturbative sector we pick-up new resurgent sectors. The Stokes "lattice" is however one-dimensional as we are only considering the forward discontinuity.

steepest-descent contours; e.g., [30]. But this will not be the case for more general sectors, where residue contours will also appear. This is a subtle discussion in which we now engage.

In order to properly understand how to formulate these integration contours we will begin by directly relating eigenvalue tunneling with the resurgence relations of our problem. This immediately comes about once considering the discontinuity in the asymptotic evaluation of the matrix-model partition-function when crossing a Stokes line. This discontinuity (2.13) may be evaluated in two equivalent ways:

- Directly within the resurgence framework, by using the Stokes automorphisms (2.14)-(2.15).
- Directly for the eigenvalue matrix-integral, where it acts as:

$$\operatorname{Disc}_{\theta} \mathcal{Z}(g_s) = \mathcal{Z}(|g_s| \operatorname{e}^{\mathrm{i}\theta^+}) - \mathcal{Z}(|g_s| \operatorname{e}^{\mathrm{i}\theta^-}), \qquad \theta = \arg g_s.$$
(3.24)

On the physical sheet, this directly translates to standard eigenvalue tunneling<sup>12</sup>. However, when considering both sheets of the spectral curve, we will uncover additional *residue* contributions which need to be taken into account.

**Eigenvalue Tunneling on the Physical Sheet:** Start by considering the perturbative sector and undergo a forward Stokes transition, as shown in figure 12. From resurgence, the discontinuity reads

Disc<sub>0</sub> 
$$Z^{(0,0)}(t) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} e^{-\ell \frac{A}{g_s}} \mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(\ell,0)} Z^{(\ell,0)}(t).$$
 (3.25)

This should reproduce standard eigenvalue tunneling—but to evaluate the discontinuity on the matrix integral side, we first need to be fully specific concerning eigenvalue integration-contours.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Note how even though in principle the partition-function matrix-integral results in an actual function, its evaluation via saddle-point approximation does not—it produces an asymptotic series. Hence when comparing matrix-integral results with resurgence results, one is really consistently comparing two asymptotic series.



Figure 13: Integration contours associated with eigenvalue tunneling (drawn on top of figure 10). We have two perturbative contours  $C^+$  and  $C^-$  which, for  $\epsilon \to 0$ , get deformed into the nonperturbative saddle-point contour  $C^*$  (throughout the figures of this subsection,  $\epsilon \equiv \arg g_s$ ). This picture will change in the presence of anti-eigenvalues (see upcoming figure 17).

Keeping track of contours in the following is easier if introducing added subscripts into (2.2), as:

$$\mathcal{Z}_N(g_{\rm s}) \equiv \mathcal{Z}_{\{\mathcal{C}_1,\dots,\mathcal{C}_N\}}(g_{\rm s}) = \frac{1}{N!} \int_{\mathcal{C}_1} \cdots \int_{\mathcal{C}_N} \prod_{i=1}^N \frac{\mathrm{d}\lambda_i}{2\pi} \,\Delta_N(\lambda)^2 \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}} \sum_{i=1}^N V(\lambda_i)}.$$
(3.26)

Given the different saddle-points of the potential,  $x_{sp}$ , contours  $C_i$  are taken as the corresponding paths of steepest-descent, dictated by

$$\operatorname{Im}\left(\frac{V(x) - V(x_{\rm sp})}{g_{\rm s}}\right) = 0.$$
(3.27)

Start with N = 1 and evaluate the discontinuity (3.24) of the perturbative partition-function across  $\theta = 0$ . It follows

$$\operatorname{Disc}_{0} \mathcal{Z}_{1}^{(0|0)}(g_{s}) = \mathcal{Z}_{1}^{(0|0)}(|g_{s}| \operatorname{e}^{\operatorname{i}0^{+}}) - \mathcal{Z}_{1}^{(0|0)}(|g_{s}| \operatorname{e}^{\operatorname{i}0^{-}}) \equiv \mathcal{Z}_{\{\mathcal{C}^{+}\}}(|g_{s}| \operatorname{e}^{\operatorname{i}0^{+}}) - \mathcal{Z}_{\{\mathcal{C}^{-}\}}(|g_{s}| \operatorname{e}^{\operatorname{i}0^{-}}) = \mathcal{Z}_{\{\mathcal{C}^{+}-\mathcal{C}^{-}\}}(|g_{s}| \operatorname{e}^{\operatorname{i}0^{-}}) = \mathcal{Z}_{\{\mathcal{C}^{+}\}}(|g_{s}| \operatorname{e}^{\operatorname{i}0^{-}}),$$
(3.28)

where, as usual [30], in the last step we have deformed the difference of perturbative contours into the nonperturbative-saddle contour  $C^*$ . This general setting is illustrated in figure 13.

We may be more explicit in the concrete example of the quartic matrix model (for which we have already shown steepest-descent contours in (2.20)-(2.21), and which we will use as an explicit example throughout this subsection). In fact, one may immediately rewrite (2.21) in our present discontinuity language, where it simply becomes

$$\mathcal{C}_{\text{quartic}}^{+} - \mathcal{C}_{\text{quartic}}^{-} = \boxed{\begin{array}{c} & & \\ & &$$

Analogous calculations for higher values of N go through by simple iteration of the discontinuity (3.28) and using linearity of the integral. One finds

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Disc}_{0} \mathcal{Z}_{N}^{(0|0)}(g_{s}) &= \mathcal{Z}_{N}^{(0|0)}(|g_{s}| \operatorname{e}^{\mathrm{i}0^{+}}) - \mathcal{Z}_{N}^{(0|0)}(|g_{s}| \operatorname{e}^{\mathrm{i}0^{-}}) = \binom{N}{1} \mathcal{Z}_{\{\mathcal{C}^{\star}, \mathcal{C}^{-}, \mathcal{C}^{-}, \ldots\}}(|g_{s}| \operatorname{e}^{\mathrm{i}0^{-}}) + \\ &+ \binom{N}{2} \mathcal{Z}_{\{\mathcal{C}^{\star}, \mathcal{C}^{\star}, \mathcal{C}^{-}, \ldots\}}(|g_{s}| \operatorname{e}^{\mathrm{i}0^{-}}) + \cdots + \binom{N}{\ell} \mathcal{Z}_{\{\underbrace{\mathcal{C}^{\star}, \ldots, \mathcal{C}^{\star}, \underbrace{\mathcal{C}^{-}, \ldots, \mathcal{C}^{-}}_{N-\ell}\}}(|g_{s}| \operatorname{e}^{\mathrm{i}0^{-}}) + \end{aligned}$$

$$+\cdots + \mathcal{Z}_{\{\mathcal{C}^{\star},\mathcal{C}^{\star},\mathcal{C}^{\star},\ldots\}}(|g_{\mathbf{s}}|\,\mathbf{e}^{\mathbf{i}0^{-}}).$$

$$(3.30)$$

Herein the combinatorial factors  $\binom{N}{\ell}$  alluded to in subsection 3.2 naturally appear, and this hence further allows us to finally make (3.9) fully precise (in fact, as anticipated therein). Recall we were missing the combinatorics of indistinguishable eigenvalues, and the specification of the  $C^*$ integration contours through the nonperturbative saddles. Both accounts are now solved. The  $\ell$ -instanton contribution  $\mathcal{Z}^{(\ell|0)}$  is the contribution with  $\ell$  tunneled eigenvalues in (3.30), *i.e.*, the missing specifications in the matrix integral (3.9) are<sup>13</sup> just:

$$\mathcal{Z}^{(\ell|0)} \equiv \binom{N}{\ell} \mathcal{Z}_{\{\underbrace{\mathcal{C}^{\star},\dots,\mathcal{C}^{\star}}{\ell}\}}.$$
(3.31)

All that is left to do, is to now relate the resurgence discontinuity (3.25) with the matrixintegral discontinuity (3.30). This also makes precise how eigenvalue tunneling essentially *yields* resurgence. Recalling we are comparing asymptotic series, we first equate<sup>14</sup> both discontinuities as:

$$\frac{\operatorname{Disc}_{0} Z^{(0,0)}(t,g_{\mathrm{s}})}{Z^{(0,0)}(t,g_{\mathrm{s}})} \simeq \frac{\operatorname{Disc}_{0} \mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{\mathrm{s}})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{\mathrm{s}})}.$$
(3.32)

Note how on both sides above all terms are listed by their instanton number. It is then immediate to further identify them one-by-one as:

$$e^{-\ell \frac{A}{g_{s}}} \mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(\ell,0)} \frac{Z^{(\ell,0)}(t,g_{s})}{Z^{(0,0)}(t,g_{s})} \simeq \frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(\ell|0)}(t,g_{s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{s})}.$$
(3.33)

Let us comment on this result. First, it establishes the *bridge* between resurgent-transseries quantities on its left-hand side, and matrix-integrals on its right-hand side. Second, via explicit matrix integrals—with the appropriate eigenvalue configurations—this equality *directly computes* Borel residues; which is to say, directly computes the Stokes data of the resurgent transseries. Third, although we have started-out focused upon the partition-function, at the end-of-the-day we are really facing its *ratios*; *i.e.*, what we are really computing is the *free energy* transseries.

**Generic Eigenvalue Tunneling:** Having established the forward Stokes automorphism, with its resurgent sectors as in figure 12, let us next turn to arbitrary "resurgence motions" and try to access the full transseries as shown in figure 14. As illustrated, one way in which this is achievable is by starting instead with the backward Stokes automorphism.

Let us first underline that the perturbative eigenvalues on the physical sheet are not affected by the backward discontinuity. This is because while on the physical sheet nothing really happens at  $\theta = \pi$ —there is no room for a perturbative-contour deformation of the type shown in figure 13 or in (3.29). In fact, recall that the rotation of the perturbative quartic contour was already shown in (2.20), where it was rather explicit how Stokes transitions only occurred at  $\theta = 0$  and  $\theta = 2\pi$ . And these were exactly the transition now illustrated in (3.29). On the other hand, when crossing  $\theta = \pi$  no such deformation occurred.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>From here onwards we only list the "missing" integration contours we are interested in, as opposed to all. The perturbative contours  $C^-$  which are left implicit are taken at  $g_s = |g_s| e^{i0^-}$ . In principle one should always keep track of this phase albeit for readability we will most times just write  $g_s$ , with the phase clear form context.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>We have normalized both sides of this asymptotic equality by the perturbative sector, for two reasons. First, this normalization is convenient in order to compare matrix-integral results for the free energy instead of the partition function [30]. Second, in this way we do not have to worry about neither the Gaussian normalization nor the global partition-function pre-factor; both earlier mentioned in subsection 2.1.



**Figure 14**: The intricacies of resurgence. Take the gray path depicted on the top image, where we first undergo a backward Stokes automorphism, then followed by a forward Stokes automorphism. The (intricate) resurgence relations which emerge from such a sequence of transitions are depicted upon the transseries lattice of the bottom image. In dashed brown we represent the directions of the resonant kernel. These resurgence relations literally provide access to the *full* transseries.

Start again by considering the perturbative sector but now undergo a backward Stokes transition, as shown in figure 14, where we will need to include anti-eigenvalues. From resurgence, the discontinuity reads (compare with (3.25))

$$\operatorname{Disc}_{\pi} Z^{(0,0)}(t) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} e^{\ell \frac{A}{g_{s}}} \mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(0,\ell)} Z^{(0,\ell)}(t).$$
(3.34)

As the reader already knows, our goal is to reproduce this formula via anti-eigenvalue tunneling.

Akin to what we did earlier for eigenvalues, it is rather instructive to first evaluate the discontinuity (3.24) starting with a single *anti-eigenvalue*. In this case, let us focus on trying to

make sense of

$$\operatorname{Disc}_{\pi} \mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)} = \mathcal{Z}^{(0|1)} + \cdots$$
 (3.35)

We will deal with multiple anti-eigenvalues later; for now let us just figure out a single antieigenvalue in the first transition of figure 14. This we shall do by resorting to (3.17) but with  $\bar{x}$ integrated over a perturbative contour  $\bar{C}$ , as<sup>15</sup>

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\{\bar{\mathcal{C}}\}}^{(0|1)}(t) = \mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t+g_{\rm s}) \int_{\bar{\mathcal{C}}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{x}}{2\pi} \,\mathrm{e}^{\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}}V(\bar{x})} \left\langle \frac{1}{\det\left(\bar{x}-M\right)^2} \right\rangle_{N+1}.$$
(3.36)

The discontinuity (3.24) of this integral across  $\theta = \pi$  follows. The backward Stokes transition occurs at  $-g_s$ , where anti-eigenvalues at  $\theta = \pi$  behave<sup>16</sup> just like eigenvalues at  $\theta = 0$ , in which case we find (compare with (3.28))

$$\operatorname{Disc}_{\pi} \mathcal{Z}_{\{\bar{\mathcal{C}}\}}^{(0|1)}(g_{s}) = \mathcal{Z}_{\{\bar{\mathcal{C}}^{+}\}}^{(0|1)}(|g_{s}| \operatorname{e}^{\mathrm{i}\pi^{+}}) - \mathcal{Z}_{\{\bar{\mathcal{C}}^{-}\}}^{(0|1)}(|g_{s}| \operatorname{e}^{\mathrm{i}\pi^{-}}) = \mathcal{Z}_{\{\bar{\mathcal{C}}^{*}\}}^{(0|1)}(|g_{s}| \operatorname{e}^{\mathrm{i}\pi^{-}}).$$
(3.37)

Herein we are considering the same saddle-point  $x^*$  as above, and we have accordingly denoted the corresponding tunneled-anti-eigenvalue contour by  $\bar{C}^*$ . But we still need to continue the path outlined in figure 14 to reach positive  $g_s$ . As that happens  $\bar{C}^*$  also rotates; in particular, on the physical sheet,  $\bar{C}^*$  stops being steepest-ascent and becomes steepest-descent again—once more reflecting the minus-sign which appears when switching sheets in the spectral curve. Antieigenvalues have hence tunneled to the nonperturbative saddle in the same way that eigenvalues do, only they do so via the backward automorphism (and unaffected by the forward one).

This may be illustrated in our familiar quartic example, similarly to what happened in (3.29). In this case, taking into account all aforementioned rotations, the above transition looks like



where we see anti-eigenvalue tunneling at  $\theta = \pi$  before rotating back to  $\theta = 0$ ; and where one can explicitly see how anti-eigenvalue contours are eigenvalue contours rotated<sup>17</sup> by  $\pi$ .

Let us move towards the general case in steps. First consider the one tunneled-anti-eigenvalue configuration in (3.37)-(3.36), but now with one added eigenvalue which we would like to tunnel to the nonperturbative saddle. This is then described by the matrix integral (3.20), where we initially consider an eigenvalue *perturbative* contour,

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\{\mathcal{C},\bar{\mathcal{C}}^{\star}\}}^{(1|1)}(t) = \frac{1}{N+1} \,\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t) \,\mathrm{PV}\!\!\int_{\mathcal{C}} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{2\pi} \,\mathrm{PV}\!\!\int_{\bar{\mathcal{C}}^{\star}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{x}}{2\pi} \frac{1}{(\bar{x}-x)^2} \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\mathrm{s}}}V(x) + \frac{1}{g_{\mathrm{s}}}V(\bar{x})} \left\langle \frac{\det\left(x-M\right)^2}{\det\left(\bar{x}-M\right)^2} \right\rangle_{N}^{N}.$$
(3.39)

Consider the above integration contours close to a forward Stokes transition. This is illustrated for the example of the cubic matrix model in figure 15, for the example of the quartic matrix model in figure 16, and generically in figure 17. The eigenvalue perturbative contour has been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>It is now important to keep track of both *superscripts* and *subscripts* to properly define each quantity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>As the minus sign in  $g_s$  cancels the one from switching sheets (recall the corresponding discussion of Stokes automorphisms in subsection 2.3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>Notice how under the rotation by  $\pi$  the contours seem to rotate only by  $\frac{\pi}{4}$ . This is just due to the fact that for this illustrative example we are using the steepest-descent (3.27) with a *quartic* potential (4.17).



Figure 15: Integration contours in the cubic matrix model (to be discussed in subsection 4.1) drawn on top of its figure 10, for both (perturbative) eigenvalues and (nonperturbative) antieigenvalues. At a forward Stokes transition both contours undergo a Stokes jump. Further, the eigenvalue perturbative contour crosses the anti-eigenvalue nonperturbative contour somewhere in-between the endpoint of the cut and the nonperturbative saddle-point. For our double-pole integrals as in (3.39) this leads to a residue contribution as generically illustrated in figure 17.



Figure 16: Integration contours in the quartic matrix model (to be discussed in subsection 4.2) drawn on top of its figure 10 (which now has two symmetric nonperturbative saddles), for both (perturbative) eigenvalues and (nonperturbative) anti-eigenvalues. For this example, eigenvalue perturbative-contours were already shown in (2.20), and anti-eigenvalue nonperturbative-contours in (3.38). At a forward Stokes transition, both contours jump and eigenvalue/anti-eigenvalue contours cross, leading to residue contributions for (3.39) as illustrated in figure 17.

previously studied. The anti-eigenvalue contour  $\overline{C}^*$  through the nonperturbative saddle  $x^*$  is more subtle: contrary to anti-eigenvalue *perturbative* contours, anti-eigenvalue *nonperturbative* contours do undergo a Stokes jump at  $\theta = 0$  (this is quite evident for the cubic in figure 15) and for the quartic in figure 16). Focusing on our favorite quartic example, the jump of the anti-eigenvalue nonperturbative contour from  $\theta = 0^+$  to  $\theta = 0^-$  is<sup>18</sup> (compare with (3.29))

In other words, nonperturbative anti-eigenvalues can "tunnel back" to the perturbative saddle at the positive Stokes ray. But, it turns out, any such contributions may be always absorbed by the constant component in the free-energy transseries (which always exists as this transseries is not quite purely two-parameters; see [29] and the discussion in appendix B). As purely-additive free-energy corrections, we shall ignore them in the following for the sake of simplicity.

In light of this added subtlety, let us then evaluate the discontinuity (3.24) of the above integral (3.39) across  $\theta = 0$ ; which is

$$Disc_{0} \mathcal{Z}_{\{\mathcal{C},\bar{\mathcal{C}}^{\star}\}}^{(1|1)}(g_{s}) = \mathcal{Z}_{\{\mathcal{C}+,\bar{\mathcal{C}}^{\star},+\}}^{(1|1)}(|g_{s}| e^{i0^{+}}) - \mathcal{Z}_{\{\mathcal{C}-,\bar{\mathcal{C}}^{\star},-\}}^{(1|1)}(|g_{s}| e^{i0^{-}}) =$$

$$= \mathcal{Z}_{\{\mathcal{C}+-\mathcal{C}-,\bar{\mathcal{C}}^{\star},-\}}^{(1|1)}(|g_{s}| e^{i0^{-}}) + \mathcal{Z}_{\{\mathcal{C}+-\mathcal{C}-,-\bar{\mathcal{C}}-\}}^{(1|1)}(|g_{s}| e^{i0^{-}}) + \mathcal{Z}_{\{\mathcal{C}-,-\bar{\mathcal{C}}-\}}^{(1|1)}(|g_{s}| e^{i0^{-}}) =$$

$$= \mathcal{Z}_{\{\mathcal{C}+-\mathcal{C}-,\bar{\mathcal{C}}^{\star},-\}}^{(1|1)}(|g_{s}| e^{i0^{-}}) + \cdots .$$
(3.41)

In the last line we dropped the aforementioned terms associated to additive free-energy constants and we refer the reader to appendix **B** for further details on this.

In principle we would now like to repeat the deformation of contours in (3.28) and write  $C^+ - C^- = C^*$ . But due to the pole in (3.39) when eigenvalues and anti-eigenvalues meet, this alone cannot be the case—clearly, if we are to make sense of this integral the double pole in the integrand must be tackled. Instead, on top of the nonperturbative contour  $C^*$ , we also find an additional closed contour  $C_{\rm res}$  which is picking-up pole contributions in-between the endpoint of the cut and the nonperturbative saddle. This crossing of the eigenvalue contour  $C^+$  through the anti-eigenvalue contour  $\bar{C}^*$  at a forward Stokes transition is also illustrated in figures 15, 16, and 17. In our favorite example, this deformation of contours finally amounts to

where the dots again stand for the dropped additive contributions—and because we henceforth only focus on physical contributions, we also drop such dots from now on. The final contour is then exactly the contour shown in figure 17. We may then finally "abbreviate" (3.41) as

$$\operatorname{Disc}_{ \mathcal{C}, \bar{\mathcal{C}}^{\star} }^{(1|1)}(g_{s}) = \mathcal{Z}_{\{\mathcal{C}^{+}, \bar{\mathcal{C}}^{\star} \}}^{(1|1)}(|g_{s}| \operatorname{e}^{\operatorname{i}0^{+}}) - \mathcal{Z}_{\{\mathcal{C}^{-}, \bar{\mathcal{C}}^{\star} \}}^{(1|1)}(|g_{s}| \operatorname{e}^{\operatorname{i}0^{-}}) = \mathcal{Z}_{\{\mathcal{C}_{\operatorname{res}} + \mathcal{C}^{\star}, \bar{\mathcal{C}}^{\star} \}}^{(1|1)}(|g_{s}| \operatorname{e}^{\operatorname{i}0^{-}}).$$
(3.43)

More details on these types of integration contours may be found in appendices A and B.

The exact same contour deformations go through for any number of eigenvalues in the presence of anti-eigenvalues. In this way, as long as one carefully keeps track of all additional

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>The factor of 2 arises from the fact that the quartic example has 2 symmetric saddle points. In the setting of a single nonperturbative saddle such factor would be absent, and, as such, we shall drop it in the ensuing discussion. But, depending on the example in question, one may have to carefully take such symmetry factors into account.



Figure 17: Integration contours associated with anti-eigenvalue tunneling (drawn on top of figure 10). We have two perturbative contours  $C^+$  and  $C^-$  which, for  $\epsilon \to 0$ , get deformed into the nonperturbative saddle-point contour  $C^*$ . But in the presence of an anti-eigenvalue a novelty appears: we pick-up an additional residue contribution  $C_{\text{res}}$  when deforming the contours  $C^+$  and  $C^-$  past the anti-eigenvalue contour, due to the poles in the integral (3.39).

residue closed contours, eigenvalue-tunneling calculations go through. Consider the  $(\ell|1)$  sectors appearing in

$$\text{Disc}_{0} \mathcal{Z}^{(0|1)}(g_{\rm s}) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{Z}^{(\ell|1)}(g_{\rm s}), \tag{3.44}$$

whose matrix integral representation is in (3.20), but which still lacked full specification of the relevant integration contours. The fully precise matrix integral (3.20) is now just:

$$\mathcal{Z}^{(\ell|1)} \equiv \binom{N+1}{\ell} \mathcal{Z}_{\{\underbrace{\mathcal{C}_{\mathrm{res}} + \mathcal{C}^{\star}, \dots, \mathcal{C}_{\mathrm{res}} + C^{\star}\}}_{\ell}, \bar{\mathcal{C}}^{\star}\}}.$$
(3.45)

For illustration, these integration contours in the quartic matrix model example are

$$\underbrace{\overbrace{\ell}}_{\ell} \cdots \underbrace{\overbrace{\ell}}_{N-\ell+1} \underbrace{\overbrace{\ell}}_{N-\ell+1} \overbrace{\ell}_{N-\ell+1} (3.46)$$

alongside the required residue-contour deformations of figure 17.

Let us go back to figure 14 and address the full rotation depicted therein. This implies applying a forward transition at  $\theta = 0$  on top of the backwards one at  $\theta = \pi$ . Within the resurgence framework, this translates to (iteration of (3.25) and (3.34))

$$\operatorname{Disc}_{0}\operatorname{Disc}_{\pi} Z^{(0,0)}(t) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\bar{\ell}=1}^{\infty} e^{\left(\bar{\ell}-\ell\right)\frac{A}{g_{s}}} \sum_{p=0}^{\min(\ell,\ell)} \mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(0,\bar{\ell})} \,\mathsf{S}_{(0,\bar{\ell})\to(\ell-p,\bar{\ell}-p)} \, Z^{(\ell-p,\bar{\ell}-p)}(t).$$
(3.47)

Proceeding step-by-step as usual, first focus on the  $\bar{\ell} = 1$  contribution. If our previous matrixintegral arguments hold, this should now establish a relation between resurgence and matrixintegral discontinuities, *i.e.*, we should be able to identify their respective terms one-by-one as (compare with (3.33))

$$e^{-(\ell-1)\frac{A}{g_{s}}} \sum_{p=0}^{\min(\ell,1)} \mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(0,1)} \,\mathsf{S}_{(0,1)\to(\ell-p,1-p)} \,\frac{Z^{(\ell-p,1-p)}(t,g_{s})}{Z^{(0,0)}(t,g_{s})} \simeq \frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(\ell|1)}(t,g_{s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{s})}.$$
(3.48)

This makes precise how *anti-eigenvalue* tunneling now yields the resurgence of the *full* transseries. In fact, this expression is taking us *inside* the resurgence lattice, as in figure 14. There is, however, a price to pay: the additional *p*-sum over the resonant kernel (originating from the resurgence discontinuity (3.47)). This implies our (anti) eigenvalue configurations no longer are in one-to-one correspondence with resurgent transseries sectors—but only with their resonant kernels. This is exactly the phenomenon which was anticipated in figure 9. Finally, as in (3.33), this expression yields a comparison of partition-function *ratios*, *i.e.*, we are matching *free energies*.

All we have left to do is to generalize the above formulae for any (anti) eigenvalue configuration. The procedure is exactly the same as described above. Pure anti-eigenvalue tunneling is described by our generic matrix integral (3.10) specialized to the  $(0|\bar{\ell})$  backward sector and where we still need<sup>19</sup> to specify the anti-eigenvalue integration contours. These go through the nonperturbative saddle  $x^*$ ; so that the fully precise  $(0|\bar{\ell})$  matrix integral (3.10) is now:

$$\mathcal{Z}^{(0|\bar{\ell})} \equiv \mathcal{Z}^{(0|\bar{\ell})}_{\{\underbrace{\bar{\mathcal{C}}^{\star},\dots,\bar{\mathcal{C}}^{\star}}_{\bar{\ell}}\}}.$$
(3.49)

In complete analogy with the pure eigenvalue-tunneling case in (3.33), we now find the bridge between resurgence and matrix-integrals to be

$$e^{\bar{\ell}\frac{A}{g_{\rm s}}} \mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(0,\bar{\ell})} \frac{Z^{(0,\ell)}(t,g_{\rm s})}{Z^{(0,0)}(t,g_{\rm s})} \simeq \frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|\ell)}(t,g_{\rm s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})}.$$
(3.50)

Enter the bulk of the resurgence lattice following the full motion in figure 14 and undergoing the remaining forward Stokes transition. Comparing exponential orders we arrive at the general result (compare with (3.48) above)

$$e^{-(\ell-\bar{\ell})\frac{A}{g_{s}}} \sum_{p=0}^{\min(\ell,\bar{\ell})} \mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(0,\bar{\ell})} \,\mathsf{S}_{(0,\bar{\ell})\to(\ell-p,\bar{\ell}-p)} \,\frac{Z^{(\ell-p,\bar{\ell}-p)}(t,g_{s})}{Z^{(0,0)}(t,g_{s})} \simeq \frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(\ell|\bar{\ell})}(t,g_{s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{s})}, \qquad \ell,\bar{\ell} \ge 1, \quad (3.51)$$

where the explicit matrix integral on the right-hand side is given by the precise specification of integration contours and combinatorial factors required in (3.10), which finally becomes:

$$\mathcal{Z}^{(\ell|\bar{\ell})} \equiv \binom{N+\bar{\ell}}{\ell} \mathcal{Z}_{\{\underbrace{\mathcal{C}_{\mathrm{res}}+\mathcal{C}^{\star},\dots,\mathcal{C}_{\mathrm{res}}+\mathcal{C}^{\star}}_{\ell},\underbrace{\bar{\mathcal{C}}^{\star},\dots,\bar{\mathcal{C}}^{\star}}_{\bar{\ell}}\}}^{N,\dots,\bar{\mathcal{C}}^{\star}}.$$
(3.52)

Some final comments are in order. As in (3.48), also (3.51) makes clear that (anti) eigenvalue configurations are related to resonant sums of transseries sectors. Our formulae directly compute Borel residues (hence, Stokes data) for these sectors. But an additional subtlety emerges: depending on the sequence of Stokes transitions one carries through in these iterative processes, different Borel residues (Stokes data) may appear associated to the very same transseries sectors. This is associated to the non-trivial nature of Borel plane singularities, and is captured by consistency conditions on higher Stokes data which we discuss in appendix C. Having set-up our matrix integrals in the previous subsection 3.2, and made precise which contours to integrate them over in the present subsection, we may now move towards explicit computations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>Note how in this pure anti-eigenvalue case the correct symmetry factor is already included in (3.10).

#### 3.4 On the Boundary of a Resonant Transseries

The natural place to begin our explicit calculations is on the boundary of the resurgence lattice illustrated back in figure 3. In other words, we begin by focusing on the simplest (anti) eigenvalue configurations,  $(\ell|0)$  and  $(0|\bar{\ell})$ . Both computations are immediate (given the literature).

Computing the "forward boundary" of the resurgence lattice has been done in many places via saddle-point methods, [30, 41, 90]. Such saddle-point evaluation of (3.52)-(3.10) for the  $(\ell|0)$  configuration yields, to first order in  $g_s$ ,

$$\frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(\ell|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})} = \frac{G_2\left(\ell+1\right)}{(2\pi)^{\ell/2}} \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{\ell}{g_{\rm s}}\left(V_{\rm eff}(x^\star) - V_{\rm eff}(b)\right)} \left(\frac{g_{\rm s}\left(b-a\right)^2}{16V_{\rm eff}''(x^\star)}\right)^{\frac{\ell^2}{2}} \frac{1}{\left(\left(x^\star - a\right)\left(x^\star - b\right)\right)^{\ell^2}}.\tag{3.53}$$

Hopefully by now, it should be clear to the reader that the computation for the "backward boundary" is completely analogous to the one above (and we shall henceforth give no details). Consider again (3.52)-(3.10) but now for the  $(0|\bar{\ell})$  configuration, and perform its saddle-point evaluation to first order in  $g_s$ . We find

$$\frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|\bar{\ell})}(t,g_{\rm s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})} = \frac{G_2\left(\bar{\ell}+1\right)}{(2\pi)^{\bar{\ell}/2}} \,\mathrm{e}^{\frac{\bar{\ell}}{g_{\rm s}}\left(V_{\rm eff}(x^\star)-V_{\rm eff}(b)\right)} \left(-\frac{g_{\rm s}\left(b-a\right)^2}{16V_{\rm eff}''(x^\star)}\right)^{\frac{\ell^2}{2}} \frac{1}{\left(\left(x^\star-a\right)\left(x^\star-b\right)\right)^{\bar{\ell}^2}}.$$
 (3.54)

Unsurprisingly, forward and backward results are extremely similar. Up to signs they are in fact related, which is a common feature occurring in resonant problems and is sometimes dubbed a backward-forward relation [31]. The instanton actions in the arguments of the transmonomials have changed sign, just as expected in accordance with (3.33) and (3.50). These formulae further imply that the above expressions should be computing Stokes data, and in fact they are. They immediately compute the forward and backward Borel residues in (2.16), which is to say they yield analytical expressions for the two Stokes vectors

$$S_{(1,0)}$$
 and  $S_{(0,1)}$ . (3.55)

The first one is the usually well-known "canonical" Stokes coefficient; for instance computed from matrix models for Painlevé I in, e.g., [4, 30]. The second one is its backward sibling.

# 3.5 In the Bulk of a Resonant Transseries

As we finally venture inside the resurgence lattice (recall figure 3) the difficulty of calculations quickly escalates. In this subsection we focus on the first such non-trivial "bulk" sector one needs to face, which is the (1|1) sector. As we have already discussed at length, in this sector one has to deal with residue contours (3.52)—which prevent us from performing a direct saddle-point evaluation. We will find a way to circumvent this problem by considering derivatives with respect to  $g_s$  of the integrals in question. Before diving into such direct calculation, it is useful to take a step back and consider a toy example.

**A Toy Example:** Let us consider the following toy integral

$$\mathcal{I} = \operatorname{PV}_{\mathcal{C}} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{2\pi} \operatorname{PV}_{\bar{\mathcal{C}}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{x}}{2\pi} \frac{1}{(x-\bar{x})^2} e^{-\frac{1}{g_{\mathrm{s}}}(V(x)-V(\bar{x}))}, \qquad (3.56)$$

where V(x) is a polynomial potential with a saddle-point  $x^*$ , C its associated steepest-descent, and  $\overline{C}$  its associated steepest-ascent contours. The principle-value prescription is as always defined

in (2.36), where we recall that C and  $\overline{C}$  are parameterized by  $x(\tau)$  and  $\overline{x}(\overline{\tau})$ , respectively, such that  $x(0) = x^* = \overline{x}(0)$ . To better understand this toy-integral let us try to perform a naïve saddle-point evaluation, and see how it fails. Set  $(\tau, \overline{\tau}) = (\sqrt{g_s} s, \sqrt{g_s} \overline{s})$  and expand its integrand in  $g_s$ . For the singular term, we have the expansion (recall  $x(0) - \overline{x}(0) = 0$ )

$$\frac{1}{\left(x(\sqrt{g_{\rm s}}\,s) - \bar{x}(\sqrt{g_{\rm s}}\,\bar{s})\right)^2} = \frac{1}{g_{\rm s}\left(x'(0)\,s - \bar{x}'(0)\,\bar{s}\right)^2} - \frac{x''(0)\,s^2 + \bar{x}''(0)\,\bar{s}^2}{\sqrt{g_{\rm s}}\left(x'(0)\,s - \bar{x}'(0)\,\bar{s}\right)^3} + \frac{(\cdots)}{\left(x'(0)\,s - \bar{x}'(0)\,\bar{s}\right)^4} + \cdots$$
(3.57)

which, for  $s = \bar{s} = 0$ , produces ever higher-order poles for higher  $g_s$  orders. As such, blind saddle-point does not result in a sensible  $g_s$ -expansion, and we must resort to another procedure.

It is not too hard to realize that taking adequate  $g_{\rm s}$ -derivatives of  $\mathcal{I} \equiv \mathcal{I}(g_{\rm s})$  can kill the singularity in the integrand. In particular, the integral<sup>20</sup>  $\partial_{1/g_{\rm s}}^2 \mathcal{I}$  does not contain poles. We find

$$\partial_{1/g_{\rm s}}^2 \mathcal{I} = \operatorname{PV}_{\mathcal{L}} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{2\pi} \operatorname{PV}_{\bar{\mathcal{L}}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{x}}{2\pi} \left( \frac{V(x) - V(\bar{x})}{x - \bar{x}} \right)^2 \mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}}(V(x) - V(\bar{x}))}.$$
(3.58)

Now that the integrand is no longer singular, standard saddle-point evaluation follows as usual. The one thing left to do, however, is to revert the  $g_s$ -derivatives with their appropriate primitives, in order to find the final answer. But it first seems there is no way to fix the resulting integration constants. This conundrum may be solved by recasting the above derivative-procedure as an exchange in the order of integrations. This is done as follows. First write

$$e^{-\frac{1}{g_{s}}(V(x)-V(\bar{x}))} = \int_{1}^{+\infty} du \int_{u}^{+\infty} dv \frac{1}{g_{s}^{2}} \left(V(x)-V(\bar{x})\right)^{2} e^{-\frac{v}{g_{s}}(V(x)-V(\bar{x}))}.$$
 (3.59)

These integrals are well defined along  $x \in C$  and  $\bar{x} \in \bar{C}$ , except for the point  $x = \bar{x} = x^*$ —where the principal-value prescription (2.36) comes to our rescue. Then we can write

$$\mathcal{I} = \operatorname{PV}_{\mathcal{C}} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{2\pi} \operatorname{PV}_{\bar{\mathcal{C}}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{x}}{2\pi} \int_{1}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}u \int_{u}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}v \, \frac{1}{g_{\mathrm{s}}^{2}} \left(\frac{V(x) - V(\bar{x})}{x - \bar{x}}\right)^{2} \mathrm{e}^{-\frac{v}{g_{\mathrm{s}}}(V(x) - V(\bar{x}))}.$$
(3.60)

In this way the above derivative-procedure comes down to an exchange of integrations: the x and  $\bar{x}$  principal-value integrals with the u and v ordinary integrals. This is by no means a straightforward process. For instance, spelling out the principal-value prescription in (2.36) we see that on top of exchanging ordinary integrals we also need to exchange the integrals in (3.59) with the  $\epsilon \to 0$  limit—which unsurprisingly requires a notion of uniform convergence of the integrand. A detailed discussion on this subtlety may be found in appendix A. After changing the order of integrations, one is left with the evaluation of

$$\mathcal{I} = \int_{1}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}u \int_{u}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}v \int_{\mathcal{C}} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{2\pi} \int_{\bar{\mathcal{C}}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{x}}{2\pi} \frac{1}{g_{\mathrm{s}}^{2}} \left(\frac{V(x) - V(\bar{x})}{x - \bar{x}}\right)^{2} \mathrm{e}^{-\frac{v}{g_{\mathrm{s}}}(V(x) - V(\bar{x}))}, \tag{3.61}$$

where we no longer need to use the principle-value prescription. Then, using the example of a quartic potential  $V(x) = \frac{1}{2}x^2 - \frac{\lambda}{24}x^4$  and making use of standard saddle-point, we find to leading order in  $g_s$ 

$$\mathcal{I} = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^2} \int_1^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}u \int_u^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}v \left(\frac{\mathrm{i}\pi\lambda}{12v^3} g_\mathrm{s} + o(g_\mathrm{s}^2)\right). \tag{3.62}$$

 $<sup>^{20}</sup>$ In ordinary supermatrix models, a similar observation evaluates integrals over (1, 1) supermatrices [77].

Performing the final double-integration yields the unambiguous result

$$\mathcal{I} = \frac{\mathrm{i}\lambda}{96\pi} g_{\mathrm{s}} + o(g_{\mathrm{s}}^2). \tag{3.63}$$

Further details alongside a numerical exposition of this integral may be found in appendix A. Let us next use this derivative-method to evaluate our matrix-integral (1|1) eigenvalue configuration.

The (1|1) Eigenvalue Sector: Using our general proposal (3.52)-(3.10) with  $(\ell | \bar{\ell}) = (1|1)$  leads to the following integral:

$$\frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(1|1)}(t,g_{\rm s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})} = \operatorname{PV}\!\!\int_{\mathcal{C}_{\rm res}+\mathcal{C}^{\star}} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{2\pi} \operatorname{PV}\!\!\int_{\bar{\mathcal{C}}^{\star}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{x}}{2\pi} \frac{1}{(x-\bar{x})^2} \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}}(V(x)-V(\bar{x}))} \left\langle \frac{\det(x-M)^2}{\det(\bar{x}-M)^2} \right\rangle_N, \quad (3.64)$$

where the integration contours  $C_{\text{res}}$ ,  $\bar{C}^{\star}$ ,  $\bar{C}^{\star}$  are the familiar ones in figure 17. What our "bridge" between matrix integrals and transseries sectors in (3.51) says is that the above integral is computing the following free-energy transseries sectors<sup>21</sup>

$$S_{(0,0)\to(0,1)} S_{(0,1)\to(1,1)} \frac{Z^{(1,1)}(t,g_{s})}{Z^{(0,0)}(t,g_{s})} =$$

$$= S_{(0,0)\to(0,1)} S_{(0,1)\to(1,1)} \left\{ F^{(1,1)}(t,g_{s}) + F^{(1,0)}(t,g_{s}) F^{(0,1)}(t,g_{s}) \right\}.$$
(3.65)

Let us evaluate this integral, (3.64). First, spell out the first few  $g_s$ -orders of the determinantcorrelator in the integrand

$$e^{-\frac{1}{g_{s}}(V(x)-V(\bar{x}))} \left\langle \frac{\det(x-M)^{2}}{\det(\bar{x}-M)^{2}} \right\rangle_{N} = e^{-\frac{1}{g_{s}}(V_{h;eff}(x)-V_{h;eff}(\bar{x}))} \exp\left\{ \mathcal{A}_{0}(x,\bar{x}) + g_{s} \mathcal{A}_{1}(x,\bar{x}) + \cdots \right\},$$
(3.66)

where  $\mathcal{A}_0(x, \bar{x})$  and  $\mathcal{A}_1(x, \bar{x})$  are given by the adequate combinations which follow in comparison to (3.8) and were explicitly given in [30]. We start with the residue contribution, before addressing the saddle-point evaluation (following the previous example (3.56)). There only is such a residue contribution when  $\bar{x}$  is inside the closed contour  $\mathcal{C}_{res}$ ; in which case we can drop the principal-value prescription and calculate<sup>22</sup>

.

$$\int_{\mathcal{C}_{\rm res}} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{2\pi} \int_{\bar{\mathcal{C}}^{\star}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{x}}{2\pi} \frac{1}{(x-\bar{x})^2} e^{-\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}}(V(x)-V(\bar{x}))} \left\langle \frac{\det(x-M)^2}{\det(\bar{x}-M)^2} \right\rangle_N = \\
= \int_b^{x^{\star}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{x}}{2\pi} \int_{\mathcal{C}_{\rm res}} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{2\pi} \frac{1}{(x-\bar{x})^2} e^{-\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}}(V_{\rm h;eff}(x)-V_{\rm h;eff}(\bar{x}))} e^{\mathcal{A}_0(x,\bar{x})} \left(1+g_{\rm s}\,\mathcal{A}_1(x,\bar{x})+\cdots\right) = \\
= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^2} \int_b^{x^{\star}} \mathrm{d}\bar{x}\,2\pi \mathrm{i}\left(\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}}\,\partial_{\bar{x}}V_{\rm h;eff}(\bar{x})+0-g_{\rm s}\,\partial_x\mathcal{A}_1(x,\bar{x})|_{x=\bar{x}}+\cdots\right) = \\
= \frac{1}{g_{\rm s}}\,\frac{\mathrm{i}}{2\pi}\left(V_{\rm h;eff}(x^{\star})-V_{\rm h;eff}(b)\right) - g_{\rm s}\,\frac{\mathrm{i}}{2\pi}\int_b^{x^{\star}} \mathrm{d}\bar{x}\,\partial_x\mathcal{A}_1(x,\bar{x})|_{x=\bar{x}}+\cdots. \tag{3.67}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>The reader may want to recall that  $S_{(0,1)\to(0,0)} = 0$  [29, 31].

 $<sup>^{22}\</sup>mathrm{Recall}$  that correlators and their integrals vanish at the endpoints of the cut.

Having established the residue contribution, let us move to the saddle-point contour. In order to use the derivative-method outlined above it is useful to consider the integral

$$\int_{\mathcal{C}^{\star}} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{2\pi} \int_{\bar{\mathcal{C}}^{\star}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{x}}{2\pi} \frac{1}{\left(x-\bar{x}\right)^2} \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{v}{g_{\mathrm{s}}}\left(V_{\mathrm{h;eff}}(x)-V_{\mathrm{h;eff}}(\bar{x})\right)} \,\mathrm{e}^{\mathcal{A}_0(x,\bar{x})} \left(1+g_{\mathrm{s}}\,\mathcal{A}_1(x,\bar{x})+\cdots\right) \tag{3.68}$$

where we have introduced the additional parameter v which places us in the earlier framework of our toy example. When v = 1 we recover our saddle-point integral. Now, applying the derivativemethod in v is straightforward, essentially following the steps in the toy-example, and yields to leading order in  $g_s$ 

$$-g_{\rm s} \frac{\rm i}{48\pi} \frac{1}{V_{\rm h;eff}^{\prime\prime}(x^{\star})^3} \left( \left( V_{\rm h;eff}^{(3)}(x^{\star}) \right)^2 - V_{\rm h;eff}^{\prime\prime}(x^{\star}) V_{\rm h;eff}^{(4)}(x^{\star}) + 3V_{\rm h;eff}^{\prime\prime}(x^{\star})^2 \frac{(b-a)^2}{(a-x^{\star})^2 (b-x^{\star})^2} \right),$$
(3.69)

where we have already set v = 1. Assembling the above residue and saddle-point contributions ensemble yields the general formula for the lowest three  $g_s$ -orders of the (1|1) (anti) eigenvalue configuration at the  $x^*$  nonperturbative saddle-point. This is purely written in terms of spectralcurve data as

$$\frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(1|1)}(t,g_{\rm s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})} \simeq \frac{1}{g_{\rm s}} \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2\pi} \left( V_{\rm h;eff}(x^{\star}) - V_{\rm h;eff}(b) \right) - g_{\rm s} \left\{ \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2\pi} \int_{b}^{x^{\star}} \mathrm{d}\bar{x} \,\partial_{x} \mathcal{A}_{1}(x,\bar{x})|_{x=\bar{x}} + \frac{\mathrm{i}}{48\pi} \frac{1}{V_{\rm h;eff}^{\prime\prime\prime}(x^{\star})^{3}} \times \left( \left( V_{\rm h;eff}^{(3)}(x^{\star}) \right)^{2} - V_{\rm h;eff}^{\prime\prime\prime}(x^{\star}) \,V_{\rm h;eff}^{(4)}(x^{\star}) + 3V_{\rm h;eff}^{\prime\prime\prime}(x^{\star})^{2} \frac{(b-a)^{2}}{(a-x^{\star})^{2} (b-x^{\star})^{2}} \right) \right\} + o(g_{\rm s}^{2}).$$

$$(3.70)$$

This result computes the first few  $g_s$ -orders of the free-energy resurgent-transseries, according to (3.65), for arbitrary one-cut matrix models. It predicts a negative starting-power in  $g_s$ , which is a known feature in the (1, 1) sector of matrix-model transseries [23]. It also makes very explicit how it is possible to calculate nonperturbative contributions in the "bulk" of the resurgence lattice using our methods. Herein we focused on the first three terms in the  $g_s$ -expansion. Of course our methods work to arbitrary order, albeit computations quickly become very intricate.

#### 3.6 The Interplay Between Resonance and Logarithms

Having established an accesible "bulk" contribution, it is now time to move to a more complicated one. One of the main features in resonant transseries for matrix models and their double-scaling limits is that they contain logarithms (recall (2.7) and (2.8)); see [22-25, 31]. Let us now see how to compute such logarithmic contributions with our methods. The first such contribution will appear with the (2|1) (anti) eigenvalue configuration. Motivated by our "bridge" (3.48), this configuration is described by<sup>23</sup>

$$e^{-\frac{A}{g_{s}}} \mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(0,1)} \mathsf{S}_{(0,1)\to(1,1)} \left( \mathsf{S}_{(1,1)\to(2,1)} \frac{Z^{(2,1)}(t,g_{s})}{Z^{(0,0)}(t,g_{s})} + \mathsf{S}_{(1,1)\to(1,0)} \frac{Z^{(1,0)}(t,g_{s})}{Z^{(0,0)}(t,g_{s})} \right) \simeq 2 \frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(2|1)}(t,g_{s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{s})},$$
(3.71)

 $<sup>^{23}</sup>$ There is actually a subtlety herein as we are not directly using (3.48); rather just implementing the relation it conveys. There are "three-steps" resurgence motions on the left-hand side and a factor of 2 on the right-hand side. This is explained in appendix C, in particular formula (C.2), and they arise from the different possible paths on the resurgence lattice and the symmetry factors associated to (anti) eigenvalue tunneling.

where we have considered the case where we walked in single-steps on the resurgence lattice of transseries sectors (see appendix C). On top of the resonant sum, another novelty appears in this formula: this is the Borel residue  $S_{(1,1)\to(1,0)}$  which is associated to a rather non-trivial Stokes coefficient [31]. Note how it comes attached to the (1,0) transseries sector, not (2,1) as one could have expected—it sits *inside* the resonant sum. This resonant contribution is in fact the one of greatest<sup>24</sup> interest: not only it comes with this non-trivial Borel residue but it further fixes the logarithmic contributions in the transseries as in (2.8). Let us try to understand this better.

First, we need to extract the contribution of the (2,1)[0] sector from (3.71), in order to isolate the resonant contribution. Following (2.8), the full (2,1) sector is given by

$$Z^{(2,1)}(t,g_{\rm s}) = Z^{(2,1)[0]}(t,g_{\rm s}) + Z^{(2,1)[1]}(t,g_{\rm s}) \log \frac{f(t)}{g_{\rm s}^2} =$$
(3.72)

$$= Z^{(2,1)[0]}(t,g_{\rm s}) + \alpha Z^{(1,0)}(t,g_{\rm s}) \log \frac{f(t)}{g_{\rm s}^2}, \qquad (3.73)$$

where from the first to the second line we used (2.10). Furthermore up to order  $\sqrt{g_s}$ , the (2,1)[0]-sector in the partition function factorizes into (1,1) and (1,0) sectors as

$$Z^{(2,1)[0]}(t,g_{\rm s}) = Z^{(1,0)}(t,g_{\rm s}) Z^{(1,1)}(t,g_{\rm s}) + o(g_{\rm s}^{3/2}).$$
(3.74)

Then, using this decomposition in (3.73), and further using (3.33) and (3.51), it is possible to finally isolate the resonant contribution of (3.71) in the new "bridge" relation

$$e^{-\frac{A}{g_{s}}} \mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(0,1)} \mathsf{S}_{(0,1)\to(1,1)} \left( \mathsf{S}_{(1,1)\to(1,0)} + \mathsf{S}_{(1,1)\to(2,1)} \alpha \log \frac{f(t)}{g_{s}^{2}} \right) \frac{Z^{(1,0)}(t,g_{s})}{Z^{(0,0)}(t,g_{s})} + o(g_{s}^{3/2}) \simeq \simeq 2 \frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(2|1)}(t,g_{s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{s})} - 2 \frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(1|0)}(t,g_{s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{s})} \frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(1|1)}(t,g_{s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{s})}.$$
(3.75)

Notice how  $\mathcal{Z}^{(1|0)}(t, g_s)$  and  $\mathcal{Z}^{(1|1)}(t, g_s)$  appear in the right-hand side canceling the not-sointeresting contributions associated to  $Z^{(2,1)[0]}(t, g_s)$ . These are also known expressions by now, as they were calculated in subsections 3.4 and 3.5. Let us tackle relation (3.75).

To obtain a direct matrix-integral computation of (3.75) our first concern is with the evaluation of  $\mathcal{Z}^{(2|1)}(t, g_s)$ . Using our general proposal (3.52)-(3.10) with  $(\ell|\bar{\ell}) = (2|1)$  leads to

$$\mathcal{Z}^{(2|1)}(t,g_{\rm s}) = \frac{1}{2} \, \mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t-g_{\rm s},g_{\rm s}) \, \mathrm{PV} \! \int_{\mathcal{C}_{\rm res}+\mathcal{C}^{\star}} \frac{\mathrm{d}x_1}{2\pi} \, \mathrm{PV} \! \int_{\mathcal{C}_{\rm res}+\mathcal{C}^{\star}} \frac{\mathrm{d}x_2}{2\pi} \, \mathrm{PV} \! \int_{\bar{\mathcal{C}}^{\star}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{x}}{2\pi} \times \qquad (3.76)$$

$$\times \, \frac{(x_1-x_2)^2}{(x_1-\bar{x})^2 \, (x_2-\bar{x})^2} \, \mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}}(V(x_1)+V(x_2)-V(\bar{x}))} \left\langle \frac{\det(x_1-M)^2 \det(x_2-M)^2}{\det(\bar{x}-M)^2} \right\rangle_{N-1}.$$

The actual evaluation of this integral is quite lengthy but we shall nevertheless give a few details. Start by using partial-fraction decomposition to simplify the poles involved; via

$$\frac{(x_1 - x_2)^2}{(x_1 - \bar{x})^2 (x_2 - \bar{x})^2} = \frac{1}{(x_1 - \bar{x})^2} + \frac{1}{(x_2 - \bar{x})^2} - \frac{2}{(x_1 - \bar{x}) (x_2 - \bar{x})}.$$
(3.77)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>The non-resonant (2,1)[0] contribution (the reader may want to recall (2.8)), up to  $\sqrt{g_s}$  order, turns out to be just the product of the previously calculated (1,0) and (1,1) contributions. In this sense, whilst it is a check on the validity of the transseries structure, it contains no real new information.

By linearity this splits (3.76) into three parts. The first two are simply related by symmetry, and may moreover be directly evaluated using the precise same methods as those outlined in the previous subsection 3.5. We shall henceforth merely state the result (where it is convenient to also include the additional terms associated with  $\mathcal{Z}^{(1|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})$  and  $\mathcal{Z}^{(1|1)}(t,g_{\rm s})$ ). Up to and including  $\sqrt{g_{\rm s}}$ -order we find

$$-\frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(1|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})}\frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(1|1)}(t,g_{\rm s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t-g_{\rm s},g_{\rm s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})} \operatorname{PV} \int_{\mathcal{C}_{\rm res}+\mathcal{C}^{\star}} \frac{\mathrm{d}x_{1}}{2\pi} \operatorname{PV} \int_{\mathcal{C}_{\rm res}+\mathcal{C}^{\star}} \frac{\mathrm{d}x_{2}}{2\pi} \operatorname{PV} \int_{\bar{\mathcal{C}}^{\star}} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{2\pi} \times \frac{2}{(x_{1}-\bar{x})^{2}} \operatorname{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}}(V(x_{1})+V(x_{2})-V(\bar{x}))} \left\langle \frac{\det(x_{1}-M)^{2} \det(x_{2}-M)^{2}}{\det(\bar{x}-M)^{2}} \right\rangle_{N-1} \simeq \frac{\mathrm{i}}{8\pi^{2}} (b-a) \sqrt{\frac{2\pi g_{\rm s}}{V_{\rm h;eff}'(x^{\star})}} \operatorname{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}}V_{\rm h;eff}(x^{\star})} \frac{2\log\left(\frac{4(a-x^{\star})}{a-b}\right)}{(x^{\star}-a)(x^{\star}-b)} + o(g_{\rm s}^{3/2}).$$
(3.78)

Having dealt with the first two terms let us now turn our attention to the last term of (3.77). Specifically, we want to compute (3.76) with the following integrand replacement

$$\frac{(x_1 - x_2)^2}{(x_1 - \bar{x})^2 (x_2 - \bar{x})^2} \quad \mapsto \quad -\frac{2}{(x_1 - \bar{x}) (x_2 - \bar{x})}.$$
(3.79)

It makes sense to use linearity of the integral and separately consider the different combinations of integration contours. There are the following three distinct contributions:

• Start with the configuration  $x_1 \in C_{\text{res}}$ ,  $x_2 \in C^*$ ,  $\bar{x} \in \bar{C}^*$  (which comes with an attached symmetry factor of 2). The  $x_1$  residue contribution is straightforward to evaluate. The ensuing  $\bar{x}$  integral is then direct, and one arrives at

$$\frac{\mathrm{i}}{2\pi^2} \int_{\mathcal{C}^\star} \mathrm{d}x_2 \, \frac{\log\left(\frac{x_2 - x^\star}{x_2 - b}\right)}{(x_2 - a) \, (x_2 - b)} \, \mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_\mathrm{s}} V_{\mathrm{h;eff}}(x_2)}.$$
(3.80)

After an adequate change of variables,  $x_2 = x^* + \sqrt{\frac{2g_s}{V_{h;eff}'(x^*)}}\tau$ , this becomes a simple saddlepoint evaluation with a good  $g_s$  expansion after integration. The final result reads

$$\frac{\mathrm{i}}{2\pi^2} \sqrt{\frac{2\pi g_{\mathrm{s}}}{V_{\mathrm{h;eff}}''(x^\star)}} \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\mathrm{s}}}V_{\mathrm{h;eff}}(x^\star)}}{(x^\star - a)(x^\star - b)} \left\{ \gamma_{\mathrm{E}} + \log\left(-\frac{2V_{\mathrm{h;eff}}''(x^\star)(x^\star - b)^2}{g_{\mathrm{s}}}\right) \right\} + o(g_{\mathrm{s}}^{3/2}), \quad (3.81)$$

where  $\gamma_{\rm E}$  denotes the Euler–Mascheroni constant  $\gamma_{\rm E} \approx 0.5772156649...$  (which played a featuring role in the Stokes data of [31]).

• Next, there is a pure saddle-point configuration  $x_1 \in \mathcal{C}^*$ ,  $x_2 \in \mathcal{C}^*$ ,  $\bar{x} \in \bar{\mathcal{C}}^*$ . This contribution is dealt with using the same derivative-method as in subsection 3.5, except for an additional subtlety we must tackle: instead of a single pole, we now have to deal with *two* poles, located at  $x_1 = \bar{x}$  and  $x_2 = \bar{x}$ . To understand how to deal with these, first recall that we introduced the derivative-method as the naïve expansion of a pole-factor (arising from an eigenvalue-anti-eigenvalue "collision") in the integrand was producing ever higher order poles and thus destroying the  $g_s$ -expansion; recall (3.57). What we now observe is that a similar expansion in-between two eigenvalues or two anti-eigenvalues does not suffer from this problem (again, compare with (3.57)):

$$\frac{1}{\left(x(\sqrt{g_{s}}\,s_{1}) - x(\sqrt{g_{s}}\,s_{2})\right)^{2}} = \frac{1}{g_{s}\,x'(0)^{2}\,(s_{1} - s_{2})^{2}} - \frac{x''(0)\,s_{1}^{2} + x''(0)\,s_{2}^{2}}{\sqrt{g_{s}}\,x'(0)^{3}\,(s_{1} - s_{2})^{2}} + \frac{(\cdots)}{x'(0)^{4}\,(s_{1} - s_{2})^{2}} + \cdots$$
(3.82)

Indeed we are not finding ever higher order poles. In addition we observe the identity

$$\frac{1}{\left(x_1 - \bar{x}\right)\left(x_2 - \bar{x}\right)} = \frac{1}{x_1 - x_2} \left(\frac{1}{x_2 - \bar{x}} - \frac{1}{x_1 - \bar{x}}\right),\tag{3.83}$$

which essentially reduces the number of would-be problematic eigenvalue–anti-eigenvalue poles of the form (3.57) from two to one. Using (3.83) and introducing a v parameter as in subsection 3.5 in order to perform the derivative-method which cancels the last problematic pole, we simply need to evaluate

$$\operatorname{PV}_{\mathcal{C}^{\star}} \frac{\mathrm{d}x_{1}}{2\pi} \operatorname{PV}_{\mathcal{C}^{\star}} \frac{\mathrm{d}x_{2}}{2\pi} \operatorname{PV}_{\bar{\mathcal{C}}^{\star}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{x}}{2\pi} \frac{-4}{(x_{1}-x_{2})(x_{2}-\bar{x})} \times \\
 \times \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{g_{\mathrm{s}}}\left(V_{\mathrm{h;eff}}(x_{1})+v\left\{V_{\mathrm{h;eff}}(x_{2})-V_{\mathrm{h;eff}}(\bar{x})\right\}\right)+\right. \\
 + \mathcal{A}_{0}(x_{1},x_{2},\bar{x})+\partial_{t}V_{\mathrm{h;eff}}(x_{1})+\partial_{t}V_{\mathrm{h;eff}}(x_{2})-\partial_{t}V_{\mathrm{h;eff}}(\bar{x})+\cdots\right\}.$$
(3.84)

Following the procedure in subsection 3.5, we arrive at the final result for this configuration

$$-\frac{\mathrm{i}}{2\pi^2} \sqrt{\frac{2\pi g_{\mathrm{s}}}{V_{\mathrm{h;eff}}''(x^{\star})}} \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\mathrm{s}}}V_{\mathrm{h;eff}}(x^{\star})} \frac{\log 2}{(x^{\star}-a) \,(x^{\star}-b)}.$$
(3.85)

• Finally, there is the "residue dominated" configuration  $x_1 \in C_{\text{res}}, x_2 \in C_{\text{res}}, \bar{x} \in \bar{\mathcal{C}}^*$ . The two residue calculations are straightforward, the remaining  $\bar{x}$  integral as well, and we find

$$\frac{2}{(2\pi)^3} \left(2\pi \mathrm{i}\right)^2 \sqrt{\frac{2\pi g_{\mathrm{s}}}{V_{\mathrm{h;eff}}''(x^\star)}} \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\mathrm{s}}}V_{\mathrm{h;eff}}(x^\star)} \frac{1}{(x^\star - a) \left(x^\star - b\right)}.\tag{3.86}$$

Interestingly, this term just rotates logarithms in the terms acquired above.

Having computed all integrations, one still needs to take into account the contribution arising from the pre-factor  $\mathcal{Z}^{(0,0)}$   $(t - g_s, g_s)$  in (3.76), which further requires a straightforward  $g_s$  powerseries expansion as explained in [30]. Once we gather every factor, the final result for the right-hand side of the "bridge" relation (3.75) is adequately written as

$$\frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(2|1)}(t,g_{\rm s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})} - \frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(1|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})} \frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(1|1)}(t,g_{\rm s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})} \simeq$$

$$\simeq \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2(2\pi)^2} \sqrt{\frac{2\pi g_{\rm s}}{V_{\rm h;eff}''(x^{\star})}} \frac{1}{(x^{\star}-a)(x^{\star}-b)} \frac{(b-a)}{4} \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}}\left(V_{\rm h;eff}(x^{\star})-V_{\rm h;eff}(b)\right)} \times$$
(3.87)

$$\times \left\{ 2\gamma_{\rm E} + \log\left(\frac{2^8}{g_{\rm s}^2} \frac{V_{\rm h; eff}''(x^\star)^2 (x^\star - a)^4 (x^\star - b)^4}{(a - b)^4}\right) \right\} + o(g_{\rm s}^{3/2}).$$

Plugging this result into (3.75) we then find

$$e^{-\frac{A}{g_{s}}} S_{(0,0)\to(0,1)} S_{(0,1)\to(1,1)} \left( S_{(1,1)\to(1,0)} + S_{(1,1)\to(2,1)} \alpha \log \frac{f(t)}{g_{s}^{2}} \right) \frac{Z^{(1,0)}(t,g_{s})}{Z^{(0,0)}(t,g_{s})} = \\ = e^{-\frac{A}{g_{s}}} S_{(0,0)\to(0,1)} S_{(0,1)\to(1,1)} \left( S_{(1,1)\to(1,0)} + S_{(1,1)\to(2,1)} \alpha \log \frac{f(t)}{g_{s}^{2}} \right) F^{(1,0)}(t,g_{s}) \simeq \\ \simeq \frac{i}{(2\pi)^{2}} \sqrt{\frac{2\pi g_{s}}{V_{h;eff}'(x^{\star})}} \frac{1}{(x^{\star}-a)(x^{\star}-b)} \frac{(b-a)}{4} e^{-\frac{1}{g_{s}}(V_{h;eff}(x^{\star})-V_{h;eff}(b))} \times \\ \times \left\{ 2\gamma_{E} + \log \left( \frac{2^{8}}{g_{s}^{2}} \frac{V_{h;eff}'(x^{\star})^{2}(x^{\star}-a)^{4}(x^{\star}-b)^{4}}{(a-b)^{4}} \right) \right\} + o(g_{s}^{3/2}).$$
(3.88)

Our final result is again written purely in terms of spectral-curve data, hence applicable to any one-cut hermitian matrix model. As such, it shows some *universal features*. One may always expect the appearance of the Euler–Mascheroni constant and logarithm contributions (which is certainly consistent with all resonant examples worked-out so far [22–25, 31]). In particular, the Euler–Mascheroni constant seems to be a general feature of the  $S_{(1,1)\to(1,0)}$  Borel residue, implying some degree of universality in the transcendental number content of matrix model Stokes data. In this way, one may wonder if more of the "Stokes numerology" unveiled in [31] will be manifest across different one-cut (and double-scaled) examples.

### 3.7 Resurgence, Transseries, and Their Stokes Data

Let us recapitulate what have we achieved so far. Using both eigenvalues and anti-eigenvalues, tunneled via their appropriate contours, we established clear bridges between transseries sectors, their Stokes data, and matrix integrals (subsections 3.2 and 3.3); which we then carefully illustrated by evaluating the matrix integrals associated to the examples of the  $(\ell|0)$ ,  $(0, \bar{\ell})$ , (1|1) and (2|1) (anti) eigenvalue configurations (subsections 3.4, 3.5 and 3.6). How can we obtain generic (n, m)-sectors of a resonant resurgent transseries of the form (2.7) using this approach?

Let us list our explicit results (summarized in figure 18). They read:

- We repeated the calculation in [30, 41, 90] of the leading- $g_s$  term in all purely forward contributions ( $\ell | 0$ ), resulting in formula (3.53). This calculation further confirms the already analytically-known Stokes vector  $S_{(1,0)}$ .
- We have extended this result to all (leading- $g_s$ ) purely backward contributions  $(0|\bar{\ell})$  in equation (3.54), which yields the (also already analytically-known) Stokes vector  $S_{(0,1)}$ .
- Moving into the "bulk" of the resurgence lattice, we have computed the first 3 terms in the  $g_s$ -expansion of the (1|1) configuration in formula (3.70). This both illustrates how we are not restricted to purely eigenvalue or anti-eigenvalue configurations, and how our methods are not restricted to leading  $g_s$  order.
- We calculated the (2|1) configuration up to  $\sqrt{g_s}$  order in formula (3.88). From this result we are able to extract the Stokes vector  $S_{(0,-1)}$ , with non-trivial number content. In addition, this result reveals the nature of the logarithmic structures in the underlying transseries.



Figure 18: Transseries contributions which we have calculated using formulae obtained throughout section 3. On the left-column we plot the lattice of transseries sectors (as in figure 3) and in the right-column we plot the lattice of Stokes vectors (as in figure 4). The contributions we have explicitly computed are highlighted (albeit for Stokes data we highlight sectors in which they *first* appear, *i.e.*, the (1|1) contribution contains the already-known "trivial" Stokes but we have not specifically highlighted this).

• We can also compute a few other Stokes vectors, purely from consistency of eigenvalue tunneling with resurgence relations. This is illustrated in formula (C.6).

Note that computing higher  $g_s$  orders quickly becomes quite cumbersome, and so does disentangling the free-energy transseries out from these higher  $g_s$  orders in the partition-function transseries. The contributions we listed above were however both feasible and at the same time containing a lot of non-trivial information.

Nonetheless, carrying through our calculations for any (anti) eigenvalue configuration is algorithmical, no matter how convoluted, and there are no new ingredients on top of what we have already used. Let us quickly lay-down the general strategy to compute integrals of the form (3.52)-(3.10). The procedure is as follows.

- First evaluate residue integrals. When there are combinations of saddle-point and residue contours, first evaluate the residue integrals and then do the saddle-point calculations.
- Saddle-point calculations require that one first deals with the multitude of poles arising from the ratios of Vandermonde determinants in (3.10). One iteratively uses fractional

factorizations as (3.83) until the problem has been reduced to only one "problematic" pole.

• The final step requires handling the one last "problematic" pole. This can be done by making use of the derivative-method introduced in subsection 3.5, and then just performing the saddle-point evaluation.

Following this procedure, it should be possible—albeit increasingly cumbersome—to access all resonant nonperturbative contributions of our matrix-model resurgent transseries.

#### 4 Examples and Checks on the Proposal

Let us finally address a few very explicit examples of resurgent transseries, in the well-known cases of the cubic [41, 27] and quartic [10, 23, 59] matrix models, as well as in the case of the Painlevé I equation [30, 22, 27, 23, 31]. These examples will also serve as checks on our proposal, in particular by both matching against their resurgent-transseries data discussed in appendix D and against the non-trivial Stokes data recently obtained in [31].

# 4.1 The Cubic Matrix Model

Let us begin with the cubic hermitian matrix model, which is defined by (2.1) with potential

$$V_{\text{cubic}}(x) = \frac{1}{2}x^2 - \frac{\lambda}{6}x^3.$$
 (4.1)

This is the sole example in the present subsection, in which case we will drop "cubic" subscripts henceforth. The orthogonal-polynomial recursion-coefficients  $\{r_n\}$  for the cubic potential (4.1) satisfy the string equation [58, 54]

$$\frac{1}{2}r_n\left(\sqrt{1-\lambda^2 r_n - \lambda^2 r_{n-1}} + \sqrt{1-\lambda^2 r_n - \lambda^2 r_{n+1}}\right) = ng_s.$$
(4.2)

In the large N 't Hooft limit, the "continuous" recursion coefficients (2.4)  $r_n \mapsto R(t)$  satisfy the corresponding finite-difference equation<sup>25</sup>

$$\frac{1}{2}R(t)\left(\sqrt{1-\lambda^2 R(t) - \lambda^2 R(t-g_{\rm s})} + \sqrt{1-\lambda^2 R(t) - \lambda^2 R(t+g_{\rm s})}\right) = t.$$
(4.3)

This is a nonlinear equation which can be treated with resurgent asymptotic methods.

Both the solution to the above string-equation and its associated free energy (2.5) result in two-parameter, resonant, resurgent transseries of the form (2.7)-(2.8). They read:

$$R(t, g_{\rm s}; \sigma_1, \sigma_2) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sigma_1^n \sigma_2^m \,\mathrm{e}^{-(n-m)\frac{A(t)}{g_{\rm s}}} \,R^{(n,m)}(t, g_{\rm s}), \tag{4.4}$$

$$F(t, g_{\rm s}; \sigma_1, \sigma_2) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sigma_1^n \sigma_2^m \,\mathrm{e}^{-(n-m)\frac{A(t)}{g_{\rm s}}} \,F^{(n,m)}(t, g_{\rm s}).$$
(4.5)

We have listed some explicit sectors in appendix D. It is also customary to express generic transseries sectors as functions of the lowest-order sector [58, 91]

$$2t = 2R_0^{(0,0)}(t)\sqrt{1 - 2\lambda^2 R_0^{(0,0)}(t)},$$
(4.6)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>Here we bypass a slight subtlety. In addition to t one usually introduces  $x = ng_s \in [0, t]$ , and only then takes the large N limit [10, 23]. Here we immediately jump to t as our variable, not to clutter notation too much.



**Figure 19**: Plot of the holomorphic effective potential (blue) for the cubic matrix model, on the real line with r = 0.2 and  $\lambda = \frac{1}{2}$ . For comparison, we also plot the cubic potential  $V_{\text{cubic}}(x)$ .

which we shall henceforth denote as  $r \equiv r(t) := R_0^{(0,0)}(t)$ .

Let us now see how to reproduce the transseries structure of this model together with its attached Borel residues using the matrix-integral formulae established in section 3. First recall some explicit spectral-curve quantities of the cubic model, in its one-cut phase (2.23). The moment function was already given in (2.25), and an illustration of the corresponding spectral curve in figure 5 (or, more schematically, in figure 10). The endpoints of the cut may be written as

$$a = \frac{1}{\lambda} \left( 1 - 2\lambda\sqrt{r} - \sqrt{1 - 2\lambda^2 r} \right), \qquad b = \frac{1}{\lambda} \left( 1 + 2\lambda\sqrt{r} - \sqrt{1 - 2\lambda^2 r} \right), \tag{4.7}$$

with the (single) nonperturbative saddle located at  $x^* = \frac{2}{\lambda} - (a+b)$ . The general setting of eigenvalue integration-contours is the one of figures 13 and 17, which was further specified for the cubic model in figure 15. The holomorphic effective potential reads

$$V_{\rm h;eff}(t) = \frac{1}{24}\sqrt{(t-a)(t-b)} \left\{ \lambda \left( 4t^2 + 2t(a+b) - 3a^2 - 2ab - 3b^2 \right) + 6(a+b-2t) \right\} + \frac{1}{8} (b-a)^2 \left\{ \lambda \left( a+b \right) - 2 \right\} \log \left( \sqrt{a-t} + \sqrt{b-t} \right),$$
(4.8)

is illustrated in figure 19, and immediately leads to the cubic instanton action A(t) via (2.24). This sums up the required input for our matrix integrals, which we may next evaluate and compare against direct transseries calculations. As usual, we start at the boundary of the transseries and then move inwards.

**Boundary of Resonant Transseries:** Let us first check both the forward "bridge" relation (3.33) with  $\ell = 1$ , as well as its backward sibling (3.50). Using our matrix-integral formulae (3.53) and (3.54) we find to first order in  $g_s$ 

$$e^{\frac{A(t)}{g_{s}}} \frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(1|0)}(t,g_{s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{s})} = i \cdot \frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|1)}(t,g_{s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{s})} e^{-\frac{A(t)}{g_{s}}} = -\sqrt{g_{s}} \frac{i\lambda^{2}\sqrt{r}}{4\sqrt{2\pi}\left(1-3\lambda^{2}r\right)^{5/4}}.$$
(4.9)

On the other hand, on the transseries side we have

$$e^{-\frac{A(t)}{g_{s}}} \mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(1,0)} \frac{Z^{(1,0)}(t,g_{s})}{Z^{(0,0)}(t,g_{s})} = \mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(1,0)} e^{-\frac{A(t)}{g_{s}}} F^{(1,0)}(t,g_{s}),$$
(4.10)

$$e^{\frac{A(t)}{g_{s}}} \mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(0,1)} \frac{Z^{(0,1)}(t,g_{s})}{Z^{(0,0)}(t,g_{s})} = \mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(0,1)} e^{\frac{A(t)}{g_{s}}} F^{(0,1)}(t,g_{s}).$$
(4.11)

Comparing against cubic matrix-model transseries data in appendix D, we find *exact* matches at the functional level. On top of that we can also match numerical pre-factors,

$$S_{(0,0)\to(1,0)} = \mathbf{i} \cdot S_{(0,0)\to(0,1)} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}}.$$
 (4.12)

These are indeed Stokes data of the cubic model; see appendix D for another *precise* match.

**Bulk of Resonant Transseries:** Our first incursion into the "bulk" of the transseries lattice is, as expected, with the (1|1) sector—as described by our matrix-integral formula (3.70). Plugging-in spectral data for the cubic model, we arrive at

$$\frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(1|1)}(t,g_{\rm s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})} \simeq \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2\pi g_{\rm s}} \left( r\sqrt{1-2\lambda^2 r} \log\left(\frac{2\sqrt{6\lambda^4 r^2 - 5\lambda^2 r + 1} - 5\lambda^2 r + 2}{\lambda^2 r}\right) + \frac{2\sqrt{1-3\lambda^2 r}}{3\lambda^2}\right) - g_{\rm s} \frac{\mathrm{i}\left(57\lambda^4 r^2 - 60\lambda^2 r + 8\right)}{192\pi r \left(1-3\lambda^2 r\right)^{5/2}} + \cdots$$

$$(4.13)$$

Comparison of matrix-integral results with transseries sectors now occurs via our "bridge" relation (3.51); which for this sector effectively encodes the free-energy transseries contributions in (3.65). Using results for the free-energy transseries sector  $F^{(1,1)}(t, g_s)$  in appendix D we find *exact* agreement at functional level. On top of that, the prediction for the Borel-residue pre-factors also *precisely* matches against cubic transseries data.

**Resonance and Logarithms:** We are left with the (2|1) configuration. As explained in subsection 3.6, the "bridge" relation we now want to establish is (3.75) (where, for the cubic matrix model,  $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$ ). Using our matrix-integral formula (3.87) for the cubic model it follows

$$2\frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(2|1)}(t,g_{\rm s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})} - 2\frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(1|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})}\frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(1|1)}(t,g_{\rm s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})} \simeq$$

$$\simeq \sqrt{g_{\rm s}}\frac{1}{(2\pi)^{3/2}}\frac{\lambda^2\sqrt{r}}{4\left(1-3\lambda^2r\right)^{5/4}}\left(2\gamma_{\rm E} + \log\left(\frac{256}{g_{\rm s}^2}\frac{\left(1-3\lambda^2r\right)^2}{\lambda^8r^2}\right)\right)e^{-\frac{A(t)}{g_{\rm s}}} + o(g_{\rm s}^{3/2}).$$
(4.14)

Matching against transseries data in appendix D via (3.75) we once again find an *exact* functional match. On top of this, we analytically predict the non-trivial Stokes vector

$$\boldsymbol{S}_{(0,-1)} = \frac{\mathrm{i}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \left( \gamma_{\mathrm{E}} + \log 96\sqrt{3} \right) \begin{bmatrix} 2\\1 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (4.15)$$

associated to the Borel residue  $S_{(1,1)\to(1,0)}$ . This may be double-scaled to Painlevé I Stokes data (see the upcoming subsection 4.3) where it then *precisely* matches against the result in [31].

**Higher-Step Stokes Data:** Finally, we use the Stokes-data consistency-conditions discussed in appendix C, in particular formula (C.6), in order to calculate the two-step Stokes vector  $S_{(1,-1)}$ . All required input is the "canonical" Stokes coefficient in (4.12), from where one then obtains

$$\boldsymbol{S}_{(1,-1)} = \frac{\mathrm{i}}{4} \begin{bmatrix} 2\\0 \end{bmatrix}. \tag{4.16}$$

This *precisely* coincides with the result obtained from comparison against the Painlevé I doublescaling limit in (D.22), further matching against [31].

# 4.2 The Quartic Matrix Model

Our next example is the quartic hermitian matrix model, which is defined by (2.1) with potential

$$V_{\text{quartic}}(x) = \frac{1}{2}x^2 - \frac{\lambda}{24}x^4$$
 (4.17)

(where we will again henceforth drop "quartic" subscripts). The orthogonal-polynomial recursioncoefficients  $\{r_n\}$  for the quartic potential (4.17) satisfy the string equation [58, 54]

$$r_n\left(1 - \frac{\lambda}{6}\left(r_{n-1} + r_n + r_{n+1}\right)\right) = ng_{\rm s}.$$
 (4.18)

In the large N 't Hooft limit, the "continuous" recursion coefficients (2.4)  $r_n \mapsto R(t)$  satisfy the corresponding finite-difference equation

$$R(t)\left(1 - \frac{\lambda}{6}\left(R(t - g_{\rm s}) + R(t) + R(t + g_{\rm s})\right)\right) = t.$$
(4.19)

This is a nonlinear equation which can be treated with resurgent asymptotic methods.

Both the solution to the above string-equation and its associated free energy (2.5) result in two-parameter, resonant, resurgent transseries of the form (2.7)-(2.8). They read [10, 23]

$$R(t, g_{\rm s}; \sigma_1, \sigma_2) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sigma_1^n \sigma_2^m \,\mathrm{e}^{-(n-m)\frac{A(t)}{g_{\rm s}}} \,R^{(n,m)}(t, g_{\rm s}), \tag{4.20}$$

$$F(t, g_{\rm s}; \sigma_1, \sigma_2) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sigma_1^n \sigma_2^m \,\mathrm{e}^{-(n-m)\frac{A(t)}{g_{\rm s}}} \,F^{(n,m)}(t, g_{\rm s}).$$
(4.21)

We have listed some explicit sectors in appendix D. Analogously to the cubic case, we express generic transseries sectors as functions of the lowest-order sector  $R_0^{(0,0)}(t)$ , which now is

$$r = \frac{1}{\lambda} \left( 1 - \sqrt{1 - 2\lambda t} \right). \tag{4.22}$$

Let us next reproduce the transseries structure of this model together with its attached Borel residues using the matrix-integral formulae established in section 3. First recall some explicit spectral-curve quantities of the quartic model in its one-cut phase (2.23). The moment function is now

$$M(z) = 1 - \frac{\lambda}{3}\alpha^2 - \frac{\lambda}{6}z^2,$$
(4.23)

and the endpoints of the cut are symmetric, at  $a = -2\alpha$  and  $b = 2\alpha$ , with

$$\alpha^2 = \frac{1}{\lambda} \left( 1 - \sqrt{1 - 2\lambda t} \right). \tag{4.24}$$

Note that  $r = \alpha^2$ . The nonperturbative saddle-point structure is slightly more complicated than for the cubic case. There are now two symmetric nonperturbative saddles located at

$$x_1^{\star} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\lambda} \left(3 - \lambda \alpha^2\right)}, \qquad x_2^{\star} = -\sqrt{\frac{2}{\lambda} \left(3 - \lambda \alpha^2\right)}. \tag{4.25}$$

The general setting of eigenvalue integration-contours is the one of figures 13 and 17, which was further specified for the quartic model in figure 16. Note how one now has to deal with two,



Figure 20: The holomorphic effective potential (blue) for the quartic matrix model, upon the real line with t = 0.1 and  $\lambda = 1$ . For comparison we also plot the original potential  $V_{\text{quartic}}(x)$ .

symmetric nonperturbative saddle points. This implies some of the formulae in section 3 will require slight upgrades, which we explicitly discuss below. The holomorphic effective potential reads

$$V_{\rm h;eff}(t) = \sqrt{t^2 - 4\alpha^2} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 - \frac{\lambda}{6} \alpha^2 \right) t - \frac{\lambda}{24} t^3 \right\} - 2\alpha^2 \left\{ 1 - \frac{1}{2} \lambda \alpha^2 \right\} \log \left( t + \sqrt{t^2 - 4\alpha^2} \right),$$
(4.26)

is illustrated in figure 20, and immediately leads to the quartic instanton action A(t) via (2.24) (which is independent of the chosen  $x_{1,2}^{\star}$ ). This sums up the required input for our matrix integrals, which we next evaluate and compare against direct transseries calculations. We start at the boundary of the transseries and then move inwards.

**Boundary of Resonant Transseries:** Checking forward and backward "bridges", (3.33) and (3.50), first seems to require evaluation of the matrix-integrals in (3.53) and (3.54). But for the quartic matrix model, and in contrast with our earlier cubic example, an additional subtlety appears. We now have two symmetric nonperturbative saddle points,  $x_1^* \equiv x^*$  and  $x_2^* = -x^*$ , and we need to consider combinations of both. This will result in (small) changes to the actual matrix integrals one needs to evaluate within the aforementioned "bridge" relations.

Let us first address the forward contribution, *i.e.*, let us look back at the  $\ell$ -th eigenvalue configuration in (3.31)-(3.9). It turns out that the leading nonperturbative contributions (*i.e.*, those to lowest order in  $g_s$ ) now arise from configurations where eigenvalues are most evenly distributed in-between the two saddles,  $\pm x^*$ . To see this, one first realizes that there is a *change* in eigenvalue combinatorics which depends on the parity of  $\ell$ . There are two possibilities:

• Consider even  $\ell$ . The split of these eigenvalues into the two saddles occurs as expected,

$$(x_1, \dots, x_\ell) \leftrightarrow \left(\underbrace{x^\star, \dots, x^\star}_{\ell/2}, \underbrace{-x^\star, \dots, -x^\star}_{\ell/2}\right),$$
 (4.27)

over all its permutations. This configuration hence yields a symmetry factor of  $\binom{\ell}{\ell/2}$ .

• Consider odd  $\ell$ . The split into the two saddles now occurs in two possible ways,

$$(x_1, \dots, x_\ell) \leftrightarrow \left(\underbrace{x^\star, \dots, x^\star}_{(\ell-1)/2}, \underbrace{-x^\star, \dots, -x^\star}_{(\ell+1)/2}\right), \tag{4.28}$$

$$(x_1, \dots, x_\ell) \leftrightarrow \left(\underbrace{x^{\star}, \dots, x^{\star}}_{(\ell+1)/2}, \underbrace{-x^{\star}, \dots, -x^{\star}}_{(\ell-1)/2}\right), \tag{4.29}$$

and respective permutations. Both configurations have the same symmetry factor  $\binom{\ell+1}{(\ell+1)/2}$ .

Once the tunneled eigenvalues are distributed in these ways, the lowest  $g_s$ -order will become associated to the "mixed saddles". In fact, differences of the type  $(x_i - x_j)$  in the matrixintegral Vandermonde-determinant acquire  $\sqrt{g_s}$  pre-factors under saddle-point evaluation. When eigenvalues sit in the same nonperturbative saddle, these will result in powers of  $g_s$ . But if we can distribute them across distinct saddles, that will *lower* this corresponding  $g_s$  power. As such, what the above distributions imply is that (3.53) is not the *lowest*  $g_s$ -order contribution to the  $\ell$ -eigenvalue configuration; one must instead address the above "mixed saddles" configurations. The calculation is nevertheless straightforward as a saddle-point evaluation (see [30] as well), and we find:

$$\frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(\ell|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})} \simeq g_{\rm s}^{\frac{1}{2}\left\lfloor\frac{\ell^2+1}{2}\right\rfloor} e^{-\frac{\ell}{g_{\rm s}}A(t)} \mathcal{N}_{\ell} \mathcal{T}_{\ell}^{\rm forw}(\lambda,\alpha) + \cdots, \qquad (4.30)$$

where  $|\bullet|$  denotes the integer part, where we have the numerical pre-factor

$$\mathcal{N}_{\ell} = -\frac{1}{\ell!} \frac{1}{\pi^{\ell/2}} \times \begin{cases} \binom{\ell}{\ell/2} G_2 \left(\frac{\ell+4}{2}\right)^2 2^{-\frac{\ell(\ell+2)}{4}} & \ell \text{ even,} \\ \binom{\ell+1}{(\ell+1)/2} G_2 \left(\frac{\ell+3}{2}\right) G_2 \left(\frac{\ell+5}{2}\right) 2^{-\frac{(\ell+1)^2+6}{4}} & \ell \text{ odd,} \end{cases}$$
(4.31)

and where the forward transseries structure is

$$\mathcal{T}_{\ell}^{\text{forw}}(\lambda,\alpha) = \alpha^{\ell^2} \times \begin{cases} \left(-\frac{3\lambda^3}{2(3-\lambda\alpha^2)^{3/2}(3-3\lambda\alpha^2)^{5/2}}\right)^{\left(\frac{\ell}{2}\right)^2} & \ell \text{ even,} \\ \left(-\frac{24\sqrt{3-\lambda\alpha^2}}{\lambda\sqrt{3-3\lambda\alpha^2}}\right)^{\frac{\ell^2+1}{4}} \left(\frac{\lambda}{2\sqrt{3-3\lambda\alpha^2}\sqrt{3-\lambda\alpha^2}}\right)^{\ell^2} \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{\sqrt{3-3\lambda\alpha^2}} & \ell \text{ odd.} \end{cases}$$
(4.32)

It is now with the above results which we explicitly check the "bridge" between eigenvaluetunneling and resurgent-transseries (just as in subsection 3.3). Being the lowest  $g_s$  contributions, the simplest first check is comparing starting genus  $\beta_{nm}^{[k]}$ , as in (2.9), between the above predictions and the transseries computations in appendix D. The predictions are immediate to read-off from (4.30)

Comparing against quartic matrix-model transseries data in appendix D we find an *exact* match, as well as for the functional form of explicit nonperturbative coefficients (*e.g.*, we have listed explicit such transseries coefficients for  $\ell = 1, \ldots, 6$  in appendix D). Using the forward "bridge"

(3.33) we may further explicitly compare (or, to some extent, analytically compute) Borel residues. For instance, in the  $\ell = 3$  example the above formulae yield at leading order

$$e^{-3\frac{A(t)}{g_{s}}} \mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(3,0)} \frac{Z^{(3,0)}(t,g_{s})}{Z^{(0,0)}(t,g_{s})} = -\mathrm{i} g_{s}^{5/2} \frac{3^{5/2} \lambda^{7} r^{9/2}}{64 \pi^{3/2} (3-\lambda r)^{13/4} (3-3\lambda^{3})^{25/4}} e^{-3\frac{A(t)}{g_{s}}}.$$
 (4.34)

Proceeding analogously for the first 6 Borel residues, one quickly finds

$$S_{(0,0)\to(\ell,0)} = -\left(i\sqrt{\frac{3}{\pi\lambda}}\right)^{\ell}, \qquad \ell = 1,\dots,6.$$
 (4.35)

Via (2.16) this immediately translates to the "canonical" Stokes vector extensively studied in the literature [30], which is the well-known result

$$\boldsymbol{S}_{(1,0)} = i \sqrt{\frac{3}{\pi\lambda}} \begin{bmatrix} 1\\0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(4.36)

The purely anti-eigenvalue matrix-integral in the backward "bridge" (3.50) is computed in complete analogy to what was described above for the forward direction. There is an extra minus sign in front of the holomorphic effective potential which eventually yields

$$\frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|\bar{\ell})}(t,g_{\rm s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})} \simeq g_{\rm s}^{\frac{1}{2}\left\lfloor\frac{\bar{\ell}^2+1}{2}\right\rfloor} e^{\frac{\bar{\ell}}{g_{\rm s}}A(t)} \mathcal{N}_{\bar{\ell}} \mathcal{T}_{\bar{\ell}}^{\rm back}(\lambda,\alpha) + \cdots, \qquad (4.37)$$

where the numerical pre-factor  $\mathcal{N}_{\bar{\ell}}$  is the same as before, in (4.31), and where the backward transseries structure is given by

$$\mathcal{T}_{\bar{\ell}}^{\text{back}}(\lambda,\alpha) = \alpha^{\bar{\ell}^2} \times \begin{cases} \left(\frac{3\lambda^3}{2(3-\lambda\alpha^2)^{3/2}(3-3\lambda\alpha^2)^{5/2}}\right)^{\left(\frac{\bar{\ell}}{2}\right)^2} & \bar{\ell} \text{ even,} \\ \left(\frac{24\sqrt{3-\lambda\alpha^2}}{\lambda\sqrt{3-3\lambda\alpha^2}}\right)^{\frac{\bar{\ell}^2+1}{4}} \left(\frac{\lambda}{2\sqrt{3-3\lambda\alpha^2}\sqrt{3-\lambda\alpha^2}}\right)^{\bar{\ell}^2} \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{\sqrt{3-3\lambda\alpha^2}} & \bar{\ell} \text{ odd.} \end{cases}$$
(4.38)

The backward "bridge" relation hence boils down to

$$e^{+\bar{\ell}\frac{A(t)}{g_{s}}} \mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(0,\bar{\ell})} \frac{Z^{(0,\bar{\ell})}(t,g_{s})}{Z^{(0,0)}(t,g_{s})} \simeq g_{s}^{\frac{1}{2}\left\lfloor\frac{\bar{\ell}^{2}+1}{2}\right\rfloor} e^{\frac{\bar{\ell}}{g_{s}}A(t)} \mathcal{N}_{\bar{\ell}} \mathcal{T}_{\bar{\ell}}^{\mathrm{back}}(\lambda,\alpha).$$
(4.39)

Comparing against quartic matrix-model transseries data in appendix D we find an *exact* match, where we now explicitly listed transseries coefficients for  $\bar{\ell} = 1, \ldots, 4$ . The corresponding Borel residues are found to be

$$S_{(0,0)\to(0,\bar{\ell})} = -\left(\sqrt{\frac{3}{\pi\lambda}}\right)^{\bar{\ell}}, \qquad \bar{\ell} = 1,\dots,4.$$
 (4.40)

Via (2.16) this further translates to the Stokes vector

$$\boldsymbol{S}_{(0,1)} = \sqrt{\frac{3}{\pi\lambda}} \begin{bmatrix} 0\\1 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(4.41)

This result *precisely* matches the literature [31].

**Bulk of Resonant Transseries:** Enter the "bulk" of the transseries lattice with the (1|1) sector (at least up to our  $\sim g_s$  order). The subtlety with symmetric nonperturbative saddles  $x_2^{\star} = -x_1^{\star}$  keeps haunting us, as we can now distribute our one eigenvalue and one anti-eigenvalue over these two saddles. There are two possibilities:

• When the eigenvalue sits at  $x_1^*$  and the anti-eigenvalue at  $x_2^*$ , evaluation of (3.10) with  $(\ell | \bar{\ell}) = (1|1)$  is straightforward. There is now no singularity in the integrand (as the integration contours do not intersect), in which case we just need to perform a standard saddle-point integration in the respective steepest-descent contours,

$$\int_{\mathcal{C}_{1}^{\star}} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{2\pi} \int_{\bar{\mathcal{C}}_{2}^{\star}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{x}}{2\pi} \frac{1}{(x-\bar{x})^{2}} \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\mathrm{s}}}(V(x)-V(\bar{x}))} \left\langle \frac{\det(x-M)^{2}}{\det(\bar{x}-M)^{2}} \right\rangle_{N}.$$
(4.42)

There is an additional global factor of 2 (as we could have initially swapped eigenvalue and anti-eigenvalue), in which case we find the contribution

$$g_{\rm s} \frac{3i\lambda\sqrt{3-\lambda r}}{16\pi \left(3-3\lambda r\right)^{5/2}}.$$
(4.43)

• When both eigenvalue and anti-eigenvalue sit on the same saddle, we just use our earlier result from formula (3.70). There is an additional symmetry factor of 2 (as there are two nonperturbative saddles), in which case we find

$$\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}} \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2\pi\lambda} \left( \sqrt{3 - 3\lambda r} \sqrt{3 - \lambda r} - \lambda r \left(2 - \lambda r\right) \log \left( \frac{3 - 2r\lambda + \sqrt{3 - 3\lambda r} \sqrt{3 - \lambda r}}{\lambda r} \right) \right) + g_{\rm s} \frac{3\mathrm{i} \left(36 - 117\lambda r + 54\lambda^2 r^2 - 7\lambda^3 r^3\right)}{16\pi r \left(3 - 3\lambda r\right)^{5/2} \left(3 - \lambda r\right)^{3/2}}.$$
(4.44)

Taking both above contributions together finally yields

$$\frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(1|1)}(t,g_{\rm s})}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}(t,g_{\rm s})} \simeq \frac{1}{g_{\rm s}} \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2\pi\lambda} \left( \sqrt{3-3\lambda r} \sqrt{3-\lambda r} - \lambda r \left(2-\lambda r\right) \log\left(\frac{3-2r\lambda+\sqrt{3-3\lambda r} \sqrt{3-\lambda r}}{\lambda r}\right) \right) + g_{\rm s} \frac{3\mathrm{i} \left(\lambda r \left(4\lambda^2 r^2 - 30\lambda r + 63\right) - 18\right)}{8\pi r \left(3-\lambda r\right)^{3/2} \left(3-3\lambda r\right)^{5/2}} + \cdots$$

$$(4.45)$$

Comparison of this matrix-integral result with the transseries occurs via the "bridge" relation (3.51); which for this sector of the quartic matrix model effectively encodes the free-energy transseries contributions (via  $Z = \exp F$ ) as

$$S_{(0,0)\to(0,1)} S_{(0,1)\to(1,1)} \frac{Z^{(1,1)}}{Z^{(0,0)}} \simeq \frac{Z^{(1|1)}}{Z^{(0|0)}} \simeq$$

$$\simeq S_{(0,0)\to(0,1)} S_{(0,1)\to(1,1)} \left\{ \frac{1}{g_{\rm s}} F_{-1}^{(1,1)} + g_{\rm s} \left( F_1^{(1,1)} + F_{1/2}^{(1,0)} F_{1/2}^{(0,1)} \right) + \cdots \right\}.$$
(4.46)

Comparing with the quartic transseries data (D.25)-(D.27) yields exact agreement.

**Resonance and Logarithms:** We are left with the (2|1) configuration and, in particular, checking our result (3.88) within the quartic matrix model. As usual for this example, we first need to take into account the possible (anti) eigenvalue configurations associated to the two symmetric saddles. Distribution of our two eigenvalues and one anti-eigenvalue leads to three possibilities (upon permutation symmetry):

• The two eigenvalues sit in opposing saddles and the anti-eigenvalue occupies one of those saddles (with associated symmetry factor of 2). Not being quite the same calculation which led to (3.88), it does proceed exactly along the same lines as explained in subsection 3.6. We end-up with a contribution of

$$\frac{\mathrm{i}}{(2\pi)^2} \sqrt{\frac{2\pi g_{\mathrm{s}}}{V_{\mathrm{eff}}''(x^\star)}} \frac{(b-a)}{4} \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\mathrm{s}}}(V_{\mathrm{eff}}(x^\star) - V_{\mathrm{eff}}(b))} \log\left(\frac{x^\star}{b}\right)^2. \tag{4.47}$$

- The two eigenvalues and one anti-eigenvalue all occupy the same saddle. This exactly leads to our expression (3.88), only with an additional symmetry factor of 2.
- The two eigenvalues sit in the same saddle, with anti-eigenvalue on the opposing one. This is a pure saddle-point calculation, which one may readily estimate will have lowest contribution at order  $g_s^{3/2}$ . We discard such contribution as (3.88) is an order- $g_s^{1/2}$  calculation.

Taking all above possibilities together, we find the result (for the quartic model  $\alpha = \frac{\lambda}{12}$ )

$$S_{(0,0)\to(0,1)} S_{(0,1)\to(1,1)} \left( S_{(1,1)\to(1,0)} + S_{(1,1)\to(2,1)} \frac{\lambda}{12} \log \frac{f(t)}{g_{s}^{2}} \right) F^{(1,0)}(t,g_{s}) \simeq$$

$$\simeq \sqrt{g_{s}} \sqrt{\frac{3}{\lambda}} \frac{1}{\pi^{3/2}} \frac{(\lambda r)^{3/2}}{r \left(3 - 3\lambda r\right)^{5/4} \left(3 - \lambda r\right)^{1/4}} \left\{ 2\gamma_{\rm E} + \log \left( \frac{16}{9g_{s}^{2}} \frac{(3 - \lambda r)^{3} \left(3 - 3\lambda r\right)^{5}}{\lambda^{6} r^{4}} \right) \right\} + o(g_{s}^{3/2}).$$

$$(4.48)$$

Comparison with transferies data in appendix D yields *exact* agreement. Furthermore, this yields an analytical result for a rather non-trivial Stokes coefficient,

$$\boldsymbol{S}_{(0,-1)} = i \sqrt{\frac{\lambda}{12\pi}} \left( \gamma_{\rm E} + \log 96\sqrt{3} \right) \begin{bmatrix} 2\\1 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (4.49)$$

which is associated to the Borel residue  $S_{(1,1)\to(1,0)}$ . As in the earlier cubic example, also herein this Stokes coefficient may be double-scaled to Painlevé I Stokes data (see the next subsection 4.3) where it then *precisely* matches against the result in [31].

**Higher-Step Stokes Data:** Finally, following what we already did in the cubic case, let us use the Stokes-data consistency-conditions discussed in appendix C, in particular formula (C.6), in order to calculate the two-step Stokes vector  $S_{(1,-1)}$ . This just requires the quartic "canonical" Stokes vector in (4.36), and the result reads

$$\boldsymbol{S}_{(1,-1)} = \frac{\mathrm{i}}{4} \begin{bmatrix} 2\\0 \end{bmatrix}. \tag{4.50}$$

This *precisely* coincides with the result obtained from comparing against the Painlevé I doublescaling limit in (D.37), further matching against [31].

#### 4.3 Matrix Model Double-Scaling Limits

Having established cubic and quartic matrix models, we finally address their (common) Painlevé I double-scaling limit. This is realized in steps. First, rescale matrix-model free-energy transseries-parameters  $\sigma_1, \sigma_2$  by a factor C fixed such that transseries sectors will double scale to those of Painlevé I;

$$F^{(n,m)} \mapsto C^{n+m} F^{(n,m)}, \qquad \mathsf{S}_{(n,m)\to(p,q)} \mapsto C^{n+m-p-q} \,\mathsf{S}_{(n,m)\to(p,q)}. \tag{4.51}$$

This transformation is consistent and does not change the full transseries, as can be checked via (2.14)-(2.15). The factor C for cubic and quartic matrix models is given by<sup>26</sup>

$$C_{\text{cubic}} = -\frac{\sqrt{2}}{3^{1/4}}, \qquad C_{\text{quartic}} = -\frac{2 \cdot 3^{1/4}}{\sqrt{\lambda}}.$$
 (4.52)

For the cubic matrix model, the double-scaling limit is now implemented via

$$t = \frac{1}{3\sqrt{3}\lambda^2} + \kappa \frac{g_{\rm s}^{4/5}}{2^{1/5} \, 3^{1/10} \lambda^{2/5}},\tag{4.53}$$

$$3\lambda^2 R_{\rm cubic}(t, g_{\rm s}) = 1 - \left(12\lambda^4 g_{\rm s}^2\right)^{1/5} u_{\rm PI}(\kappa), \tag{4.54}$$

$$F_{\text{cubic}}(t, g_{\text{s}}) = F_{\text{PI}}(\kappa), \qquad (4.55)$$

and taking the limit towards criticality. In this limit the cubic string equation (4.2) becomes the Painlevé I equation

$$u_{\rm PI}(\kappa)^2 - \frac{1}{6}u_{\rm PI}''(\kappa) = \kappa,$$
 (4.56)

with the free energy now given by  $F_{\rm PI}''(\kappa) = -u_{\rm PI}(\kappa)$ . An analogous procedure for the quartic matrix model can be found in, *e.g.*, [23]. The double-scaling of the full transseries is further discussed in appendix D, with explicit comparisons to cubic and quartic transseries [41, 23]. Moreover, one may relate (cubic or quartic) matrix model Borel residues with the ones of Painlevé I via [23]

$$S_{(n,m)\to(p,q)}^{MM} = C^{p+q-n-m} S_{(n,m)\to(p,q)}^{PI}.$$
(4.57)

Let us explicitly do this with the Borel residues of the cubic and of the quartic matrix model, which we computed earlier in this section. Explicitly they become

$$S_{(0,0)\to(1,0)} = i \frac{\sqrt[4]{3}}{2\sqrt{\pi}}, \qquad S_{(0,0)\to(0,1)} = \frac{\sqrt[4]{3}}{2\sqrt{\pi}}, \qquad (4.58)$$

$$\mathsf{S}_{(1,1)\to(1,0)} = \frac{\mathrm{i}}{\sqrt[4]{3}\sqrt{\pi}} \left( 2\gamma_{\mathrm{E}} + 2\log 96\sqrt{3} \right). \tag{4.59}$$

Translated to Stokes vectors, we arrive at

$$\boldsymbol{S}_{(1,0)} = -\mathrm{i}\frac{\sqrt[4]{3}}{2\sqrt{\pi}} \begin{bmatrix} 1\\0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \qquad \boldsymbol{S}_{(0,1)} = -\frac{\sqrt[4]{3}}{2\sqrt{\pi}} \begin{bmatrix} 0\\1 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (4.60)$$

$$\boldsymbol{S}_{(0,-1)} = -\frac{\mathrm{i}}{\sqrt[4]{3}\sqrt{\pi}} \left(\gamma_{\mathrm{E}} + \log 96\sqrt{3}\right) \begin{bmatrix} 2\\1 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \boldsymbol{S}_{(1,-1)} = \frac{\mathrm{i}}{4} \begin{bmatrix} 2\\0 \end{bmatrix}. \tag{4.61}$$

These (non-trivial) Stokes data *precisely* match the recent results in [31].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>Notice how the quartic factor is  $\lambda$ -dependent whereas this is not the case for the cubic. This is due to different integration choices in [41] and [23], and we have kept their conventions for consistency.

# Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Paolo Gregori, Pavel Putrov, Noam Tamarin, for useful discussions, comments and/or correspondence. The results in this paper were reported by RS at the "First Internal ReNewQuantum Workshop" held in August at the Centre for Quantum Mathematics, University of Southern Denmark, and by MS at the "Physical Resurgence: On Quantum, Gauge, and Stringy" workshop held in September at the Isaac Newton Institute for Mathematical Sciences, University of Cambridge, to which the authors would like to thank for hospitality. RS and MS would further like to thank the Isaac Newton Institute for Mathematical Sciences, Cambridge, for support and hospitality during the programme "Applicable Resurgent Asymptotics: Towards a Universal Theory" where work on this paper was undertaken. RS and MS would also like to thank CERN TH-Division and the University of Geneva for extended hospitality, where parts of this work were conducted. MS is supported by the LisMath Doctoral program and FCT-Portugal scholarship SFRH/PD/BD/135525/ 2018. This research was supported in part by CAMGSD/IST-ID and via the FCT-Portugal grants UIDB/04459/2020, UIDP/04459/2020, PTDC/MAT-OUT/28784/2017. This work was partially supported by EP-SRC grant EP/R014604/1. This paper is partly a result of the ERC-SyG project, Recursive and Exact New Quantum Theory (ReNewQuantum) funded by the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme, grant agreement 810573.

# A On Computing Integrals and Their Toy Examples

This appendix covers more details concerning the derivative-method introduced in subsection 3.5. Within toy examples, we better explore when this method is applicable, and we further support its use with numerical checks. We also briefly discuss their associated integration contours.

#### The Gaussian-Integral Toy Model

Let us address our derivative-method in the context of a Gaussian toy-model integral,

$$\mathcal{I} = PV \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx \ PV \int_{i\mathbb{R}} d\bar{x} \ \frac{1}{(x-\bar{x})^2} e^{-\frac{1}{g_s} \left(\frac{1}{2}x^2 - \frac{1}{2}\bar{x}^2\right)}, \tag{A.1}$$

which is essentially the Gaussian version of (3.56) (and where we recall the principal-value prescription in (2.36)). Our main question from subsection 3.5 was when can one exchange principal-value integrals with the primitives of the derivative-method. We illustrate this issue by first directly employing the derivative method (and failing) and then by further reducing the order of the pole via partial integrations (and succeeding).

**Direct Evaluation:** Evaluating the integral (A.1) via our derivative-method starts with

$$\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}^2} \left(\frac{1}{2}x^2 - \frac{1}{2}\bar{x}^2\right)^2 \int_1^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}u \, \int_u^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}v \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{v}{g_{\rm s}}\left(\frac{1}{2}x^2 - \frac{1}{2}\bar{x}^2\right)} = \mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}}\left(\frac{1}{2}x^2 - \frac{1}{2}\bar{x}^2\right)},\tag{A.2}$$

in which case we may rewrite  $\mathcal{I}$  as

$$\mathcal{I} = PV \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx \ PV \int_{i\mathbb{R}} d\bar{x} \ \int_{1}^{+\infty} du \ \int_{u}^{+\infty} dv \ \frac{1}{g_{s}^{2}} \left(\frac{x+\bar{x}}{2}\right)^{2} e^{-\frac{v}{g_{s}}\left(\frac{1}{2}x^{2}-\frac{1}{2}\bar{x}^{2}\right)}.$$
 (A.3)

Next, let us switch the principal-value integrals with the u, v integrals. Explicitly incorporating (2.36) in the above and blindly swapping integrals would yield

$$\mathcal{I} = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{1}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}u \int_{u}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}v \int_{(-\infty, -\epsilon) \cup (\epsilon, +\infty)} \mathrm{d}x \int_{(-i\infty, -i\epsilon) \cup (i\epsilon, +i\infty)} \mathrm{d}\bar{x} \frac{1}{g_{\mathrm{s}}^2} \left(\frac{x+\bar{x}}{2}\right)^2 \mathrm{e}^{-\frac{v}{g_{\mathrm{s}}} \left(\frac{1}{2}x^2 - \frac{1}{2}\bar{x}^2\right)}.$$
(A.4)

But this result will be divergent. In fact, changing the order of integration is only allowed if the Fubini theorem is fulfilled, and whether this is possible may be checked via the Tonelli theorem on absolute values. In our case this immediately translates to

$$\int_{1}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}u \int_{u}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}v \int_{(-\infty, -\epsilon)\cup(\epsilon, +\infty)} \mathrm{d}x \int_{(-i\infty, -i\epsilon)\cup(i\epsilon, +i\infty)} \mathrm{d}\bar{x} \left| \left( \frac{x+\bar{x}}{2} \right)^2 \mathrm{e}^{-\frac{v}{g_{\mathrm{s}}} \left( \frac{1}{2}x^2 - \frac{1}{2}\bar{x}^2 \right)} \right| = (A.5)$$
$$= -g_{\mathrm{s}} \int_{1}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}u \left| \epsilon^2 \mathrm{E}_{1/2} \left( \frac{\epsilon^2 u}{2g_{\mathrm{s}}} \right)^2 \right| \not< \infty, \quad \forall \epsilon > 0,$$

with  $E_n(x)$  the exponential integral function. For very small  $\epsilon$  this integral diverges logarithmically. What this implies is that if the derivative-method is to work, it cannot be used blindly and some extra step is required in the calculation.

Evaluation After Partial Integration: Let us instead consider the integration

$$\mathcal{I} = -\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}} \operatorname{PV} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathrm{d}x \ \operatorname{PV} \int_{\mathrm{i}\mathbb{R}} \mathrm{d}\bar{x} \frac{x}{x-\bar{x}} \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}}\left(\frac{1}{2}x^2 - \frac{1}{2}\bar{x}^2\right)},\tag{A.6}$$

which follows from (A.1) after performing<sup>27</sup> a partial integration. Moving-on to our derivative method, it now starts with

$$-\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}}\left(\frac{1}{2}x^2 - \frac{1}{2}\bar{x}^2\right)\int_1^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}v \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{v}{g_{\rm s}}\left(\frac{1}{2}x^2 - \frac{1}{2}\bar{x}^2\right)} = \mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\rm s}}\left(\frac{1}{2}x^2 - \frac{1}{2}\bar{x}^2\right)}.\tag{A.7}$$

Plugging this into the above (A.6) we find, after switching the order of integrations,

$$\mathcal{I} = \frac{1}{g_{s}^{2}} \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{1}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}v \int_{(-\infty, -\epsilon) \cup (\epsilon, +\infty)} \mathrm{d}x \int_{(-\mathrm{i}\infty, -\mathrm{i}\epsilon) \cup (\mathrm{i}\epsilon, +\mathrm{i}\infty)} \mathrm{d}\bar{x} \, x \, \frac{x + \bar{x}}{2} \, \mathrm{e}^{-\frac{v}{g_{s}} \left(\frac{1}{2}x^{2} - \frac{1}{2}\bar{x}^{2}\right)}. \tag{A.8}$$

This result is no longer divergent. In fact, changing the order of integration is now allowed as, applying our previous argument,

$$\int_{1}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}v \int_{(-\infty,-\epsilon)\cup(\epsilon,+\infty)} \mathrm{d}x \int_{(-i\infty,-i\epsilon)\cup(i\epsilon,+i\infty)} \mathrm{d}\bar{x} \left| x \frac{x+\bar{x}}{2} e^{-\frac{v}{g_{\mathrm{s}}} \left(\frac{1}{2}x^{2} - \frac{1}{2}\bar{x}^{2}\right)} \right| =$$
(A.9)
$$= \frac{1}{2} g_{\mathrm{s}} \left| \epsilon^{2} \mathrm{E}_{1/2} \left( \frac{\epsilon^{2}}{2g_{\mathrm{s}}} \right)^{2} \right| < \infty, \quad \forall \epsilon > 0.$$

From here the  $\epsilon \to 0$  limit follows and we would be done. For the harder examples in subsection 3.5 we still need to continue with the derivative-method. This then entails further changing the principal-value integrals with the *v*-integral, alongside the limit, which is validated by the Lebesgue theorem of dominated convergence holding due to uniform convergence of our integral kernel, *i.e.*, we have

$$\int_{(-\infty,-\epsilon)\cup(\epsilon,+\infty)} \mathrm{d}x \int_{(-i\infty,-i\epsilon)\cup(i\epsilon,+i\infty)} \mathrm{d}\bar{x} \, x \, \frac{x+\bar{x}}{2} \, \mathrm{e}^{-\frac{v}{g_{\mathrm{s}}}\left(\frac{1}{2}x^2-\frac{1}{2}\bar{x}^2\right)} = \frac{\epsilon^4}{2} \, \mathrm{E}_{-1/2}\left(\frac{\epsilon^2 v}{2g_{\mathrm{s}}}\right) \mathrm{E}_{1/2}\left(\frac{\epsilon^2 v}{2g_{\mathrm{s}}}\right),\tag{A.10}$$

which obeys

$$\left| \left( \frac{\epsilon^4}{2} \operatorname{E}_{-1/2} \left( \frac{\epsilon^2 v}{2g_{\rm s}} \right) \operatorname{E}_{1/2} \left( \frac{\epsilon^2 v}{2g_{\rm s}} \right) \right) - \frac{\pi g_{\rm s}^2}{v^2} \right| \xrightarrow{\epsilon \to 0} 0, \tag{A.11}$$

where  $\int_{1}^{+\infty} dv/v^2$  is finite. Hence changing order of integrations is fully validated, and our "derivative-method calculation" goes through,

$$\mathcal{I} = \frac{1}{g_{s}^{2}} \int_{1}^{+\infty} dv \, \text{PV} \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx \, \text{PV} \int_{i\mathbb{R}} d\bar{x} \, x \, \frac{x + \bar{x}}{2} \, e^{-\frac{v}{g_{s}} \left(\frac{1}{2}x^{2} - \frac{1}{2}\bar{x}^{2}\right)} = \\ = \frac{1}{g_{s}^{2}} \int_{1}^{+\infty} dv \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx \, \int_{i\mathbb{R}} d\bar{x} \, x \, \frac{x + \bar{x}}{2} \, e^{-\frac{v}{g_{s}} \left(\frac{1}{2}x^{2} - \frac{1}{2}\bar{x}^{2}\right)} = \int_{1}^{+\infty} dv \, \frac{i\pi}{v^{2}} = i\pi,$$
(A.12)

where we have dropped principal-value integrals in the second line. The resulting integral can now indeed be solved directly by saddle-point evaluation. Let us further comment that a brief numerical exploration of the integral (A.1) undoubtedly confirms this result,  $\mathcal{I} = i\pi$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>Note that one has to be careful with partial integration of principal-value integrals. In this case one can check that the boundary terms close to  $x = 0 = \bar{x}$  do not give additional contributions.



Figure 21: Integration contours  $\gamma$  and  $\bar{\gamma}$  for (anti) eigenvalue tunneling, as in figure 17; and where the saddle-points of the quartic potential have been further highlighted as the red dots. The left-plot shows the original contours, whereas the right-plot shows the usual deformation which turns the original contour  $\gamma$  into a residue contribution  $\gamma_{\rm res}$  alongside a steepest-descent path  $\gamma^*$ . It is important to note that such a deformation does not cross the pole at  $x = \bar{x}$ . The contours  $\gamma^*$  and  $\bar{\gamma}$  are the ones used in the integral (A.14).

# The (1|1)-Integral Toy Model

Let us go back to the toy example of subsection 3.5 illustrating the (1|1) matrix integral, which was given in (3.56). For simplicity we shall herein drop the  $1/(2\pi)^2$  normalization and focus on the example of a quartic potential (with positive  $\lambda$ ),

$$V(x) = \frac{1}{2}x^2 - \frac{\lambda}{24}x^4.$$
 (A.13)

We also consider slightly different integration contours, *i.e.*, we consider the integral

$$\mathcal{I} = \operatorname{PV}_{\gamma^{\star}} \mathrm{d}x \ \operatorname{PV}_{\bar{\gamma}} \mathrm{d}\bar{x} \ \frac{1}{(x-\bar{x})^2} \operatorname{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\mathrm{s}}}(V(x)-V(\bar{x}))}, \tag{A.14}$$

where the principal-value is the usual (2.36), where the contour  $\gamma^*$  is steepest-descent through the nonperturbative saddle  $x^* = \sqrt{6/\lambda}$ , and where the contour  $\bar{\gamma}$  goes through 0, as illustrated in figure 21. Note that herein we have dropped<sup>28</sup> the residue contribution—we will only be interested in the steepest-descent contour  $\gamma^*$  for the current discussion. There are two ways to evaluate this integral. On the one hand, we can solve it numerically. On the other hand, we can use our derivative method (upon resummation) and then compare to check its validity.

Let us begin with the derivative method. Having dropped the residue contribution, we readily evaluate the integral  $\mathcal{I}$  on the steepest-descent contour  $\gamma^*$ . To first order, this exact same calculation has already been done in subsection 3.5. Herein it is straightforward to go to higher orders, where we obtain an asymptotic series,

$$\operatorname{PV}_{\gamma^{\star}} \mathrm{d}x \ \operatorname{PV}_{\bar{\gamma}} \mathrm{d}\bar{x} \ \frac{1}{(x-\bar{x})^2} \operatorname{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_{\mathrm{s}}}(V(x)-V(\bar{x}))} \simeq \sum_{g=1}^{\infty} A_g(\lambda) \ g_{\mathrm{s}}^g = \frac{\pi\lambda \mathrm{i}}{24} \ g_{\mathrm{s}} + \frac{5\pi\lambda^3 \mathrm{i}}{288} \ g_{\mathrm{s}}^3 + \cdots \ (A.15)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>Such residue contribution can always be added at any later stage in the computation.

$g_{ m s}$	Resummed Asymptotic Series	Numerical Principal Value
$\frac{1}{10}e^{\frac{i}{100}}$	-0.0030627445+0.0563580235i	-0.0030626033 + 0.0563533856i
$\frac{1}{12}e^{\frac{i}{100}}$	-0.0015144998 + 0.0461713206i	-0.0015144358 + 0.0461675600i
$\frac{1}{14}e^{\frac{i}{100}}$	-0.0008464636 + 0.0390336330i	-0.0008464267 + 0.0390301472i
$\frac{1}{10}e^{\frac{i}{30}}$	-0.0044849274+0.0560706365i	-0.0044847002 + 0.0560660117i

**Table 1**: Comparison of the resummed asymptotic series for the integral (A.14), with the results of direct numerical integration close (and above) the real line. In red we highlight the digits of precision for the numerical integration obtained from the NIntegrate built-in error. Here we chose  $\epsilon = 10^{-5}$ ,  $\lambda = 4$ , and WorkingPrecision of 12. The agreement is very good.

$g_{ m s}$	Resummed Asymptotic Series	Numerical Principal Value
$\frac{1}{10}e^{\frac{i}{100}}$	-0.0030627445+0.0563580235i	-0.0030627413+0.0563580193i
$\frac{1}{12}e^{\frac{i}{100}}$	-0.0015144998 + 0.0461713206i	-0.0015144995 + 0.0461671283i

**Table 2**: Comparison of the resummed asymptotic series for the integral (A.14), with the results of direct numerical integration. We now chose  $\epsilon = 10^{-7}$ ,  $\lambda = 4$ . Again in red we highlight the digits of precision for the numerical integration obtained from the NIntegrate built-in error, albeit herein the WorkingPrecision of the numerical integration has been improved to 15. Indeed as expected, we hence find an even better agreement of the results.

We have computed terms in this series up to order 40 in  $g_s$ .

Having obtained  $\mathcal{I}$  from the derivative method, let us just outline the numerical<sup>29</sup> evaluation. To do this properly, one needs to be careful in performing the principal-value prescription (2.36); in particular the parametrization of the contour integral must generically be piecewise-smooth but, importantly, smooth *inside* the disk which has been removed around the pole. Further, the same-size disk (*i.e.*, the same  $\epsilon$ ) must be chosen for both contours in (2.36).

In order to perform a meaningful comparison between the result obtained from direct numerical integration and the one from the derivative-method, we need to Borel–Laplace resum the asymptotic series (A.15) (which has asymptotic growth  $A_g \sim \Gamma(g-1)/(3/2)^g$ ). Once this is done we compare to the numerical evaluation of (A.14). We performed two tests. Table 1 has lateral Borel–Laplace resummation close to but above the real line; whereas table 2 has higher numerical precision to illustrate how the results converge properly. The results show very good agreement and validate how the derivative-method indeed produces the correct asymptotic series associated to the integral  $\mathcal{I}$ .

#### Integration Contours and Multi-Sheeted Integrands

Finally, let us make some comments concerning the behavior of all these integration contours when are they just saddle-contours and when are they not. We continue with our favorite example, (3.56) or (A.14),

$$\mathcal{I} = \operatorname{PV}_{\mathcal{C}_y} \mathrm{d}y \ \operatorname{PV}_{\mathcal{C}_x} \mathrm{d}x \, \frac{1}{(x-y)^2} \, \mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_s}(V(x)-V(y))}, \tag{A.16}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>The integrations were performed with the NIntegrate function in *Mathematica*, with built-in error estimate.

where  $C_x$  is a steepest-descent contour through a saddle  $x^*$  of V(x), whereas  $C_y$  is a steepestascent contour associated to the same saddle. Let us consider (A.16) as an iterated integral, and start by understanding the result of the first integration,

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{I}}(y) = \int_{\mathcal{C}_x} \mathrm{d}x \, \frac{1}{(x-y)^2} \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{1}{g_s}(V(x) - V(y))}.$$
(A.17)

Note how when y crosses  $\mathcal{C}_x$  the function  $\widetilde{\mathcal{I}}(y)$  is *discontinuous*, with discontinuity given by

$$\operatorname{Res}_{x=y}\left(\frac{1}{(x-y)^2} e^{-\frac{1}{g_s}(V(x)-V(y))}\right) = -\frac{2\pi i}{g_s} V'(y).$$
(A.18)

This discontinuity only vanishes when y sits at a saddle-point of the potential. In that case,  $C_y$  will avoid the discontinuous jump of the integrand  $\tilde{\mathcal{I}}(y)$  as it precisely crosses  $C_x$  at  $x^*$ .

Avoiding such discontinuities of the integrand  $\mathcal{I}(y)$  leads to a classification of admissible integration contours. There are two basic rules for such contours:

- Admissible integration contours at infinity must behave like steepest-descent contours. This is required in order to find convergent integrals.
- Admissible integration contours must only cross at saddle-points of the potential. This is required in order to avoid the discontinuity described above.

These requirements become very clear in the example of the quartic potential (A.13). In this case, both original contours  $\gamma$  and  $\bar{\gamma}$  in figure 21 are clearly admissible: they both end along steepest-descent directions and only cross at the saddle-point at the origin. Admissibility remains true even after deformation, illustrating how more general contours than just steepest-descent contours can in fact occur. The same holds for the configurations in the main body of the paper.

# **B** Resurgence of Partition Function and Free Energy

This appendix discusses a subtlety in the transseries constructions of matrix-model free energy and its partition function. If we recall how to obtain the free energy out of the string-equation solution in (2.5), it is clear how the free energy is only defined up to an additive factor. This is clearly also true for its transseries (where some toy-models with this feature were discussed in [29]). What this implies is that the free-energy transseries is generically writeable as (compare with the generic (2.7), and with the free energies of cubic (4.5) and quartic (4.21) matrix models)

$$F_{\text{total}}(t, g_{\text{s}}; \sigma_0, \sigma_1, \sigma_2) = \sigma_0 \,\widetilde{F} + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sigma_1^n \sigma_2^m \,\mathrm{e}^{-(n-m)\frac{A(t)}{g_{\text{s}}}} \,F^{(n,m)}(t, g_{\text{s}}),\tag{B.1}$$

where  $\widetilde{F}$  is a trivial (non-asymptotic) constant sector. Schematically this can also be written as  $F_{\text{total}} = F_{\text{trivial}} + F_{\text{non-trivial}}$  where  $F_{\text{trivial}}$  is just the additive constant  $\sigma_0 \widetilde{F}$  and  $F_{\text{non-trivial}}$  denotes the free energies we addressed in the main body of the paper, *e.g.*, (4.5) or (4.21). This addition further implies that resurgence relations can end on the trivial sector but they cannot start on it [29]. It further leads to the (small) change at the level of Stokes automorphisms (compare with (2.14) and (2.15), respectively)

$$\underline{\mathfrak{S}}_{0}F^{(n,m)} = F^{(n,m)} - \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} e^{-\ell \frac{A}{g_{s}}} \sum_{p=0}^{\min(n+\ell,m)} \left( \mathsf{S}_{(n,m)\to(n+\ell-p,m-p)} F^{(n+\ell-p,m-p)} + \right) + \frac{\mathfrak{S}_{0}F^{(n,m)}}{2} + \frac{\mathfrak{S}_{0}$$

$$+\delta_{n+\ell-p}\,\delta_{m-p}\,\mathsf{S}_{(n,m)\to\widetilde{0}}\,\widetilde{F}\Big)\,,\tag{B.2}$$

$$\underline{\mathfrak{S}}_{\pi}F^{(n,m)} = F^{(n,m)} - \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} e^{+\ell\frac{A}{g_s}} \sum_{p=0}^{\min(n,m+\ell)} \left( \mathsf{S}_{(n,m)\to(n-p,m+\ell-p)} F^{(n-p,m+\ell-p)} + \delta_{n-p} \,\delta_{m+\ell-p} \,\mathsf{S}_{(n,m)\to\widetilde{0}} \,\widetilde{F} \right). \tag{B.3}$$

That such a contribution is really there is not too hard to check. For example, consider the backward Stokes transition on the (1,0) sector,

$$\underline{\mathfrak{S}}_{\pi} F^{(1,0)} = F^{(1,0)} - e^{\frac{A}{g_s}} \left( \mathsf{S}_{(1,0)\to\widetilde{0}} \widetilde{F} + \mathsf{S}_{(1,0)\to(1,1)} F^{(1,1)} \right) - e^{2\frac{A}{g_s}} \left( \mathsf{S}_{(1,0)\to(1,2)} F^{(1,2)} + \mathsf{S}_{(1,0)\to(0,1)} F^{(0,1)} \right) - \cdots,$$
(B.4)

and focus on the leading two terms in the discontinuity (*i.e.*, the first line). Let us explicitly consider the example of Painlevé I (simply because it is much easier to produce large-order data) and numerically investigate the contribution of these two terms at large order. The Borel residue  $S_{(1,0)\to(1,1)} = \frac{\sqrt[4]{3}}{2\sqrt{\pi}}$  is known; *e.g.*, [30]. Then, using the numerical methods described in [31], we can immediately obtain the value of  $S_{(1,0)\to\tilde{0}}$  (to extract this number, we have calculated the (1,0) and (1,1) sectors up to order 100). With a precision of 11 digits, we find

$$\mathsf{S}_{(1,0)\to\widetilde{0}} \approx -0.21434568952... = -\frac{S_{(1,0)\to(1,1)}}{\sqrt{3}} = -\frac{1}{2\sqrt[4]{3}\sqrt{\pi}},$$
 (B.5)

where we have guessed the analytical closed-form expression from the numerical number. This we consider strong evidence for the appearance of the  $\tilde{F}$  sector in the resurgence relations.

Having established the (small) novelty in the basic resurgence properties of the free energy, let us move to the partition function. Akin to the free energy, it will now factorize as  $Z_{\text{total}} = Z_{\text{trivial}}$ .  $Z_{\text{non-trivial}}$ , where  $Z_{\text{trivial}} = \exp \sigma_0 \tilde{F}$  and  $Z_{\text{non-trivial}}$  denotes the partition function addressed in the main text. Let us focus on the total contribution and consider its perturbative sector  $Z^{(0,0)}$ undergoing a backward Stokes transition. Here, (B.2)-(B.3) do not allow for any novelties due to  $\tilde{F}$  and we find (3.34) as usual,

$$\operatorname{Disc}_{\pi} Z^{(0,0)} = \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} e^{\ell \frac{A}{g_{s}}} \mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(0,\ell)} Z^{(0,\ell)}.$$
(B.6)

The novelties appear when undergoing a forward discontinuity on top of the above one. Explicitly writing sectors up to the (1, 1) sector, one arrives at<sup>30</sup>

$$\operatorname{Disc}_{0}\operatorname{Disc}_{\pi} Z^{(0,0)} = \mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(0,1)} \,\mathsf{S}_{(0,1)\to(1,1)} \,Z^{(1,1)} + \mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(0,1)} \,\mathsf{S}_{(0,1)\to\widetilde{0}} \,Z^{(0,0)} \,\widetilde{F} + \\ + \,\mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(0,1)} \,\mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(1,0)} \,\mathsf{S}_{(0,1)\to\widetilde{0}} \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{A}{g_{\mathrm{s}}}} \,Z^{(1,0)} \,\widetilde{F} + \cdots \,.$$
(B.7)

This result should be compared with (3.47). There are now clear extra contributions which were (harmlessly) ignored in subsection 3.3 and which we need to address. Let us understand how these novelties also (consistently) appear at the level of (anti) eigenvalue contour deformations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup>Note how the last term in (B.7) actually contains *three* Borel residues rather than *two*. This is an artifact of effectively dealing with a *three*-parameter transseries albeit written with only *two* parameters (see [29]).

The complete Stokes automorphisms (B.2)-(B.3) are just the usual ones (2.14)-(2.15)—which have been described by (anti) eigenvalue tunneling in the main text—alongside an additional contribution taking us to the  $\tilde{F}$  trivial sector. On top of this, there are situations where such a novelty does not even appear: *e.g.*, starting from the partition-function perturbative-sector, either forward or backward Stokes transitions will see no additional terms. As already mentioned in subsection 3.3, the  $\tilde{F}$  contributions may be regarded as associated to the tunneling of nonperturbative (anti) eigenvalues *back to the perturbative cut*, and this can now be illustrated by explicitly checking the above discontinuity (B.7) with (anti) eigenvalue contours. Up to the (1,1) contribution, all we need to consider are contours with 1 eigenvalue and 1 anti-eigenvalue. Those have been already explicitly spelled out in (3.41), where the subsequent contributions originating from nonperturbative anti-eigenvalues returning to the perturbative saddle were dropped. Herein we resuscitate such contributions in our familiar quartic example. In this case, the full content of (3.41) reads (notice we have dropped all exponential factors in the underbraces):



The above contour deformations exactly match the resurgence discontinuity, illustrating the "perturbative return" of anti-eigenvalues, which we consider strong evidence for our picture. The incorporation of all these trivial (additive for the free energy, multiplicative for the partition function) sectors is therefore straightforward, in which case we have not discussed them any further in subsection 3.3. In fact, it is worth stressing that these trivial contributions do not produce any instanton terms. Further, as our matches between resurgent transseries and matrix integrals always end-up being done at free energy level, any additive terms do not carry any new information (hence are better off omitted). Of course explicitly writing the *total* partition function from the resurgent transseries formulation still requires taking this sector into account.

# C On Higher-Order Stokes Data from Matrix Integrals

There is one final subtlety to discuss, which concerns Stokes data. As we already alluded to in the main text, the Borel plane has non-trivial branched structure due to its many singularities, in which case the Borel residues (Stokes data) one computes are dependent upon the specific sequence of Stokes transitions one considers in each case. Consistency conditions on all these Stokes data do exist, which we shall now discuss.

One example of this "path dependency" stems from (3.52), which implies we have reached the  $(\ell | \bar{\ell})$  sector by jumping  $\ell$  horizontal steps and  $\bar{\ell}$  vertical steps on the resurgence lattice. But we



Figure 22: Illustration of two paths which end at the (2|1) (anti) eigenvalue configuration. Both (2, 1) and (1, 0) sectors appear in the end result, but because the paths we took on the resurgence lattice are distinct, so will be the combinations of Borel residues appearing in the final formula. These paths also end up as being distinct upon the  $g_s$ -plane, as illustrated in the top-figures.

could have reached that same node differently—for instance iterating one-step jumps—in which case we would necessarily obtain a different combination of Borel residues appearing in (3.51). Let us illustrate this conundrum when reaching for the (2|1) (anti) eigenvalue configuration, along the two different resurgence-lattice-paths illustrated in figure 22. Whereas we end up with the same sectors, we reach them with different combinations of Borel residues. For these two possibilities of figure 22, we find the following results:

• Consider the motion depicted in figure 22a, where we cross the  $\theta = \pi$  and  $\theta = 0$  Stokes lines once. Notice how upon completion of the motion we are not required to complete a full circle; rather just make sure we start and end somewhat above<sup>31</sup> the positive real line. Further notice how this is the same motion as in figure 14, which was discussed in the main text. This results in the precise contents of (3.48),

$$e^{-\frac{A}{g_{s}}} \mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(0,1)} \left( \mathsf{S}_{(0,1)\to(2,1)} \frac{Z^{(2,1)}}{Z^{(0,0)}} + \mathsf{S}_{(0,1)\to(1,0)} \frac{Z^{(1,0)}}{Z^{(0,0)}} \right) \simeq \frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(2|1)}}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}}.$$
 (C.1)

Note how the involved forward Borel residues represent two-step motions.

• Next, consider the motion depicted in figure 22b, where we cross the  $\theta = 0$  forward discontinuity twice. This implies we are effectively performing three one-step jumps on the resurgence lattice. Further notice how we are now required to to complete just above a full

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup>Let us stress here that when calculating Borel residues this choice of phase of  $g_s$  is quite relevant. It will influence the numerical value of some Borel residues [31]. Here we made the standard choice in the literature [31].

circle. We find the result

$$e^{-\frac{A}{g_{s}}} \mathsf{S}_{(0,0)\to(1,0)} \mathsf{S}_{(1,0)\to(1,1)} \left( \mathsf{S}_{(1,1)\to(2,1)} \frac{Z^{(2,1)}}{Z^{(0,0)}} + \mathsf{S}_{(1,1)\to(1,0)} \frac{Z^{(1,0)}}{Z^{(0,0)}} \right) \simeq 2 \frac{\mathcal{Z}^{(2|1)}}{\mathcal{Z}^{(0|0)}}.$$
(C.2)

Note how all involved Borel residues now correspond to single-step motions.

Consistency of the whole resurgence framework of course demands consistency of these two formulae. But extra structure emerges upon comparison of both results: as we shall see, in this case, the computation of the Stokes vector  $S_{(1,-1)}$  follows "for free", *i.e.*, without any need to address the matrix-integrals in the above right-hand sides. Let us make the comparison in steps. First recall how the (2, 1) sector has logarithmic components dictated by (3.73). In this expression, its (1,0) sector has a (starting genus)  $\beta$ -factor of 1/2, which implies it is an asymptotic series in half-integer powers of  $g_s$ . The same holds true for the (2, 1)[0] sector. Next, let us clarify the difference between the  $g_s$  rotation in (C.1) and in (C.2) (as illustrated in the top-plots of figure 22). In figure 22a we almost completed a full circle, which we will denote as returning to  $g_s$ , whereas in figure 22b we went slightly over a full circle, which we will denote as arriving at  $g_s^+$ . In light of what we just said concerning the structure of (2, 1) and (1, 0) sectors, this then translates to the relations

$$Z^{(1,0)}\left(t,g_{\rm s}^{+}\right) = -Z^{(1,0)}\left(t,g_{\rm s}\right),\tag{C.3}$$

$$Z^{(2,1)}(t,g_{\rm s}^+) = -Z^{(2,1)}(t,g_{\rm s}) - 2\pi \mathrm{i}\alpha \, Z^{(1,0)}(t,g_{\rm s}) \,. \tag{C.4}$$

If we further re-express the Borel residues in (C.1) and in (C.2) in terms of their Stokes data (using formulae (2.17)-(2.18)-(2.19)) the consistency of these two equations (whose right-hand side is unchanged in the rotation) yields, upon comparison, the Stokes data relation

$$-i\pi\alpha \left( \boldsymbol{S}_{(1,0)} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1\\0 \end{bmatrix} \right) \left( \boldsymbol{S}_{(1,0)} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 2\\1 \end{bmatrix} \right) = \boldsymbol{S}_{(1,-1)} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1\\0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(C.5)

Using the known vectorial-structure of two-parameter, resonant Stokes data [31], it follows

$$\boldsymbol{S}_{(1,-1)} = -\frac{\mathrm{i}\pi\alpha}{2} \left( \boldsymbol{S}_{(1,0)} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1\\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \right) \left( \boldsymbol{S}_{(1,0)} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 2\\ 1 \end{bmatrix} \right) \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 2\\ 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(C.6)

The Stokes vector on the right-hand side is the well-known "canonical" coefficient.

#### D Data for Resonant Resurgent Transseries

This appendix collects resurgent-transseries data for cubic [41, 27] and quartic [10, 23, 59] matrix models, as well as for their common double-scaling limit towards the Painlevé I equation [30, 22, 27, 23, 31]. These data were extensively used throughout section 4.

#### Cubic Matrix Model Data

The cubic matrix model (2.1) has potential (4.1), string equation (4.3), and its free energy follows from (2.5) with transseries (4.5). Explicitly, as in (2.7)-(2.8)-(2.9), this is

$$F(t, g_{\rm s}; \sigma_1, \sigma_2) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sigma_1^n \sigma_2^m \,\mathrm{e}^{-(n-m)\frac{A(t)}{g_{\rm s}}} \,F^{(n,m)}(t, g_{\rm s}),\tag{D.1}$$

n $m$	0	1	2	3
0	-2	1/2	1	3/2
1	1/2	-1	3/2	2
2	1	3/2	0	3/2
3	3/2	2	3/2	1

**Table 3**: Starting genus  $\beta_{n,m}^{[0]}$  for the free energy of the cubic matrix model.

$$F^{(n,m)}(t,g_{\rm s}) = \sum_{k=0}^{\min(n,m)} F^{(n,m)[k]}(t,g_{\rm s}) \, \log^k \frac{f(t)}{g_{\rm s}^2},\tag{D.2}$$

$$F^{(n,m)[k]}(t,g_{\rm s}) \simeq \sum_{g=\beta_{nm}^{[k]}}^{\infty} F_g^{(n,m)[k]}(t) \, g_{\rm s}^g. \tag{D.3}$$

In these expressions, instanton action A(t) and function f(t) are determined via

$$2 - 5\lambda^2 r = \lambda^2 r \cosh(A'(t)), \qquad f(t) = \frac{(1 - 3\lambda^2 r)^5}{108\lambda^8 r^2},$$
 (D.4)

where we defined r in equation (4.6). The free-energy coefficients satisfy the symmetry (2.10),

$$F^{(n,m)[k]}(t,g_{\rm s}) = \frac{1}{k!} \left( \alpha \left( n - m \right) \right)^k F^{(n-k,m-k)[0]}(t,g_{\rm s}) \quad \text{with} \quad \alpha = \frac{1}{2}, \tag{D.5}$$

and a few values for the starting genus are given in table 3.

Let us list a few such transseries coefficients. One first has to compute the solution to the string-equation transseries (4.3). For the perturbative sector one finds the first few coefficients

$$R_1^{(0,0)}(t) = 0, \qquad R_2^{(0,0)}(t) = \frac{\lambda^4 r \left(5 - 9\lambda^2 r\right)}{8 \left(1 - 3\lambda^2 r\right)^4}, \tag{D.6}$$

$$R_3^{(0,0)}(t) = 0, \qquad R_4^{(0,0)}(t) = -\frac{3\lambda^8 r \left(\lambda^2 r \left(9\lambda^2 r \left(18\lambda^2 r + 113\right) - 1316\right) + 385\right)}{128 \left(3\lambda^2 r - 1\right)^9}.$$
(D.7)

For the (1,0) instanton sector, we find<sup>32</sup> for instance

$$R_{1/2}^{(1,0)}(t) = \frac{\sqrt{r}}{\sqrt[4]{1-3\lambda^2 r}}, \qquad \qquad R_{3/2}^{(1,0)}(t) = \frac{3\lambda^2 r \left(4-3\lambda^2 r\right)-8}{96\sqrt{r} \left(1-3\lambda^2 r\right)^{11/4}}, \qquad (D.10)$$

$$R_{1/2}^{(0,1)}(t) = \frac{\sqrt{r}}{\sqrt[4]{1-3\lambda^2 r}}, \qquad \qquad R_{3/2}^{(0,1)}(t) = -\frac{3\lambda^2 r \left(4-3\lambda^2 r\right)-8}{96\sqrt{r} \left(1-3\lambda^2 r\right)^{11/4}}. \tag{D.11}$$

1

 $^{32}$ Herein we have set the integration constant for the lowest  $g_s$ -order contribution to 1, while we set the integration constants of higher-order contributions to 0. These results may also be compared to the ones in [41], with the change of conventions:

$$\sigma_1 \mapsto \sqrt{g_s} \,\sigma_1 \left( 108\lambda^2 g_s^2 \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}\sigma_1 \sigma_2},\tag{D.8}$$

$$\sigma_2 \mapsto \sqrt{g_s} \,\sigma_2 \left( 108\lambda^2 g_s^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}\sigma_1 \sigma_2} \,. \tag{D.9}$$

For the (1,1) sector, one obtains the following coefficients

$$R_3^{(1,1)}(t) = \frac{\lambda^4 \left(3\lambda^2 r \left(9\lambda^2 r - 8\right) \left(243\lambda^2 r - 94\right) + 160\right)}{128 \left(1 - 3\lambda^2 r\right)^{13/2}}, \qquad R_4^{(1,1)}(t) = 0.$$
(D.13)

Notice how every second coefficient above vanishes, which is consistent with the expected expansion. It is in the (2,1) sector that logarithms appear for the first time, where we have

$$R_{-1}^{(2,1)}(t) = \frac{\sqrt{r} \left(-2\log r + 5\log\left(1 - 3\lambda^2 r\right)\right)}{2\sqrt[4]{1 - 3\lambda^2 r}}.$$
 (D.14)

For the free energy the exact same can be done. A few transseries coefficients are as follows

$$F_{-1}^{(1,1)}(t) = \frac{2\sqrt{1-3\lambda^2 r}}{3\lambda^2} + r\sqrt{1-2\lambda^2 r} \left(\log r - \log\left(-5\lambda^2 r + 2\sqrt{1-3\lambda^2 r}\sqrt{1-2\lambda^2 r} + 2\right)\right),$$
(D.15)

$$F_0^{(1,1)}(t) = 0, \qquad F_1^{(1,1)}(t) = -\frac{63\lambda^4 r^2 - 60\lambda^2 r + 8}{96r\left(1 - 3\lambda^2 r\right)^{5/2}}, \qquad (D.16)$$

$$F_{1/2}^{(1,0)}(t) = \frac{\lambda^2 \sqrt{r}}{4 \left(1 - 3\lambda^2 r\right)^{5/4}}, \qquad F_{1/2}^{(0,1)}(t) = \frac{\lambda^2 \sqrt{r}}{4 \left(1 - 3\lambda^2 r\right)^{5/4}}, \qquad (D.17)$$

$$F_{1/2}^{(2,1)[0]}(t) = \frac{\lambda^2 \sqrt{r}}{8 \left(1 - 3\lambda^2 r\right)^{5/4}} \log \frac{\left(1 - 3\lambda^2 r\right)^5}{r^2}.$$
(D.18)

Finally, let us list some Borel residues and Stokes data for the cubic matrix model computed via the double-scaling (4.57), and where for Painlevé I we are collecting data from [31]. We have

$$S_{(0,0)\to(1,0)} = -\frac{i}{\sqrt{2\pi}},$$
  $S_{(0,0)\to(0,1)} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}},$  (D.19)

$$S_{(1,1)\to(1,0)} = -i\sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \left(\gamma_{\rm E} + \log 96\sqrt{3}\right).$$
 (D.20)

We also have the following Stokes vectors

$$\boldsymbol{S}_{(1,0)} = \frac{\mathrm{i}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \begin{bmatrix} 1\\0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \qquad \boldsymbol{S}_{(0,1)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \begin{bmatrix} 0\\1 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (D.21)$$

$$\boldsymbol{S}_{(0,-1)} = i \sqrt{\frac{1}{2\pi}} \left( \gamma_{\rm E} + \log 96\sqrt{3} \right) \begin{bmatrix} 2\\1 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \boldsymbol{S}_{(1,-1)} = \frac{i}{4} \begin{bmatrix} 2\\0 \end{bmatrix}. \tag{D.22}$$

#### Quartic Matrix Model Data

The quartic matrix model (2.1) has potential (4.17), string equation (4.19), and its free energy follows from (2.5) with transseries (4.21). Explicitly, as in (2.7)-(2.8)-(2.9), it is exactly the same structure as we just illustrated for the cubic matrix model. The differences of course start with the instanton action A(t) and function f(t), which are now determined via

$$A(t) = \frac{1}{2\lambda} \left(3 - 3\lambda r\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(3 - \lambda r\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} - \frac{1}{2} r \left(2 - \lambda r\right) \operatorname{arccosh}\left(\frac{3 - 2\lambda r}{\lambda r}\right), \qquad (D.23)$$

n $m$	0	1	2	3
0	-2	1/2	1	3/2
1	1/2	-1	3/2	2
2	1	3/2	0	3/2
3	3/2	2	3/2	1

**Table 4**: Starting genus  $\beta_{n,m}^{[0]}$  for the free energy of the quartic matrix model.

$$f(t) = \frac{(3 - \lambda r)^3 (3 - 3\lambda r)^5}{15552\lambda^6 r^4},$$
(D.24)

and where we defined r in equation (4.22). The free-energy coefficients satisfy the symmetry (2.10) with  $\alpha = \frac{\lambda}{12}$ , and a few values for the starting genus are given in table 4.

Listing a few transseries coefficients for the free energy, start with the (1,0) instanton sector to find

$$F_{1/2}^{(1,0)}(t) = \frac{(\lambda r)^{3/2}}{2r \left(3 - 3\lambda r\right)^{5/4} \left(3 - \lambda r\right)^{1/4}},$$
(D.25)

$$F_{3/2}^{(1,0)}(t) = \frac{(\lambda r)^{3/2} \left(-27 - \frac{675}{2}\lambda r + 243\lambda^2 r^2 - 45\lambda^3 r^3\right)}{8r^2 \left(3 - 3\lambda r\right)^{15/4} \left(3 - \lambda r\right)^{7/4}}.$$
 (D.26)

For the (1,1) and (2,1) sectors (where  $g_s$ -logarithms first appear in the latter), we have

$$F_{-1}^{(1,1)}(t) = \frac{1}{6} \left( \sqrt{3 - 3\lambda r} \sqrt{3 - \lambda r} - \lambda r \left(2 - \lambda r\right) \log \left( \frac{3 - 2r\lambda + \sqrt{3 - 3\lambda r} \sqrt{3 - \lambda r}}{\lambda r} \right) \right),$$
(D.27)

$$F_1^{(1,1)}(t) = \frac{\lambda \left(-9 + \frac{63}{2}\lambda r - 18\lambda^2 r^2 + 3\lambda^3 r^3\right)}{4r \left(3 - 3\lambda r\right)^{5/2} \left(3 - \lambda r\right)^{3/2}},\tag{D.28}$$

$$F_{1/2}^{(2,1)[0]}(t) = \frac{\lambda(\lambda r)^{3/2}}{24r \left(3 - 3\lambda r\right)^{5/4} \left(3 - \lambda r\right)^{1/4}} \log \frac{f(t)}{g_{\rm s}^2}.$$
(D.29)

For the partition function the exact same can be done. Recall from subsection 2.1 how not to deal with additional factors of  $\exp \frac{1}{g_s^2} F_{-2}^{(0,0)}$  we will normalize by the perturbative sector. Listing the lowest  $g_s$ -order terms, we find

$$\frac{Z^{(1,0)}}{Z^{(0,0)}}\bigg|_{1/2} = \frac{\lambda^{3/2}\sqrt{r}}{2\left(3-3\lambda r\right)^{5/4}\left(3-\lambda r\right)^{1/4}}, \qquad \qquad \frac{Z^{(2,0)}}{Z^{(0,0)}}\bigg|_{1} = \frac{\lambda^{4}r^{2}}{8\left(3-3\lambda r\right)^{5/2}\left(3-\lambda r\right)^{3/2}}, \quad (D.30)$$

$$\frac{Z^{(3,0)}}{Z^{(0,0)}}\bigg|_{5/2} = -\frac{3\lambda^{17/2}r^{9/2}}{64\left(3-\lambda r\right)^{13/4}\left(3-3\lambda 3\right)^{25/4}}, \qquad \frac{Z^{(4,0)}}{Z^{(0,0)}}\bigg|_{4} = \frac{9\lambda^{14}r^{8}}{1024\left(3-\lambda r\right)^{6}\left(3-3\lambda r\right)^{10}}, \quad (D.31)$$

$$\frac{Z^{(5,0)}}{Z^{(0,0)}}\bigg|_{13/2} = \frac{81\lambda^{43/2}r^{25/2}}{16384\left(3-\lambda r\right)^{37/4}\left(3-3\lambda r\right)^{65/4}}, \quad \frac{Z^{(6,0)}}{Z^{(0,0)}}\bigg|_{9} = \frac{729\lambda^{30}r^{18}}{524288\left(3-\lambda r\right)^{27/2}\left(3-3\lambda r\right)^{45/2}}.$$
(D.32)

Entries along the backward direction easily follow from the above ones, e.g.,

$$\frac{Z^{(0,1)}}{Z^{(0,0)}}\Big|_{1/2} = \frac{Z^{(1,0)}}{Z^{(0,0)}}\Big|_{1/2}, \quad \frac{Z^{(0,2)}}{Z^{(0,0)}}\Big|_{1} = \frac{Z^{(2,0)}}{Z^{(0,0)}}\Big|_{1}, \quad \frac{Z^{(0,3)}}{Z^{(0,0)}}\Big|_{5/2} = -\frac{Z^{(3,0)}}{Z^{(0,0)}}\Big|_{5/2}, \quad \frac{Z^{(0,4)}}{Z^{(0,0)}}\Big|_{4} = \frac{Z^{(4,0)}}{Z^{(0,0)}}\Big|_{4}.$$
(D.33)

Finally, let us list some Borel residues and Stokes data for the quartic matrix model, in consistency with the Painlevé I double-scaling limit from [31]. We have

$$S_{(0,0)\to(1,0)} = -i\sqrt{\frac{3}{\pi\lambda}},$$
  $S_{(0,0)\to(0,1)} = -\sqrt{\frac{3}{\pi\lambda}},$  (D.34)

$$S_{(1,1)\to(1,0)} = -i\sqrt{\frac{\lambda}{3\pi}} \left(\gamma_{\rm E} + \log 96\sqrt{3}\right).$$
 (D.35)

We also have the following Stokes vectors

$$\boldsymbol{S}_{(1,0)} = i \sqrt{\frac{3}{\pi\lambda}} \begin{bmatrix} 1\\0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \qquad \boldsymbol{S}_{(0,1)} = \sqrt{\frac{3}{\pi\lambda}} \begin{bmatrix} 0\\1 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (D.36)$$

$$\boldsymbol{S}_{(0,-1)} = i \sqrt{\frac{\lambda}{12\pi}} \left( \gamma_{\rm E} + \log 96\sqrt{3} \right) \begin{bmatrix} 2\\1 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \boldsymbol{S}_{(1,-1)} = \frac{i}{4} \begin{bmatrix} 2\\0 \end{bmatrix}. \tag{D.37}$$

#### **Double-Scaling Limit Data**

Finally, let us address the double-scaling limit of cubic and quartic matrix models towards the Painlevé I equation. This equation is (4.56), and its two-parameter resonant transseries solution—for the so-called specific heat  $u(\kappa)$ —has been studied at length in the literature; *e.g.*, [22, 23, 31]. The free energy follows from the specific heat by double integration,

$$F''(\kappa) = -u(\kappa). \tag{D.38}$$

With the convenient labeling  $x = \kappa^{-5/4}$ , the transseries for the free energy reads

$$F(x;\sigma_1,\sigma_2) = -\frac{4}{15x^2} + \left(\frac{1}{60} + \frac{2}{3}\sigma_1^2\sigma_2^2\right)\log x + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\sum_{m=0}^{\infty}\sigma_1^n\sigma_2^m e^{-(n-m)\frac{A}{x}}F^{(n,m)}(x), \quad (D.39)$$

where the instanton action is  $A = \frac{8\sqrt{3}}{5}$  and where we have the following sectorial logarithmic dependence

$$F^{(n,m)}(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\min(n,m)} F^{(n,m)[k]}(x) \log^k x.$$
 (D.40)

These logarithmic sectors are of course related to each other, via

$$F^{(n,m)[k]}(x) = \frac{1}{k!} \left( -\frac{2(n-m)}{\sqrt{3}} \right)^k F^{(n-k,m-k)[0]}(x), \tag{D.41}$$

with an extra "backward-forward" symmetry which in the lowest sector reads

$$F_g^{(n,m)[0]}(x) = (-1)^{g + \lfloor n/2 \rfloor} F_g^{(m,n)[0]}(x), \qquad n > m.$$
(D.42)

Each sector is an asymptotic divergent series of the form

$$F^{(n,m)[0]}(x) \simeq \sum_{g=0}^{\infty} F_g^{(n,m)[k]} x^{g+\beta_{nm}}, \qquad \beta_{nm} = \frac{n+m}{2} - \left\lfloor \frac{\min(n,m) - m\,\delta_{n,m}}{2} \right\rfloor. \tag{D.43}$$

Listing a few free-energy transseries coefficients, we have for the perturbative sector

$$F^{(0,0)}(x) = \frac{7}{5760} x^2 + \frac{245}{331776} x^4 + \cdots$$
 (D.44)

For nonperturbative sectors, we list a few

$$F^{(1,0)[0]}(x) = -\frac{1}{12}x^{1/2} + \frac{37}{768\sqrt{3}}x^{3/2} + \cdots, \qquad (D.45)$$

$$F^{(2,0)[0]}(x) = -\frac{1}{288}x + \frac{109}{27648\sqrt{3}}x^2 + \cdots,$$
 (D.46)

$$F^{(2,1)[0]}(x) = -\frac{71}{864} x^{3/2} + \frac{2999}{18432\sqrt{3}} x^{5/2} + \cdots, \qquad (D.47)$$

$$F^{(1,1)[0]}(x) = \frac{16}{5} \frac{1}{x} + \frac{5}{96} x + \frac{15827}{1474560} x^3 + \cdots,$$
 (D.48)

$$F^{(2,2)[0]}(x) = \frac{1555}{20736} x^2 + \frac{5288521}{95551488} x^4 + \cdots .$$
 (D.49)

#### References

- [1] E. Brézin, S.R. Wadia, (eds.), The Large N Expansion in Quantum Field Theory and Statistical Physics: From Spin Systems to Two-Dimensional Gravity, World Scientific (1994).
- M. Mariño, Instantons and Large N: An Introduction to Non-Perturbative Methods in Quantum Field Theory, Cambridge University Press (2015).
- [3] S. Hikami, E. Brézin, Large Order Behavior of the 1/N Expansion in Zero-Dimensions and One-Dimensions, J. Phys. A12 (1979) 759, DOI:10.1088/0305-4470/12/6/006.
- [4] F. David, Phases of the Large N Matrix Model and Nonperturbative Effects in 2D Gravity, Nucl. Phys. B348 (1991) 507, DOI:10.1016/0550-3213(91)90202-9.
- [5] F. David, Nonperturbative Effects in Matrix Models and Vacua of Two-Dimensional Gravity, Phys. Lett. B302 (1993) 403, arXiv:hep-th/9212106.
- [6] M. Mariño, Lectures on Nonperturbative Effects in Large N Gauge Theories, Matrix Models and Strings, Fortsch. Phys. 62 (2014) 455, arXiv:1206.6272[hep-th].
- [7] S.N. Majumdar, G. Schehr, Top Eigenvalue of a Random Matrix: Large Deviations and Third Order Phase Transition, J. Stat. Mech. 2014 (2014) P01012, arXiv:1311.0580[cond-mat.stat-mech].
- [8] M.R. Atkin, S. Zohren, Instantons and Extreme Value Statistics of Random Matrices, JHEP 04 (2014) 118, arXiv:1307.3118[math-ph].
- H. Neuberger, Nonperturbative Contributions in Models With a Nonanalytic Behavior at Infinite N, Nucl. Phys. B179 (1981) 253, DOI:10.1016/0550-3213(81)90238-8.
- [10] M. Mariño, Nonperturbative Effects and Nonperturbative Definitions in Matrix Models and Topological Strings, JHEP 0812 (2008) 114, arXiv:0805.3033[hep-th].
- [11] D.J. Gross, A.A. Migdal, Nonperturbative Two-Dimensional Quantum Gravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 64 (1990) 127, DOI:10.1103/PhysRevLett.64.127.
- M.R. Douglas, S.H. Shenker, Strings in Less Than One-Dimension, Nucl. Phys. B335 (1990) 635, DOI:10.1016/0550-3213(90)90522-F.
- [13] E. Brézin, V.A. Kazakov, Exactly Solvable Field Theories of Closed Strings, Phys. Lett. B236 (1990) 144, DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(90)90818-Q.
- M.R. Douglas, Strings in Less Than One Dimension and the Generalized KdV Hierarchies, Phys. Lett. B238 (1990) 176, DOI:10.1016/0370-2693(90)91716-0.
- [15] D.J. Gross, A.A. Migdal, A Nonperturbative Treatment of Two-Dimensional Quantum Gravity, Nucl. Phys. B340 (1990) 333, DOI:10.1016/0550-3213(90)90450-R.
- [16] P.H. Ginsparg, J. Zinn-Justin, Action Principle and Large Order Behavior of Non-Perturbative Gravity, in "Random Surfaces and Quantum Gravity" NATO ASI Series B: Phys. 262 (1990) 85, DOI:10.1007/978-1-4615-3772-4\_7.
- P.H. Ginsparg, J. Zinn-Justin, Large Order Behaviour of Nonperturbative Gravity, Phys. Lett. B255 (1991) 189, DOI:10.1016/0370-2693(91)90234-H.
- [18] B. Eynard, J. Zinn-Justin, Large Order Behavior of 2D Gravity Coupled to d < 1 Matter, Phys. Lett. B302 (1993) 396, arXiv:hep-th/9301004.
- [19] P.H. Ginsparg, Matrix Models of 2D Gravity, in "Trieste HEP Cosmology" (1991) 785, arXiv:hep-th/9112013.
- [20] P.H. Ginsparg, G.W. Moore, Lectures on 2D Gravity and 2D String Theory, in "Theoretical Advanced Study Institute (TASI 92): From Black Holes and Strings to Particles" (1992) 277, arXiv:hep-th/9304011.

- [21] P. Di Francesco, P.H. Ginsparg, J. Zinn-Justin, 2D Gravity and Random Matrices, Phys. Rept. 254 (1995) 1, arXiv:hep-th/9306153.
- [22] S. Garoufalidis, A. Its, A. Kapaev, M. Mariño, Asymptotics of the Instantons of Painlevé I, Int. Math. Res. Notices 2012 (2012) 561, arXiv:1002.3634[math.CA].
- [23] I. Aniceto, R. Schiappa, M. Vonk, The Resurgence of Instantons in String Theory, Commun. Number Theor. Phys. 6 (2012) 339, arXiv:1106.5922[hep-th].
- [24] R. Schiappa, R. Vaz, The Resurgence of Instantons: Multi-Cut Stokes Phases and the Painlevé II Equation, Commun. Math. Phys. 330 (2014) 655, arXiv:1302.5138[hep-th].
- [25] I. Aniceto, R. Schiappa, Nonperturbative Ambiguities and the Reality of Resurgent Transseries, Commun. Math. Phys. 335 (2015) 183, arXiv:1308.1115[hep-th].
- [26] P. Gregori, R. Schiappa, From Minimal Strings towards Jackiw-Teitelboim Gravity: On their Resurgence, Resonance, and Black Holes, arXiv:2108.11409[hep-th].
- [27] A. Klemm, M. Mariño, M. Rauch, Direct Integration and Non-Perturbative Effects in Matrix Models, JHEP 1010 (2010) 004, arXiv:1002.3846[hep-th].
- [28] M. Mariño, P. Putrov, (unpublished), (2009).
- [29] I. Aniceto, G. Başar, R. Schiappa, A Primer on Resurgent Transseries and Their Asymptotics, Phys. Rept. 809 (2019) 1, arXiv:1802.10441[hep-th].
- [30] M. Mariño, R. Schiappa, M. Weiss, Nonperturbative Effects and the Large-Order Behavior of Matrix Models and Topological Strings, Commun. Number Theor. Phys. 2 (2008) 349, arXiv:0711.1954[hep-th].
- [31] S. Baldino, R. Schiappa, M. Schwick, R. Vega, Resurgent Stokes Data for Painlevé Equations and Two-Dimensional Quantum (Super) Gravity, arXiv:2203.13726[hep-th].
- [32] P. Saad, S.H. Shenker, D. Stanford JT Gravity as a Matrix Integral, arXiv:1903.11115[hep-th].
- [33] R. Dijkgraaf, C. Vafa, Matrix Models, Topological Strings, and Supersymmetric Gauge Theories, Nucl. Phys. B644 (2002) 3, arXiv:hep-th/0206255.
- [34] A. Grassi, Y. Hatsuda, M. Mariño, Topological Strings from Quantum Mechanics, Ann. Henri Poincaré 17 (2016) 3177, arXiv:1410.3382[hep-th].
- [35] M. Mariño, S. Zakany, Matrix Models from Operators and Topological Strings, Ann. Henri Poincaré 17 (2016) 1075, arXiv:1502.02958[hep-th].
- [36] R. Kashaev, M. Mariño, S. Zakany, Matrix Models from Operators and Topological Strings 2, Ann. Henri Poincaré 17 (2016) 2741, arXiv:1505.02243[hep-th].
- [37] S. Zakany, Matrix Models for Topological Strings: Exact Results in the Planar Limit, arXiv:1810.08608[hep-th].
- [38] J.M. Maldacena, The Large N Limit of Superconformal Field Theories and Supergravity, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 38 (1999) 1113, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 231, arXiv:hep-th/9711200.
- [39] M. Mariño, Localization at large N in Chern-Simons-Matter Theories, J. Phys. A50 (2017) 443007, arXiv:1608.02959[hep-th].
- [40] M. Mariño, Open String Amplitudes and Large-Order Behavior in Topological String Theory, JHEP 0803 (2008) 060, arXiv:hep-th/0612127.
- [41] M. Mariño, R. Schiappa, M. Weiss, *Multi-Instantons and Multi-Cuts*, J. Math. Phys. 50 (2009) 052301, arXiv:0809.2619[hep-th].
- [42] S. Pasquetti, R. Schiappa, Borel and Stokes Nonperturbative Phenomena in Topological String Theory and c = 1 Matrix Models, Ann. Henri Poincaré 11 (2010) 351, arXiv:0907.4082[hep-th].

- [43] N. Drukker, M. Mariño, P. Putrov, Nonperturbative Aspects of ABJM Theory, JHEP 1111 (2011) 141, arXiv:1103.4844[hep-th].
- [44] R. Couso-Santamaría, J.D. Edelstein, R. Schiappa, M. Vonk, Resurgent Transseries and the Holomorphic Anomaly, Ann. Henri Poincaré 17 (2016) 331, arXiv:1308.1695[hep-th].
- [45] A. Grassi, M. Mariño, S. Zakany, Resumming the String Perturbation Series, JHEP 1505 (2015) 038, arXiv:1405.4214 [hep-th].
- [46] R. Couso-Santamaría, J.D. Edelstein, R. Schiappa, M. Vonk, Resurgent Transseries and the Holomorphic Anomaly: Nonperturbative Closed Strings in Local CP<sup>2</sup>, Commun. Math. Phys. 338 (2015) 285, arXiv:1407.4821 [hep-th].
- [47] I. Aniceto, J.G. Russo, R. Schiappa, Resurgent Analysis of Localizable Observables in Supersymmetric Gauge Theories, JHEP 03 (2015) 172, arXiv:1410.5834[hep-th].
- [48] R. Couso-Santamaría, Universality of the Topological String at Large Radius and NS-Brane Resurgence, Lett. Math. Phys. 107 (2017) 343, arXiv:1507.04013[hep-th].
- [49] R. Couso-Santamaría, R. Schiappa, R. Vaz, On Asymptotics and Resurgent Structures of Enumerative Gromov-Witten Invariants, Commun. Number Theor. Phys. 11 (2017) 707, arXiv:1605.07473[math.AG].
- [50] R. Couso-Santamaría, M. Mariño, R. Schiappa, Resurgence Matches Quantization, J. Phys. A50 (2017) 145402, arXiv:1610.06782[hep-th].
- [51] J. Gu, M. Mariño, Peacock Patterns and New Integer Invariants in Topological String Theory, SciPost Phys. 12 (2022) 058, arXiv:2104.07437 [hep-th].
- [52] J. Gu, M. Mariño, Exact Multi-Instantons in Topological String Theory, (2022).
- [53] B. Eynard, N. Orantin, Invariants of Algebraic Curves and Topological Expansion, Commun. Num. Theor. Phys. 1 (2007) 347, arXiv:math-ph/0702045.
- [54] M. Mariño, Les Houches Lectures on Matrix Models and Topological Strings, arXiv:hep-th/0410165.
- [55] G. 't Hooft, A Planar Diagram Theory for Strong Interactions, Nucl. Phys. B72 (1974) 461, DOI:10.1016/0550-3213(74)90154-0.
- [56] E. Brézin, C. Itzykson, G. Parisi, J.B. Zuber, *Planar Diagrams*, Commun. Math. Phys. 59 (1978) 35, ProjectEuclid.euclid.cmp/1103901558.
- [57] J. Ambjørn, L. Chekhov, C.F. Kristjansen, Yu. Makeenko, Matrix Model Calculations Beyond the Spherical Limit, Nucl. Phys. B404 (1993) 127 [Erratum: Nucl. Phys. B449 (1995) 681], arXiv:hep-th/9302014.
- [58] D. Bessis, C. Itzykson and J.B. Zuber, Quantum Field Theory Techniques in Graphical Enumeration, Adv. Appl. Math. 1 (1980) 109.
- [59] R. Couso-Santamaría, R. Schiappa, R. Vaz, Finite N from Resurgent Large N, Annals Phys. 356 (2015) 1, arXiv:1501.01007[hep-th].
- [60] D. Sauzin, Introduction to 1-Summability and Resurgence, in "Divergent Series, Summability and Resurgence I: Monodromy and Resurgence", Lec. Notes Math. 2153 (2016), arXiv:1405.0356[math.DS].
- [61] J. Ecalle, Les Fonctions Résurgentes, Prépub. Math. Université Paris-Sud 81-05 (1981), 81-06 (1981), 85-05 (1985).
- [62] S.Yu. Alexandrov, V.A. Kazakov, D. Kutasov, Nonperturbative Effects in Matrix Models and D-Branes, JHEP 09 (2003) 057, arXiv:hep-th/0306177.
- [63] N. Seiberg, D. Shih, Branes, Rings and Matrix Models in Minimal (Super)String Theory, JHEP 02 (2004) 021, arXiv:hep-th/0312170.

- [64] M. Hanada, M. Hayakawa, N. Ishibashi, H. Kawai, T. Kuroki, Y. Matsuo, T. Tada, Loops versus Matrices: The Nonperturbative Aspects of Noncritical String, Prog. Theor. Phys. 112 (2004) 131, arXiv:hep-th/0405076.
- [65] A. Sato, A. Tsuchiya, ZZ Brane Amplitudes from Matrix Models, JHEP 02 (2005) 032, arXiv:hep-th/0412201.
- [66] N. Ishibashi, A. Yamaguchi, On the Chemical Potential of D-Instantons in c = 0 Noncritical String Theory, JHEP 06 (2005) 082, arXiv:hep-th/0503199.
- [67] N. Ishibashi, T. Kuroki, A. Yamaguchi, Universality of Nonperturbative Effects in c < 1 Noncritical String Theory, JHEP 09 (2005) 043, arXiv:hep-th/0507263.
- [68] B. Eynard, T. Kimura, S. Ribault, Random Matrices, arXiv:1510.04430[math-ph].
- [69] V. Bouchard, K. Osuga, Supereigenvalue Models and Topological Recursion, JHEP 04 (2018) 138, arXiv:1802.03536[hep-th].
- [70] L. Alvarez-Gaumé, J.L. Mañes, Supermatrix Models, Mod. Phys. Lett. A6 (1991) 2039, DOI:10.1142/S0217732391002219.
- [71] A. Yost, Supermatrix Models, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A7 (1992) 6105, arXiv:hep-th/9111033.
- [72] E. Brézin, S. Hikami, New Correlation Functions for Random Matrices and Integrals over Supergroups, J. Phys. A36 (2003) 711, arXiv:math-ph/0208001.
- [73] T. Kimura, Duality and Integrability of Supermatrix Models with External Source, PTEP 2014 (2014) 123A01 arXiv:1410.0680 [math-ph].
- [74] E. Brézin, S. Hikami, Random Supermatrices with an External Source, JHEP 08 (2018) 086, arXiv:1805.04240[hep-th].
- [75] M. Bergère, B. Eynard, Determinantal Formulae and Loop Equations, arXiv:0901.3273 [math-ph].
- [76] K. Efetov, Supersymmetry in Disorder and Chaos, Cambridge University Press (1996), DOI:10.1017/CB09780511573057.
- [77] F. Haake, S. Gnutzmann, M. Kus, Quantum Signatures of Chaos, Springer Series in Synergetics (2018), DOI:10.1007/978-3-319-97580-1.
- [78] P. Desrosiers, B. Eynard, Supermatrix Models, Loop Equations, and Duality, J. Math. Phys. 51 (2010) 123304, arXiv:0911.1762[math-ph].
- [79] A. Inoue, Lectures on Super Analysis, arXiv:1504.03049[math-th].
- [80] J. Alfaro, R. Medina, L. Urrutia, *The Itzykson-Zuber Integral for U(m|n)*, J. Math. Phys. 36 (1995) 3085, DOI:10.1063/1.531014.
- [81] C. Vafa, Brane/Anti-Brane Systems and U(N|M) Supergroup, arXiv:hep-th/0101218.
- [82] T. Okuda, T. Takayanagi, Ghost D-Branes, JHEP 03 (2006) 062, arXiv:hep-th/0601024.
- [83] C. Vafa, Non-Unitary Holography, arXiv:1409.1603[hep-th].
- [84] R. Dijkgraaf, B. Heidenreich, P. Jefferson, C. Vafa, Negative Branes, Supergroups and the Signature of Spacetime, JHEP 02 (2018) 050, arXiv:1603.05665[hep-th].
- [85] Y.V. Fyodorov, E. Strahov, An Exact Formula for General Spectral Correlation Function of Random Hermitian Matrices, J. Phys. A36 (2003) 3203, arXiv:math-ph/0204051.
- [86] Y.V. Fyodorov, E. Strahov, Universal Results for Correlations of Characteristic Polynomials: Riemann-Hilbert Approach, Commun. Math. Phys. 241 (2003) 343, arXiv:math-ph/0210010.
- [87] J. Baik, P. Deift, E. Strahov, Products and Ratios of Characteristic Polynomials of Random Hermitian Matrices, J. Math. Phys. 44 (2003) 3657, arXiv:math-ph/0304016.

- [88] A. Altland, B. Post, J. Sonner, J. Heijden, E. Verlinde, Quantum Chaos in 2D Gravity, arXiv:2204.07583[hep-th].
- [89] B. Eynard, E. Garcia-Failde, P. Gregori, D. Lewański, R. Schiappa, Resurgent Asymptotics of Jackiw-Teitelboim Gravity and the Nonperturbative Topological Recursion, (2022).
- [90] D. Eniceicu, R. Mahajan, C. Murdia, A. Sen, Multi-Instantons in Minimal String Theory and in Matrix Integrals, arXiv:2206.13531[hep-th].
- C. Itzykson, J.B. Zuber, Combinatorics of the Modular Group II: The Kontsevich Integrals, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A7 (1992) 5661, arXiv:hep-th/9201001.